# WCS-9700 Radio Programmer Help

© 2020 RT Systems, Inc.



# WCS-9700 Radio Programmer Help

by RT Systems, Inc.

The Programmer is designed to give you the ease and convenience of programming the memories and options of the radio from your PC or your Mac

Using the Programmer, you can create separate files for unique applications such as travel, emergency activities, or special events. These files can contain different settings, such as memories, power management features, and DTMF numbers, for each purpose.

The Programmer also gives you the ability to read a configuration from the radio. make changes and then with minimal button pushing, send the altered file back to the radio.

Some features presented in this Help file are only in the Windows version of the programmer. We are working to build everything into the Mac version but that will take a while.

Snce the basics (and then some) are working, we wanted you to have the ease of programming your radio without having to pull out that old PC you keep around just for this.

Other information such as how options work and how they are set are the same in both versions of the programmer. For the sake of all that information, I offer this Help file.

## WCS-9700 Radio Programmer Help

#### © 2020 RT Systems, Inc.

All rights reserved. No part of this work may be reproduced in any form or by any means - graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, taping, or information storage and retrieval systems for other than your own use - without the written permission of the publisher.

Products that are referred to in this document may be either trademarks and/or registered trademarks of the respective owners. The publisher and the author make no claim to these trademarks.

While every precaution has been taken in the preparation of this document, the publisher and the author assume no responsibility for errors or omissions, or for damages resulting from the use of information contained in this document or from the use of programs and source code that may accompany it. In no event shall the publisher and the author be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damage caused or alleged to have been caused directly or indirectly by this document.

Printed: January 2020

# **Table of Contents**

Foreword		6
Part I	Easy Editing in the Grid	7
Part II	Screen Appearance and Default Options	29
Part III	Split Screen for Multiple Files	37
Part IV	D-Star Settings	40
1	D-Star.Calculator	45
2	DStar.Settings	49
Part V	Programming Memory Channels	51
1	Regular.Memory.Channels	53
2	Scan Limits	60
3	DR Memories	61
4	Call Channels	67
5	Satellite.Memories	68
6	GPS Memories	69
Part VI	Radio Menu Settings	70
1	SettingsCommon	
2	SettingsCommon.2	79
3	SettingsBand Settings	84
4	Settings - Tone. Control/Scope	88
5	Settings -DV/DR Mode	92
6	Settings - GPS Set Mode	96
7	SettingsDTMF/.Network	105
8	SettingsConnectors	106
9	SettingsFilter.Settings	112
10	SettingsCW/RTTY.	113
Part VII	Radio / Computer File Transfer	117
1	Communications.  .Get. Data. From	119
2	Communications.   Send. Data. To	123
3	Radio to Computer Cabling	128
4	Comport.Setup	129
Part VIII	Copying From an Excel Spreadsheet	130

Part VIII Copying From an Excel Spreadsheet

© 2020 RT Systems, Inc.

Contents	5
	7

1	Step.1	132
2	Step.2	134
3	Step.3	135
4	Step.4	136
5	Step. 5	137
6	Step.6	140
Part IX	Importing a file	142
1	Creating.a.file.for.Import	145
2	Import - Step.1	153
3	Import - Step 2	155
4	Import - Step 3	157
5	Import - Step 4	159
Part X	Export	161
Part XI	Contact Us	163
	Index	0

## Foreword

These help files are offered as reference for the features of the programmer and with some added information about the features and functionality of the radio.

The final reference for a feature of the radio is the Users' Manual for that radio. Any error, omission or misrepresentation of a radio's ability is unintentional.

The Programmer cannot make the radio do anything that it cannot do from the face of the unit. It makes it easier to set options for the existing functions.



## 1 Easy Editing in the Grid

8

Many new data management commands are available in the programming software from *RT Systems*.

The commands listed here are available through a right click menu or from the list that opens when you select Edit from the menu at the top of the screen. These commands can be used on any of the spreadsheets in the program.

#### **Right Click Menu**

Select a row to be edited by clicking on the number to the left of that row. You will notice that the entire row is highlighted (not just the Receive Frequency cell). Release the left mouse button. You will notice that the row remains highlighted until you left click someplace else on the screen of the programmer.

Note: You can select several rows at once (to copy, delete, etc) by clicking on the number to the left of the first of the selection then while holding the left mouse button, drag the mouse across the number of each of the channels to be included. This must be a continuous group.

With the mouse pointing at the highlighted area (anyplace as long as the point of the mouse pointer is within the highlighted area), press the right mouse button. A menu opens with editing options. Release the right mouse button once that menu opens.

Use the mouse to point at the desired command. Left click the mouse to execute that command.

#### Edit Menu

Select a row to be edited by clicking on the number to the left of that row. You will notice that the entire row is highlighted (not just the Receive Frequency cell). Release the left mouse button. You will notice that the row remains highlighted until you left click someplace else on the screen of the programmer.

Note: You can select several rows at once (to copy, delete, etc) by clicking on the number to the left of the first of the selection then while holding the left mouse button, drag the mouse across the

9

# number of each of the channels to be included. This must be a continuous group.

Holding neither of the mouse buttons, move the mouse pointer to Edit in the menu at the top of the screen. Press the left mouse button to select this menu option.

Holding neither of the mouse buttons, use the mouse pointer to select one of the editing options shown in the menu. Click the left mouse button to execute this command.

#### **Editing Commands**

The examples here will use the programmers for the Yaesu FT-60 (ADMS-1J) and the lcom IC-91 (WCS-91). You will see by the screen shots that you can copy and paste between files: even files for radios from different manufacturers. The programmer will take care of the similarities and differences.

**Cut (Ctrl+X)** - Removes the selected entry and leaves the memory channel blank. This feature is designed to work for deletion of all the data in a memory channel rather than data in a specific column.

Copy (Ctrl+C) - Copies the selected data.

You can copy two different ways:

Copy <u>all the details</u> of a Memory Channel (one or several at once) or Copy <u>details within one column</u> (from one cell to one or many at one time)

- In most cases, data can be copied from one tab to another (as in left and right memories).
- It can also be copied from one programmer to another (when both programs for different radios are installed).
- Data that is not appropriate for where it is to be pasted (i.e., a VHF frequency into a UHF channel) will not be pasted.

#### Copying an entire memory channel or group of channels

Shown here are details for copying within a file. The same actions apply to copy data to another tab of the file or to another programmer.

Open the file.

le .	Edit Cen	munications Sett	ngs Windon	Help																		-	-
	1		8 # 21	8																			
	FT-60 Usb	ledi' x																					
	Receive Proquency	Travent Offs Prequency Preque	ncy Direction	Operating Mode	Name	Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Skp	Step	Shift	Pover	Harrow	Pager Drable	Bark 1	Bark 2	Bank 3	Bank 4	Berk S	Bank 6	Sark 7	
	143.25000	143.29000	Singlex	Auto	SIMPLE	- 11	None	300.0 Hit		Off	AL10	10	High	1		13	1		- 13 -	1	1	13	
	10.26250	143.26250	Serplex	Auto	SEMPLE		None	300.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto		High									-8-	
	163-27500	143.27500	Seplex	Auto	SEMPLE	- 8-	None	200.0 Ptr		QHI	Auto .	- 8-	High				- 8-						
	141.28750	142.28793	Serpex	Auto	SIMPLE		Teore	200.0 HZ	023	C.M	84.40		High			- 8-			-8-				
	143.38000	143.30000	Sinplex	Auto	SEMPLE		None	300.0 HZ	023	04	ALAD		High			-8-	- 8-		- 8-		<u> </u>		
	143.31250	145.51250	Smplex	Auto	SEMPLE		None	300.0 mp	623	OW	Auto		High	- 8-	- 61	- 8-	- 8-		- 8-				
	143.12500	145.52500	Serprex	Au/00	SEMPLE		None	300.0 HQ	023	on	2,40		High										
ŀ	143.33750	143.33730	Singlex	A.00	SEMPLE		None	300.0192	023	0M	44,40		MUN						- 8-				
ł	143,25300	143.29000	Sinplex	Auto	SEMPLE	- 8-	None	300.0 MZ	023	CPM	4.40		High	- 8-		- 8-	- 60					- 8-	
ķ	10,3020	143.36230	TA Subex	z 4000 [3	E STANG		FROME IN	200,0 -6 -	120	THE COM	x 4.10	×	19(2) 14				- 8-		- 8-				
	143-37500	143.37900	Seglex	Auto	SIMPLE	- 8-	Tapag	200.0 Hg		CHI CHI	14,40	- 8-	High		8	-8-	- 8-	- 8-	8			- 8-	
	141.28750	242.28793	Sinplex	Auto	SEMPLE		Feone	200.0 HZ	023	011	46.00		High					-					
	145.40000	143.40000	Subar	AURO	SENARCE		Filone .	200.0 112	1022	08	AURO		ngn			- 8-			- 8-				
	142/41/20	142.41530	Serbex	A.00	244475	- 14	repres	200.0102	862	100	4,00		right	- 61 -	- 51	- 8-	- 81-		- 8-	- 64	- 54 -		
	143,42300	143.42300	Seques	4.00	COLUMN D	100	Tapar	200.0 mg	023	Off	14,00		right .	10				101	- 11-				
÷	142,48500	142 42220	Surgies.	1.00	C 100/101		North	100.0112		044	1.40		1 March	- 5-		-8-	- 61-	- 14-	- 8-		- 8-		-
	141.40000	141.40000	Septex	AUR0	CANTON 1		None	200.0112	822	oli	8,00	- 8-	High .			- 8-	- 81-	1	- 8-			- 8-	
÷	142,42500	143.46230	Serpex	4.00	in the second		Page 1	200.0 mg		04	4,10	- 12	right .		- 11-	- 11-	- 10		-8-			- 8-	
÷	143,49300	143.45.900	Service .	1.00	New Y		No. of Concession, Name	100.010	0.05	044	1.10		inder .	- 8-		- 8-	- 84	- 54	-8-	- 64 -	- 8-	- 8-	
÷	101.48730	141 40000	Smolex	Auto I			Here	100.0142	0.73	OH	ALCO .		High			- 8-			- 2-				
	142.20200	142 51260	Super	4.00		- 11	Page 1	100.010	0.6.7	0.00	0.40		regri		- 51				- 12 -				
-	143 5 2500	143 51250	Seques	4.00		- 14-	Tables .	100.000	0475	COM .	10.00	- 22	ingr	- 21		- 2-	10	11	10	10		- 11-	
-	143 51250	143 51253	Service	Auto	-	- 11	None	100.0 mm		Off	ALC: N	11	15-0	19	1	1	10	100	- 11-	11	11	- H	
	141 55000	143 55050	Sectors	Autor .	-	- 14	Manue	100.040	851	OH	Et da	- 14	16-6	- 14	- 24	- 10-	- 24	- 24	- 14 -	10	- 24	10	
	143.56250	143.56230	Service	Auto		- H-	None	100.0 mm	823	OH I	Ja da	- 14	Here	- H-	- H-	- #-	10	- Pi	- H-	10	100	- 11-	
5	10.5300	143 57500	Gendley	A-00		- 14	None	100.0 wm	855	0.64	8.40	- 34	Mark	10	10		21	- 24	- 14 -	10	- 24	- 11 -	
	143.58250	143.58250	Smaley	Auto		- M	None	100.010	623	04	84.00	11	Hards .	10	m	- H	10	1 PT	- 11 -	10	11	- H-	
	143 63000	143,40000	Section	Auto		- H	News	100.0 Hz	623	OM	Ja des	11	Hele	101	100	E FI	101	191	10	111	100	11	
	141.61250	143.41280	Smaine	A-00		- M-	Tablet	200.0 Hg	023	off	34.40	- M-	Hab	- Pi -	- M-	- H-	1	1	- M-	- Pi	1	- 14 -	
	143.62500	143.62500	Simplex	A.00		11	None	300.0 mg	623	off	44.40	11	High	10	11	10	10	11	11	11	171	- H-	
	143.63750	143.63750	Sectors	Auto		11	None	100.0Htr		011	AL.AD	21	High	111	171	E	121	171	11	121	11	10	
3	143.65000	143.63000	Service	Auto		10	None	300.0 Hz	023	OH	Auto .	11	High	1	1	1	1	1	10	1	1	1	
	143.66250	143.66250	Sectors	Auto		10	None	100.0 Hp	\$23	C/II	Andre	171	High	10	11	10	1	11	10	11	11	10	
	140.67500	142.67500	Simplex	Auto		10	None	100.0 Hz	823	Off	ALAD	21	High	10	Pl	10	121	11	- 11	17	100	10	
	143.68750	143.68750	Smplex	Auto		11	None	300.0 Hz	023	044	Auto	27	High	171	171	10	171	171	11	171	100	11	
,	143.79000	143.70000	Smplex	Auto		11	None	300.0 Hg	023	011	Jaul O	11	High	11	11	10	11	171	13	11	173	11	
	143.71250	143.71290	Simplex	Au/00		10	None	300.0 Hg	823	off	44,40	12	High	12	123	10	12	123	13	E	12	E	
	143.72500	143.73500	Singlex	Auto		10	None	300.0 mg	823	Off.	ALAD-	11	High	1	11	1	1	17	13	10	17	13	
	143.73750	143.73750	Simplex	Auto		10	None	300.0 Hz	023	Off	AL/O	13	High	10	13	1.15	10	10	13	13	13	13	
	143.79000	143,79000	Singlex	Auto		13	None	300.0 Hz	023	OH	4,40	10	High	173	10	1.13	173	13	13	173	13	13	
	143.76250	143.76250	Simplex	Auto		13	None	300.0 Hy	823	Off	ALA0	173	High	173	10	13	10	10	10	13	13	10	
	140.77500	143.77500	Simplex	Auto		13	None	300.0 Hz	823	Off	Auto	13	High	10	10	10	10	10	13	E.	1	0	
	143.79750	143.78750	Smplex	Auto		17	None	300.0 Hiz	623	OH	Auto	17	High	17	17	10	17	17	13	11	1	13	
	143.80000	143.80000	Sergiex	Au/10		11	140 No	300.0 Hg	023	ott	44,40	11	High	13	13	6	13	10	10	13	10	6	
	143.81250	143.81290	Simplex	Au/00	SEMPLE	10	None	300.0 Hz	023	off	44,40	123	High	10	123	E	P3	123	10	13	12	E .	
	143.82500	143.83500	Singlex	Auto	SINR	13	None	500.0 Hsr	023	011	Au/to	11	High	1	13	10	1	13	13	1	1	13	
	143.83750	143.83750	Smplex	Auto	SEMPLE	10	None	300.0 Hz	023	OH	Auto .	123	High	13	12	13	10	123	10	13	13	10	
1	143-85000	143.83000	Sergiex	Auto	SEMPLE	1	None	300-0 HR	923	QH .	34,40	10	High	173	1	10	17	123	13	173	1	13	
		sales of book \$4 months	- WED																				

Select the data to be copied.

To select an **entire row**, point your mouse at the <u>number in the blue box at</u> <u>the left of the row</u>. Click and release the left mouse to select that row. The entire row will be highlighted when it is selected.

To select **multiple rows**, point your mouse at the number in the blue box at the left of the first row to be selected. Click and hold the left mouse button as you drag the pointer over the next several channels that you want to copy. The channels must be sequential for multi channel copying. All the selected channels will be highlighted.

To select **all rows**, point your mouse at the number in the blue box at the left of the first row. Left click the mouse. Release the mouse. Press Ctrl A to select all. The entire page will be highlighted. **Note:** If you have a lot of channels to select, rather than trying to select them with the mouse, simply select the first one and press Ctrl A. The copy and paste process does not care if blank channels are selected.

14			00	d4 24	8																		
j	Receive	Transmit	Offset	Offset	Operating Made	Name	Show	Tone Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Skip	Shep	Gedk Shift	Tx Power	Tx	Pager Frable	Bank 1	Bank 2	Barik 3	Bank 4	Bank 5	Bank 6	Bark 7
	243.25000	143.25000		Sepiex	Auto	SINFLE	13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	13	High	11	13	13	23	13	13	13	13	11
	243.26250	143.26250		Snplex	Auto	SIMPLE	E3	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	13	High	E	13	13	F.	13	13	13		10
	343.27500	143-27500		Snplex	Auto	SINPLE	13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	12	High	11	13	13	10	11	13	13	13	12
	243.28750	143.28750		Sepiex	Auto	SINFLE	13	None	100.0 Hz	0.2.3	Off	Auto	13	High	13	13	13	- E	13	13	13		- E3 -
	243.30000	143.30000		Sepier	Auto	SPIPLE	E	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AURO		High		E			E	E		E	E
	\$43.31250	143-31250		Sinplex	Auto	SNPUE	10	None	100.0 Htt		Off	Au,60	- 10-	High		0	<u> </u>			10	10		
	243.32500	143.32500		Sinplex	Auto	SINFLE	13	None	100.0 Hz		off	Auto	13	High	11	13	13	12	1	13	13	12	E
	243.33750	143.33750		Seplex	Auto	SPIPLE	<u> </u>	None	100.0 Hz		PIO	Auto		High			<u> </u>				0		
	543.29000	143.29000		Snpex	Auto	SNPLE	13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Au,60	0	High	10	13	13			13	- 13	- 63	
ļ	243.36250	143.36250		Seper w	Auto	SNPLE	101	None	200.010	023	w Off	W ALCO		High w	-	10	10	-	101	10	100		
	542 29250	143 39750		Certier	Auto	CIMPLE		None	100.014		04	AU 00		Here .		E I			-				
	143, 48000	143 40000		Continu	Auto .	Chille	11	None	100.014		Off	Auto .		high .	-	1	10	10	1	10	10		-
	543 41250	143.41250		Certify	200	SNRF	10	North	100.0 Hz		Off	21.00	1	Hab	PI	10	1	10	1	10	10	10	P
	141.43500	143,42500		Sincier	4.00	GRAND	17	None	100.0 Hz		Off	4.00	E I	High	m	m	E I	10	P1	m	1	E I	H
	143, 43750	143,43750		Sincles	Auto	DOWN	171	None	100.0 Hr		110	Auto	11	High	11	11	11	11	11	171	11	10	Pl
	243,45000	143.45000		Sinclex	Auto	CANTON	1	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	8	High	1	1	6	6	E	1	1	8	E
	243.46250	143.46250		Sinclex	Auto	KJHJP	1	None	500.0 Hz		Off	Auto	10	High	13	13	13	10	1	13			1
	\$43.47500	143.47500		Sinplex	Auto	100(40)	(V)	None	100.0 Hz		Off	AL.to	13	High	13	11	13	13	11	13	11	13	11
	343.48750	143.40790		Sinplex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz		off	Auto	13	High		13	13	13	1	13	1		E
	243.50000	143.50000		Seplex	Auto		11	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High	11	1	13		1	13			
	\$43.51250	143.51250		Sepiex	Auto		-13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High	13	13	13	13	13	13	13		
	343.52500	143.52500		Seplex	Auto		1	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High	1		1	<b>1</b>	1	13			
	243.53750	143.53750		Seplex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	13	High	13	13		13	13	13	13		
5	243.55000	143.55000		Snpiex	Auto			None	300.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High			13			13			
	143.56250	143.56250		Smplex	Auto			None	100.0 Htt		Off	Auto		High		1		_	-				
	243.57500	143.57500		Smplex	Auto		10	None	100.0 Hz		Off	ALID		High	-	13		E.	-	13	13		
	243.58750	143.58750		Singles	A./10		E3	None	300.0 Hg		Off	AUGO		High			10		-	13	13		
	143.60000	143.60000		Sinplex	Auto		0	None	100.0 Ptr		Off	Auto		High						0			- 6-
	243.61250	143.61250		Sinplex	Auto			None	200.0 Hz		off	Auto	-	High	11		10	100	-	10	100		
	243.62500	143.62300		Condex	AUTO			None	200.010		Off	AUto		rage		10		100	1	10	100		- Pl
	343,65000	143 65000		Cassier	Auto .		10	News	100.010		Off	ALCON .	1	1 Martin		10				10			
	142 44160	143.65000		Contine	Auto		11	Noric	100.0102		OIL	AUCO		regn	-	10	10	-		10	10		
	542.67500	143 67555		Certier	4.40		1	None	100.0 47		04	ALCO .		High	1	H		10	1	1			
	141.68750	143.68755		Gerrier	Auto		11	None	100.0 Hr		OH	ALCO.	10	High	E I	PI -	10	10	P1	10	11	E I	- Fi
	543,70000	143,70000		Genetieve	Auto		m	None	100.0 Hz		Off	44.00	11	High	11	19	11	11	1	19	1	1	P
	143.71250	143.71250		Sinplex	A.40		E	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	E	High	-	1	E	1	1	E		E	E
	143.72500	143.72500		Supjex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	13	High	1	13	13	11	11	12	13		1
	243.73750	143.73750		Sopiex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	1	High	E .	1	1		E	8	8		E
	243.79000	143.75000		Sinplex	Auto		10	None	300.0 Hz		Off	Auto	1	High	1	13	13	1	1	1	10		-
	\$43.76250	143.76250		Sinplex	Auto		13	None	\$00.0 Hz		Off	Auto	13	High	1	11	13	13	13	1	1		11
	243.77500	143.77500		Sinplex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High	1		13		1	1			1
	243.78750	143.78750		Seplex	Auto		1	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High	1		13		1	1			
	\$43.80000	143.80000		Sinplex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High	13	13	13	13	13	13	1	1	13
5	343.81250	343.81250		Serpiex	Auto	SIMPLE		None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High				1	1	13			13
	243.82500	143.82500		Serpiex	Auto	SIMPLE	1	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto		High	1		1	2	2				
	\$43.83750	143.83790		Snpex	A.40	SNPLE	1	None	200.0 Hz	023	Off	44,00	1	High	1	13	23	1	1	13	1	1	1
1	143.85000	143.85000		Soper	Auto	SINFLE	1 12	None	100.0 Hr		(Off	Auto		High	1 1	1 17	1 1 1	100	1	1 12	1 12	- E3 - 1	10

## Copy Command

From the menu at the top of the screen, use your mouse to left click on Edit. From the menu that opens, use the mouse to left click on Copy.

You can also copy by pressing Ctrl C on the keyboard.

Or while pointing at the screen of the programmer, right click and select Copy from the menu that opens.

i.	Communications :	jettings Windo	w Help											
3	Undo	Chi+2	화	8										
F	O.C.	Chiles ChileC	set. chore	Operating Mode	None	Show Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	OCS	Skip	Ship	Clock. Shift	Tx Power	Te Nantev
	Paste	Chief	2	FN 🔹			None 👻	100.0Hz	023	- [01	2514Hz -		High 🔹	
-	Passe	Seat 1		FM		Г	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5kHz	E I	High	Г
	Simple Mode			FN		F	None			Off	5 kHz	Г	High	Г
	End	CALLE		FN		Г	None			OIT	5 kHz	E I	High	Г
	East'	Curr		FM		Г	None			OIT	5 kHz	Г	High	Г
	Findingent.	10		FM		Г	None			OIT	5 kHz	Г	High	Г
	goto thannel	CDHG		FN		Г	None			01	5kHz	Г	High	Г
	Insert Channel	Shift+his		FM		E F	None	100.0Hz	023	Of	5kHz	<u>г</u>	High	Г
	Dalata Channal	ShittaCel		FN		- E -	None	100.DH2	023	01	5kHz	- F	High	- D.
	Class Channel			FN		Г	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5kHz	Г	High	E .
	Mount in	Chalant		FN		Г	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5kHz	Г	High	17
1	PRANUP	CONFO		FN		Г	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5 kHz	Г	High	17
1.	Move Down	CDIED		FM		F	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5kHz	F	High	E.
1	Add Frequency Range			FN		- F	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5 kHz	<b></b>	High	E.
1	Set			FN		L.	None	100.DHz	023	01	5kHz	F	High	E.
1	Hada Sout			FN		L.	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5kHz	F	High	1
1.	Saraha Sarah		_			L.						Γ.		E.
						L.						L.		E
						- F						L.		E
						L.						F		E.
						L.						Γ.		10
						17						Γ.	-	17
						L.						Γ.		17
						17						L.		1
						L.						L.	-	1
						L.						F		r.
						L.						- F		r.
						Г						Г		E.
						L.								Γ.
						L.						F		F.
						Г						Γ.		r.
						E.	-					F	-	1
						E.	-					<b>F</b>	-	F
						E.	-			-		<b>F</b>	-	E
						E.	-					<b>F</b>	-	E.
	all Manager / They be	annie (1801	/ Hana	7			-	1 11	\$1.					

It will appear that nothing has happened. The program in conjunction with built in commands of the operating system of the computer has copied the data. It is waiting for you to Paste it where you want it.

**Paste (Ctrl+V)** - Writes the selected data to the current position of the cursor overwriting the data from that point. The programmers have the ability to copy and paste data in a single column as well as for an entire row.

Paste Complete Channels

Use the mouse to select the channel where you want the data to start. This can be in another file for the same radio or one for any radio for which you use an RT Systems programmer.

Select the row that is the **first** into which the data is to be pasted. The Paste process will begin in that location with the first copied channel and continue in each channel after that with the rest of the channels that were copied.

Receiv equer	e Transmit cy Frequenc	offset Frequency	Offset Direction	Operating Mode	Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS RR.S.Hz	Rx CTCSS	DCS	DCS Polarity	Skp	Step	Bank	Bank Channel	Connent	
H0.00	++0.000	00	Singlex	FM		None	88.5 Hz	88.5Hz	023	BothN	017	251042				
										-						
		-														
		_														
			-				-	-	-	-		-				
		-				-										
	-						-			-	-					
		-				-				-						
	-	-				-					-					
							-				-					
										-	-	-				
		-				-										
		_														
	-	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	-				
		-		-					-	-						

From the menu at the top of the screen, use your mouse to left click on Edit. From the menu that appears, use the mouse to left click on Paste.

You can also paste by pressing Ctrl V with the mouse pointing within the selected area (i.e., just look at where the mouse pointer is on the screen. It must by within the black area on the screen of the programmer for this keystroke to have any effect.).

Or while pointing within the highlighted area, right click and select Paste from the menu that opens.

	ndo 45 services mple Mode md relation sert Channel sets Channel sets Channel	Chil+2 Chil+2 Chil+2 Chil+2 Chil+2 Chil+4 Chil+6 Shift+his	24 Sex ction ×	PN PN PN PN PN PN PN PN PN PN	Norm	Show Name	Tane Made None	CTCSS 101.0Hz	OCS	Skip	Step	Clock. Shift	Tx Power	Ts Narcev	1
	v& sey sey social imple Mode ind set Mode set Channel sets Channel sets Channel	CbfrX CbfrC CbfrV CbfrF F3 Cbfr6 Shift+bs	Set chan	Operating Node FN FN FN FN FN FN	Norm	Show Name F	Tane Made None	CTCSS 100.0Hz	DCS	Skap	Step	Clock. Shift	Tx Power	Te Narov	-
SA Di Di Di Di Di Di Di Di Di Di Di Di Di	inple Node ind, nd/Taket oto Channel rset Channel elete Channel	Cult+V Cult+F F3 Cult+G Swit+Ins	×	FN FN FN FN FN			None	100.0 Hz	000	100.0					
SA Br SP Dr SP Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr Dr	ingle Node ind refrident pto Channel reert Channel alette Channel bate Channel	Curle F F1 Curle G		FN FN FN FN		F	None		102.5	01	25 kHz	1.1	High	- E	T
9 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	inple Mode ind retrition stor Channel sette Channel slate Channel slate Channel	Collef F3 ColleG		FIN FIN FIN		- F	110100	103.0Hz	023	01	5kHz	Г	High	Г	T
B SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP SP	nd nd78ext pto Orannel rsert Orannel elete Orannel bare Orannel	Col+F F3 Col+G Shittens		FN FN			None	100.0Hz	023	Off	5 kHz	Г	High	Г	T
50 50 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	nd ndrässt sto Channel sert Channel elete Channel lete Channel	Coll+F Coll+G Shift+Ins	E	FN		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	Off	5 kHz	Г	High	E.	T
Si In	ndriker oto Channel set Channel elete Channel	Corl+G Shift+lins				- F	None	103.0 Hz	023	Off	5 kHz	- F	High	E	T
95 1/2 1/2	oto Channel set Channel elete Channel	Chil+G Shift+Ins		FM		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	0/1	5 kHz	Г	High	E .	T
(re De	isert Channel elete Channel	shittens		FN		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	0/1	5 kHz	Г	High	E .	T
De	elete Channel			FN		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5kHz	Г	High	E .	T
0	law Channel	this and		FN		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5 kHz	Г	High	15	T
				FN		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5 kHz	Г	High	E	T
	icar chamile	marks III		FN		- F	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5kHz	Г	High	E	T
1 1	ove Up	CONFO		FN		- F	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5 kHz	Г	High	E	T
PR	love Down	CHIED		FN		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5 kHz	Г	High	E .	T
4	dd Frenuency Ranne			FM		- F	None	100.0Hz	023	01	5kHz	<b></b>	Hiph	E	1
	at			FN		- F	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5 kHz	Г	Hiph	E	
	ada Sout			FN		E.	None	100.0 Hz	023	01	5kHz	Г	Hiph	E	1
	1790 200		_			E.						Г		E	1
						E.						Г		E	
						E.						Г		E	1
						<b>1</b>						E.		E.	
				-		1									ĩ
1						Г						100		<b></b>	
						<b></b>						Г		<b>1</b>	
						<b>Г</b>						Г		<b>1</b>	
						<b>Г</b>						Г		<b>F</b>	
						<b>Г</b>						1		Г	
						<b>Г</b>						1		<b>Г</b>	
						<b>F</b>						T		E F	
						r						Γ.		Ē	
						-	-								f
-			-			E	-		-			- F		F	t
-		-	_			E	-				1	E		E.	t
-						E	-				+	1	-	F	t
1		-	-			E	-		-		-	<b>F</b>		E	t
-		-				12						P		P.	t
(at at	Manualas / They Idea	andre Cherry	Zillan				-		\$1			-	-		5

The information is pasted into the selected channels.

Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency	Offset Frequency	Offset Direction	Operating Mode	Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	Rx CTCSS	DCS	DCS Polarity	Skþ	Step	Bank	Bank Channel	Comment	
243.38250	143.36250		Sinplex 🕞	IPM G	SOMPLE	None 💌	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	• 023	Both N	- Off	🖌 5 kHz 🖉				
243.37500	143.37500		Sinplex	FM	SPIPLE	None	100.0 Hz	67.0H2	023	Both N	Off	510-12				
343.38750	343.58750		Simplex	194	504912	None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz		Soth N	Off	5870				
243,40000	143,40000		Sergiex	100	50912	None	100.0 Hz	67.0112	023	0001 M	Off	5 KPU				
143 41600	143 42520		Centres .	EN .	CRAND	Manuel	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Barth N	or	S Deck				
141.4175	141 41750		Gaster	EN.	DOWN	None	100.0 Hz	67.0112	023	Torth N	Off	Sier				
243,45000	143,45000		Sinclex	FM	CAVION	None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz	023	Seth N	OFF	Silve				
543,46250	\$43,46250		Singles	FM	KLHUP	None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Buth N	Off	SkHg				
343,47500	343,47500		Singlex	FM .	100040	None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz	023	Doth N	off	5 1012				
243.48750	143.48750		Simplex	FM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Seth N	OFF	5 kHz				
\$43.50000	147.50000		Sinplex	FM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Soth N	Off	§ kHz				
343.51250	143.51250		Sinplex	PM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Soth N	Off	\$ kHz				
143.53500	143.52500		Sinplex	PM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Seth N	Off	5 kHz				
243.53750	143.53790		Singlex	FM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	off	5 kHz				
343.55000	143.55000		Simplex	PM	-	None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Soth N	Off	\$ 1002				
243.56250	143.56250		Singlex	PN		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 H2	023	Bath N	Off	51002				
243.57500	143.57500		Singlex	PM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0HZ	023	001914	OFF	2.6.6				
543.58750	143.58750		Sanplex	FN		None	100.0 Mg	67.0 Hz	023	Outh N	or	\$ 89.0				
243.66000	143.60000		serpex	(PR		reprie	100.0102	67.0112	023	0001114	off	5.002				
143 61630	143 63630		Centiev	Child Child		None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz	023	Corte N	Off	E bille				
141.61750	141.61752		Centing	IN	-	None	100.0 Hz	62.0102	023	Dath N	off	Sitter				
543,6500	143,65000		Genetica	EM	-	None	100.0 Hz	62.0Hz	023	BathN	OFF	5 kHz				
542,66250	143,66250		Sindley	EM	-	None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz	023	Bath N	Off	5 kHz				
343.67500	143,67500		Sector	PM .		None	100.0 Hr	67.0Hz	023	Sath N	Off	Skrig				
143.68750	143.68750		Singlex	FM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Seth N	orr	5 kHz				
143,70000	143.70000		Singlex	FM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz		BathN	off	5 kHz				
343.71250	143.71250		Sinplex	PH.		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Doth N	or	\$ RPG				
343.72500	243.72500		Singlex	PH .		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Doth N	off	Sietz				
243.73750	143.73750		Simplex	PM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz	023	Orth N	OFF	5 kHz				
\$43.79000	\$43.79000		Sinplex	PH		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Outh N	off	\$ 1042				
343.76250	143.76250		Simplex	FM .		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Ooth N	Off	Sible				
243.77500	143.77500		Simplex	FM	_	None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz	023	BathN	OFF	5 kHz				1
\$42,78750	142.78750		Singlex:	FM	-	None	100.0 Hz	67.0Hz	023	Bath N	017	5 10-12				
243.80000	143.80000		Serpex	Chu	5040 5	None	100.0 Hz	67.0H2		OUT N	Off	200				
243.61250	143.01/30		Sergiex Cinelas	CN CN	3/912	Name	100.010	67.042	023	COST 14	Off	S KPU				
143 83260	143 83260		Consister Consister	PM .	C240 #	Maria	100.0 Hz	43.0 Hz	023	Barth M	Off	5 101 K				
143,8500	143,85555		Gaugest	FM	STATIS	Note	100 0 Hz	62.0 Hz	023	Bath N	007	1200				
141.86250	141,86250		Sincies	FM.	STARLE	None	100.0 Hz	62.019	023	Sath N	007	1 kH				
\$43,87500	143.87500		Singles	FN:	STYPLE	None	100.010	67.0 Hz	023	Bath N	OT	Sarg				
											-					

You can make this process even easier by splitting the screen into two parts. Select Window New Vertical Tab Group for this result.

16

Copy	and Paste										-		Copy and	Paste x										
Recei Freque	ve Transm ncy Frequen	v Frequenc	Offset Direction	Operating Mode	Name	Shew Name	Tone Mod	e CTCSS	DCS	; ska	p Step		Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency	Offset Frequency	Offset Direction	Operating Mode	Nome	Tone Mode	CTCSS	Rx CTCSS	OCS	DCS Polarity	Sk
143.2	5000 143.25	00	• Smplex •	Auto	SOMPLE	17	None	100.0 Hz	023	THO T	w Auto	0	143.36250	143.36250		mplex 💌	FM .	STAPLE	None .	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hr	023	Both N	· Off
243.2	6250 143.26	50	sinpex	A.00	STAFLE		None	100.0 H2	023	Off	AU/10	1	143.37900	143.37900	5	mpiex	PM	STYPLE	None	330.0 Hz	67,0 H2	928	BOCh N	01
243.2	1500 143-27	00	Sinplex	AUR0	57912	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AUR0	1	143.30750	143.38750		npex	PM	SPP10	none	330.0 PB	67.0 Pt	023	Both N	Off
141.3	0000 141.30	56	Sincley	4.00	STIFLE	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	400	1	143,41250	143 41250		mplex	FM	STAFLE	None	100.0142	67,049		Both N	Off
141.3	1250 143.31	50	Singley	A.to	SIMPLE	- H	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto.	5	143,42500	143,42500	9	mier	<b>FM</b>	GRAND	None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
243.33	2500 143.32	00	Singlex	Auto	STYPLE	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	6	143.43750	143.43750	9	mplex	7M	DOWN	None	200.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Doth N	off
243.3	3750 143.33	50	Simplex	Auto	50/PUE	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	OFF	Auto	7	143.45000	143.45000	9	mplex	PM	CANYON	None	100.0 Hz	67,0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
\$43.3	5000 143.35	00	Sinplex	Auto	SDIPLE	12	None	100-0 Hg	023	Off	Auto	8	143.46250	\$43.46250	9	mplex	FM	KU40P	None	\$30.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
343.3	6250 143.36	50	Sinplex	Auto	STYPLE	12	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	9	143.47500	143.47500	9	mplex	FM	10904D	None	333.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	off
143.3	7500 143.37	00	Sinplex	Auto	SOMPLE	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	10	143.48750	143.48750	9	mplex	FM		None	100.0 Hz	67/0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
\$43.3	8750 142.28	50	Sinplex	4.00	STAFLE		None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AL/10	11	143.90000	143.50000	9	mpiex	FM		none	\$30.0 Hz	67,0 Hz	023	Both N	0#
243.4	0000 143.40	00	Snpex	AUTO	539912		None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	N/15	12	143.53250	143.51250		npex	PM D		none	333.0 PE	67.070		Doth N	01
143.4	1000 143,41	50	Serpex	AL00	SPATE		Norme	100.0 M2		0.00	Auto	15	143,52500	143.52500		mplex	(79) (74)		Picerie .	100.0 Pg	67,0 PM		Both N	01
121.2	1753 143 43	10	Service	ALCO .	COMIN	DX I	Name	100.0 Hz	023	OF	400	17	143 55000	143 55300		nper	PH .		Digital di	100.0 PM	67.0.04		Roth II	0.0
141.4	5000 143.45	50 S	Sourcey	2.00	CANNORS	100	None	100.0 HP	023	Off	4:00	16	143 56250	143 56250		moley	PM .		Tione .	100.0 Hz	AT CHP	028	Both N	Off
141.4	141-40	50	Sincley	4.00	KHP	100	None	100.019	023	OF	4.00	17	143,52500	143,57500		mier	PM		None	100.019	67.010	023	Poth N	OF
141.4	7900 143.47	00	Sinplex	Auto	1000140	12	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	10	143.58750	\$43,58750	9	npiex	<b>FM</b>		None	200.0 Htr	67.0 Hz	023	Doth N	off
113.40	8750 143.40	50	Singlex	Auto		1	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	19	143.60000	143.60000		npiex	FM .		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Doth N	off
143.5	0000 143.50	00	Singlex	A.00		11	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	20	143.61250	143.61250	9	mplex	FM		None	200.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
142.5	1250 143.51	50	Sinplex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	21	143.62500	\$43.62900	9	mpiex	FM		None	\$30.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	022	Both N	Off
143.5	143.52	00	Sinplex	Auto		12	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	22	143.63750	143.63750	9	mplex	/M		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Soth N	off
143.5	3750 143.53	50	Sinplex	A.00		- 83	None	\$00.0 Hz	023	Off	AL/10	23	143.65000	143.65000	9	mpiex	FM		None	300.0 Hz	67,0 Hz	023	Both N	011
11.5	\$000 143.55	00	Sinplex	Auto .		1	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	4,10	24	143.66250	143.66350	9	mpiex	FM		None	333.0 Hz	67,0 Hz	023	Both N	0#
143.5	6250 143.56	50	Sinplex	Auto		10	None	100.0 Hz		HO	Auto	25	143.67500	143.67500	9	npiex	PM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz		Soth N	0#
243.5	7900 143.57	00	Sinplex	AURO		13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AUID	26	143.68750	143.68750	9	mplex	PM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
242-58	8750 143-58	50	Sinplex	AU/0			None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AU10	27	143.70000	143.70000	3	npex	PM		none	220.010	67.099	023	D001174	01
141.6	143.60		Serpex	ALCO		- 21	Marie	100.0 Mg	023	01	AUG0	14	143.73250	143.71230		mplex	100		Traine .	100.014	07.014	023	most re	OF
143.63	1500 143.62	10	Singley	6.60		- H	None	100.010	023	Off	4.00	1.0	143,23250	143 21250	9	mplex	EM.		Dista	100.014	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	OF
141.6	143.63	50	Sector	A.m		1	None	100.0102	023	Off	A.00	21	143,75000	143,75000		mains	EM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
243.60	5000 143.65	00	Singlex	Auto		P	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	32	143,76250	143.76250	2	mplex	PM		None	300.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
143.64	6250 143.66	50	Sinplex	A.10		12	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	A./10	33	143.77500	143.77900	9	mplex	FM		None	\$30.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
143.6	7900 143.67	00	Sinplex	Auto		12	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	34	143.79750	143.79750	9	mpiex	FM		None	333.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Roth N	off
143.68	8750 143.68	50	Simplex	Auto		12	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	35	143.80000	143.80000		mplex	FM		None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	023	Both N	Off
143.7	0000 143.70	00	Sinplex	AL00		8	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AL/10	36	143.81250	143.81250	9	mpiex	FM	SIMPLE	None	\$00.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	0.2.8	Both N	Off
113.7	1250 143.71	50	Sinplex	Auto		1	None	100.0102	023	Off	Au/to	37	143.82500	143.82500	9	npiex	PM	STADIE	None	300.0Hz	67.0Hz	023	Soth N	0#
143.7	2500 143.72	00	Sinplex	Auto		10	None	100.0 Hz	023	10	Auto	38	143.83750	143.83750	9	mplex	PM	SIMPLE	None	100.0 Hz	67.0 Hz	0.2.3	Both N	Off
243.7	3750 143.73	90	Sinplex	AURO		10	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AUTO	77	143.85000	143.85000	9	npiex		SIMPLE	none	100,0 HB	67/0H2	023	Both N	Off
243.7	2000 143.73		Subst	AL00	-		None	200.010	023	off	N/10	40	143.86230	243-26250	3	npex	791	SPPIE	none	220.010	97.010	0423	month for	01
141.9	1900 143 PP	10	Series	A CO	-	10	None	100.010	023	OF	4.00	1	210.07300	-10.07300	2	-pres	rel	APP26			10000	14.0	200111	- 11
\$43.7	142.70	50	Septex	Auto	-	H	None	100.0 Hg	023	Off	Auto	40							1			-		+
147.00	0000 143.00	00	Singles	Auto		11	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	44							-			-	-	
143.8	1250 143.81	50	Simplex	Auto	50/PLE	11	None	100.0 Hz	023	OFF	Auto	45										-		
143.8	142.82	00	Sinplex	AL10	STARE	E	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Au/10	46												
143.83	3758 143.83	50	Sinplex	Auto	STIPLE	11	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	47												
143.85	5000 143.85	00	Sinplex	Auto	STYPLE	. 83	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	48												
143.88	6250 143.86	50	Sinplex	Auto	STYPLE	E3	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	40/10	-19												
143.8	7508 143.87	00	Sinplex	Auto	STYPLE	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	50												
143.80	8750 143.88	50	Sinplex	Auto	STIPLE	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	51												
213.9	0000 143.90	00	Sinplex	AURO			None	100-0 Hg		Off	AU10	52												

Copying details from one cell to change many rows at once.

• **Column editing:** This editing allows you to change the data in the same column of several rows at once. It works a little differently for columns with text (including those into which you enter text and those that you select text from a list) and check box fields. Each of these scenarios is presented here in an example.

<u>Text Cell Editing</u> - To change Tone Mode to Tone for several channels.

Select the Tone Mode field of the first of the channels to be changed.

Make the change by pulling the drop-down and selecting Tone from the list.

	Copy and	Paste* ×																							
	Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency Fr	Offset Of requency Dire	Set Op	erating Hode	Name	Shew Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Skp	Shep	Clerk Shift	Tx Power	Tx Narrow	Pager Enable	Bank 1	Bank 2	Barik 3	Bank 4	Bank 5	Bank 6	Bank 7	Bank 8	8
1	243.25000	143.25000	w Simple	x wAuto		SOMPLE	11	ione 📼	100.0 Hz	023 6	) hoff	Auto w	13	High 💌	1	1	13	13	1	1	13	12	1	1	
	143.26250	143.26250	Sinpi	x A.00		SIMPLE	E	None +	100.0 Hz	023	011	AL/00	- 63	Hgh	- 63	E3	8	13		E	E	E		E	
	143.27508	143-27500	Sinple	x Alto		S74PLE	- 11	754 =	210.00L		Off	AU/00	- 13	High			11	10		- 11	10		10		
	143.28750	143.28750	Sinple	x Auto		STATE	11	Rev CTC:	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	10	Hgh	1	13	13	10		10	13	13	- 13 -	10	
	143.30000	143.30000	Sinple	x Auto		STIPLE	1	DCS	100.0 Hg	023	off	AUTO	- 13	Hgh		- 8-		- 13-	- 8-		<u> </u>	13	13		
	243-31250	143-31230	Saulte	× A/0		SPARE	- 6-	D Cide 1*	100.010		Off	A/10	- 8-	righ	- 6-	-8-	- 8-					- 8-	-8-		
	343.32900	143.32900	sinpi	X AUD		53912		Noric	100.010	023	off	CTUA CTUA	- 12	righ			10	123				100	101		
	243.33750	143.33750	Despe	X AUD		STATE .		reprie	100.010		Off	AUto	- 10	righ							1				
	243-33000	143.2000	Sauto	x A.co		50958	- 14	reprie	100.010	023	01	A./10	- 12	regis		- 8-	10	- 21-			- 12	- 10			
1	143 22630	143.30256	Single	x AUD		50406	101	Numb	100.010		OFF	AU100	- 10	Help	- 14		11	10			11		100		
1	243.37900	143.37500	Serge	x A.ro		SPALE		Norie	100.0 M2		Off	AUTO	- 22	ngn											
1	244.38790	143.08796	sinpi	* 4.00		SPACE	- 8-	rearie	100.0 Hg	023	Off	AL/30	- 12	High	- 54										
1	143,41160	143,41266	Sept	AUTO		5040.6	10	Name	100.0 Mg	022	Off	4.00	- 171	Mids.	10	1	1 121	10	1	10	1	10	10		
	141 41914	141,41506	Single	- A.C.		GRAND	1X	Nore	100.01/2		0.00	A (0)	- 10	High .	- 14	1	H	10	1	1	E H	10	10	1	
4	141 41764	143,43255	Small	- A		OOMN	100	Moral	100.0 Hz		Off	4.00	10	Hab	10	10	111	100	100	11	PI	11	10	10	
-	141 41000	143,45000	final	× 6.00		CANNER	100	None	100.019	0.03	00	4.00	- 22	heads.	- 14 -	1	1	- 8-		1	1	8			
	141 46150	143.46256	Sand	- 6.00		V1447P	100	None	100.010	023	OF	A (0)	- 14	10g1	14	10	171	100	- 24	14	11	10	100	100	
2	141 47500	141 47500	Sara			10000	121	North	100.010		Off	4.00	10	Herby	10	11	121	10	10	11	121	11	10	10	
2	141.48750	143.48250	Santi	× 40			171	None	100.010		Off	4.00	- 14	Herits	- 14	- M	10	100	- 24	11	M	10	10	100	
1	143 50000	143 50008	Casel				1	Maria	100.014		OF	A (0)	- 14	Mala	- 14	11	10	1	10	11	11	121	121	10	
2	143 51758	143 51258	Serie	× 6.00			10	None	100.01/2	022	00	4.00	- 11	High	- 14	1	1	- 8-		1	1	- 19	- 21		
2	141 57500	143.52500	Serie	v 6.00			11	None	100.010		OF	4.00	- 14	Here	10	11	121	11	10	11	11	10	10	10	
4	543,53750	143.53250	Sec	× 4.00			11	None	100.0 Hz		Off	4.00	11	Hab	10	11	121	121	100	11	121	171	121	10	
25	343,55008	143,55000	Since	× 6.00			M	None	100.0Hz		Off	4.00	- 14	Hidt	14	M	m	10	100	11	M	m	- Pl	10	
8	143,56258	143.56258	Small	x Ato			121	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	171	High	11	171	121	121	11	171	P1	121	171	171	
27	243,57500	143.57500	Single	× A.00			FI	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AL/00	17	High	F	FI	E	6	1	F	E	E	6	E	
28	243.58758	143.58750	Single	× 4.0			FI	None	100.0197		Off	AL/00	171	High	11	FI	FI	173	1	11	E1	FI	171	11	
22	243.60000	143.60000	Single	x Alto			171	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	111	High	11	11	121	1	12	11	121	171	171	10	
10	143.61250	143.61250	tande	× 4.00			FI	None	100.0197	023	Off	Au/00	P1	Hah	171	171	P3	P1	100	171	F71	P1	127	171	
11	143,62500	143.62500	Single	× A.0			IT I	None	100.019	023	Off	A.00	171	High	P	171	171	E FI	M	m	11	ET.	171	11	
12	141.62750	143,63750	Single	x Auto			1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Au/10	11	High	1	P	1	1	1	F	1	10	10		
13	243.65000	143.65000	Single	x Auto			171	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	171	High	17	171	171	171	17	11	171	171	171	17	
14	\$43.66250	143.66250	Single	× 4.00			17	None	100.0 Hz		Off	A./10	171	High	11	173	171	17	11	11	171	13	17	17	
15	343.67900	143.67900	Sinple	x Auto			17	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	171	High		E F	12	1	1	1	12	12	10		
36	343.68750	143.68750	Simple	x Auto			17	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	173	High	11	173	12	173	100	17	12	13	177	10	
37	243.70000	143.70000	Sinple	x A.00			E3	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AL/00	13	High	13	E	E3	1 12	12	E3	E3	63	123	13	
38	143.71258	143.71250	Sinple	x Alto			11	None	2910.001		Off	AL/10	13	High	11	10	123	100	1	11	173	13	100	11	
39	143.72500	143.72500	Sinple	x Auto			13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	12	High	13	13	123	13	13	13	123	123	13	13	
-0	243.73750	143.73750	Sinple	x Auto			13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AURO	13	Hgh	13	E	E3	10	1	13	13	23	13	12	
41	143.75000	143.75000	Single	x Auto			11	None	3110-001	023	Off	A./30	15	High	11	1	11	1	1	1	13	10	10	11	
42	343.76253	143.76250	Sinple	x Auto			13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	13	High	1	1	13	1		1	13	13	1		
43	243.77508	143.77500	Simple	x Auto			11	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	23	High	1	13	E3	1	1	11	13	23	2	1	
64	\$43.78758	143.78750	Sinple	x Auto			- 13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Au/to	- 13	High	13	13	13	13	10	13	13	13	13	12	
45	343.00000	143.00000	Sinple	x Auto			1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	12	High	1	1	12	1	1	1	1	1	1	E	
6	243.81250	143.81250	Simple	x Auto		50191.6	13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	13	High	1	13	13	10	1	1	13	1	1	E	
47	243.82500	143.82500	Sinpl	× 4.00		SIMPLE	- 13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	44,00		High		10				- 13	13	- 13	- 13	- E3	
-8	343.83750	143.83750	Sinple	x Auto		STAR	- 61	None	100.0 Hz		Off	ALTO .	- 23	High	1	10	11	1		1	1	E	- E	E	
93	143.85000	143.85000	Sinple	x Auto		STAPLE		None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	- 13	Hgh	- 13	- 13	- 63	- 63	- 6	10	- 13	1	- 6	<u> </u>	
50	143.86250	143.86250	Sinple	x A.00		STYPLE	- 61 -	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AU/10	_ 0	Hgh	- 13	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	- 6		- 13		- 13	E		
51	143.87500	143.87500	Single	x Alto		STANG	- 6-	None	100.0 Hz		Off	AL/10	- 0-	High		- 6-	- 8-	-8-			- 6-	- 6-	-6-		
52	243.88750	143.88750	Sinple	x Auto		STATE	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	10	High	1	11	11	10	1	1	11	13		-	
1	141,90000	141,90000	Sannia	× 5 00.				88.000m	100 0100		CONT.	A 185		Reads.								1 10	1.11	A 100 C	

Once the selection is made, the focus will move to the next field. Click back into the Tone Mode field that displays the correct value. When you move back into the field you can copy the information if the field is highlighted with a ring around its border or if the text within is shaded (indicating that it is selected).

Press Ctrl + C, select Edit | Copy from the menu at the top of the screen, or right click and select Copy from the menu that appears. (Just as with row copying in the first example.)

Select the first cell to be changed by pressing Down arrow until that cell is highlighted (the cell will be in the same column so using the Down Arrow key will easily move you to another nearby cell). If you need to move quite a way in the file, move to the first cell to be changed and click the mouse to select that cell.

																							_	_
	Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency Fre	Wset Offset quency Direction	Operating Mode	Name	Shew Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Skp	Shep	Clerk Shift	Tx Power	Tx Narrow	Pager Enable	Bank 1	Bank 2	Bark 3	Bank 4	Bank 5	Bank 6	Bark 7	Barik 8	Be
1	243.25000	143.25000	Serplex	Auto	STAFLE		Tene	100.0 Hz	023	Off C	Auto		High	-			-		-					
-	213.20230	143.28239	TAL PROPER D	A.40	Carrie .		1411	100.0 Hz IV	0.23	011 1	1400		High La	- 14-	10									
-	142 26263	142 26266	Serper	1.00	1000	10	None	100.0112	023	OFF	AL (1)	100	regis	- 24	10	121			10	123	8	- 14		
-	143 20000	143.20730	Serpex	6.00	57415	1	Marce	100.019	023	01	AUR0	- 22	Hugh .	- 24		10	10	- 14	10	10		10	- 24	
6	141.31250	143.31250	Singley	6.00	SIMPLE	E FI	None	100.0 Hz		orr	4.00	11	High	10	1	H	10	- 14	- H	11	19	10	191	
	141.32500	143.32900	Section	6.00	STATE	Pi Pi	None	100.0107	021	off	Au/00	- 14-	High	- 14 -	H	1	1		E C	P	1	10	1	
	243.33750	143.33250	Sector	4.00	10415	m	Nore	100.019	023	OFF	ALCO	121	Pilets.	1	17	Pl	PI	171	171	Pl	P1	171	10	
	143.35000	143,35000	Septex	A.40	SPIPLE	E FI	None	100.0 Hp	023	Off	Au/10	171	High	1	171	171	1	1	P	171	171	171	10	
0	143.36250	143.36250	Simplex	Auto	STIPLE	11	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	- 191	High	- 11	19	11	11	1	P	11	19	11		
1	243.37500	143.37500	Singlex	Auto	STIFLE	171	None	100.0 Hz	023	OFF	Au/10	171	High	11	171	171	171	17	17	171	171	171	17	
2	\$43.38750	143.38750	Sinplex	4.00	SOMPLE	11	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	A./10	171	High	1	17	12	12	1	P	173	123	17	1.11	
3	343.40000	143.40000	Sinplex	Auto	STYPLE	11	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	173	High	11	17	11	10	11	1	13	173	10	10	
4	143.41250	143.41250	Sinplex	Auto	SOMPLE	1 13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	83	High	13	123	123	12	11	12	123	E3	123	12	
5	143.42508	143.42500	Sinplex	A.40	GRAND	1	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AU/00	13	High	10	12	13	12	10	E1	13	12	173	12	
5	343.43758	143.43750	Sinplex	A.to	DOWN	10	None	371 0.000	023	Off	Auto	12	High	11	12	123	12	11	12	123	123	121	12	
7	243.45000	143.45000	Sinplex	Auto	CANYON	1	None	500.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	6	High	13	1	1		1	12	13	6	6	1	
5	243.46258	143.46250	Singlex	AURO	KUHIP	<b>N</b>	None	100.0 Hz		OFF	AUTO	23	High	10	10	13	10	10	1	10	13	10	13	
2	\$43.47508	143.47500	Sinplex	Auto	(0004D)	12 I	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	13	High	13	13	13	12	13	12	13	13	13	12	
	343.48758	143.40750	Singlex	Auto		1	None	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	12	High	1	1	13	1	10	1	1	12	12	12	
	243.50000	143-50000	Singlex	A.00		1	None	100.0 Hz	023	OFF	Av/10	1	High	1	1	1			1	1	13	1	1	
	\$43.51258	143.51250	Sinplex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	12	High	- 13	13	13	12	12	13	13	13	12	12	
	343.52508	143.52500	Singlex	Auto		11	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	23	High	1	17	13	12	1	1	12	173	1	1	
	243.53750	143.53750	Sinplex	4.00		1.13	None	500.0 Hz		Off	AL/10	- 83	High	- 13	13	13	13	- 13	1.13	13	13	13	13	
	143.55000	143.55000	Sinplex	4,40		1	None	100.0 Hz		Off	44,00	23	Hgh		12	12	12			12	123	1	12	
5	143.56258	143.56250	Sinplex	Auto		13	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	13	High	1	13	12	12		1	13	123	10	10	
1	143.57500	143.57500	Sinplex	ALIO		E	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AU10	13	Hgh	- E	13	1			E	E3	13	1	E	
L	143.58758	143.58750	Sinplex	A.10		- 61	None	100.010		Off	AU/10	- 13	High		10	13	- 13		1	0	13	- 63	1.1	
	143.60000	143.60000	Sinplex	Auto		11	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto		High	10	13	11	1	1	1	11	17	10	1	
	143.61250	143.61250	Sinplex	AURO			None	100.0 Htt	023	Off	AUto	- 13	High		11	11	12		1	11	13	10	12	
	143.62500	143-62500	Singlex	A.00		- 0-	None	94 0.001	053	OIL	A/10	_	High					_		- 0-		- 0-		
	141.63750	143.63750	Sinplex	Auto			None	100.0 Hg	023	Off	Auto	- 13	High								13	10		
	143.65000	143.65000	Simplex	Auto			None	100.0 Hz	023	OH	Auto		High											
	543.66250	143.66250	Saubrex	A.00		10	None	100.0 Hg		Off	A/10	- 12	High			0		_		- 13-		- 13 -		
	343.67500	143.67900	Sinpex	auto .			None	200.010		Off	AUID		High								100			
	243.58758	143.58756	Subsex	ALIO			reorve	100.0 M2		Off	AUID		ngn											
	243.70000	143.70000	Sinpex	4,00		- 8-	None	100.0 H2	023	off	AL/00	- 13	High											
	243.71230	143.73230	Snpex	4,00			none	100.010		Off	N/10	- 10	regn									- 12		
	243.72500	143.72500	Serpex	AU10	-	1 12	Norme	100.0 P2	023	off	AU102	- 61	ngn	- 64	1	- 6	10		1	10	10	10		
	143 25000	143 75000	Gentler	4.00		1	Harris	100.0192		or	4,00	- 63	ing t	100	100	10	1	10		10	10	10	100	
	141.70000	143 20200	Conjex	6.00	-	1	No.	100.010		00	4.00	- 61	heads.	- 6-	1	1	1	- 14	1	1	1	- 61	1	
	143 27603	141 77500	Index	6.00		- 8-	Margare .	100.010	033	OF	A.00	-12-	Made.	1	1	1	10	10	10	12	1	1	10	
	543 20203	143 20250	Gentley	6.00		11	Marca	100.0 Mit	022	011	4.00	10	Herby.	10	1	10	1	10	10	11	10	10	10	
	141 00000	143 80008	Service	A 40		1 14	Norm	100.010		Off	4.00	-14-	16ch		1	10-	- 14 -	- 14		1	10	- 24 -		
	143,81258	143,81250	Service	4.00	STATIS	1	Norm	100.0 Hz		OFF	4.00	11	Hints	10	11	in the	11	11	11	171	11	11	10	
	542,82900	143,82900	Sincier	4.00	STARLE	M	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	4.00	- 14	Hido	10	M	M	1 M	1	1 M	M	1 M	10	10	
	141.83758	143.83750	Section	4.00	STAFLE	M	None	100.0Hz		Off	ALTO	11	High	10	1 PT	11 III	11	10	PI I	PI	PT 1	11	10	
	143,85000	143.85000	Seglex	4.00	STATE	1 12	None	100.0 Hz		Off	Au/00	121	High	P	1 11	19	171	11	1 12	121	121	121	10	
	143.86250	143.86250	Sinplex	4.00	STYPLE	E	None	100.0 Hz		Off	AL/00	171	High	P	E	E1	E	11	11	E	11	121	10	
	143.87508	143.87500	Singley	Auto	SIMPLE	11	None	100.0 Hz		Off	A./to	173	High	17	17	11	11	11	11	11	12	12	17	
	243.88753	143,88750	Singlex	Auto	57415	E	None	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Au/10	61	High	E	E	E	6	1	E	E	61	1	1	
	141,90000	141,90000	Sincley	4.00		1 H	None	100.019	023	OF	4.00	10	15db	11	11	P1	171	10	10	171	171	171	100	
						-						-		and the second s						-		-		

If several consecutive rows are to be changed, select them all by holding the Shift Key while you Down Arrow through them or hold the Left Mouse Key while you move your mouse over them (normal Windows selection processes). When they are selected, they will be highlighted in a color based on the scheme of your computer.

Press Ctrl + V, select Edit | Paste from the menu at the top of the screen, or Right Click and select Paste from the options in the menu that opens. The copied value will appear in each of the fields.

		MD 68 C	100	PB 24	Y																			
1	Copy and Receive	Paste* × Transmit	Offset	Offeet	Operating		Shew						Clark	Tr	Tx	Paper								
	Frequency	Frequency	Frequency	Direction	Mode	Name	Name	Tone Node	cress	DCS	Stb	Step	Shift	Power	Narrow	Enable	Bank 1	Bank 2	Bark 3	Bank 4	Bank 3	Bank 6	Bank 7	Barit 8
	243.25000	143.25000		Serplex	Auto	STAPLE		Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	ctuA	_	High					_					
	243.26250	143.26250	1	Suber 14	(A.00 )	- SPALE		Tone w	100.0H2	023 1	- Incla	1 A/10	- 53	High La		1	10			10		13	- E3	
	143 28253	143 28250		Service	4.00	52401	10	Terre	100.0Hz	023	Off	4.00	- 10	Hab	- 24	10	191	10	10	1	10	10	100	100
	141,30000	141.30000		Sinder	A.00	57415	1	Tone	100.0192	023	Off	4.00	10	Here .	- 21	1 10	H H	12	- 24	10	1	10	100	10
	141.31258	141.11250		Singley	6.00	STARLE	H	Tane	100.0 Hz		orr	4.00	11	High	- 14	11	11	11	11	PI	H	19	100	10
	143.32900	143.32900		Singlex	A.02	STIFLE	E	Tene	100.010	023	off	Auto	- 11	Hah	- 11	E E	E E	1	1	P	Pl	10	6	100
	243.33750	143.33750		Singlex	Auto	52915	171	Tone	100.0112	023	OFF	AU10	121	High	171	17	173	17	171	17	171	P1	E	17
	\$43.35000	143.35000		Sinplex	Auto	SDIPLE	11	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	171	High	11	17	171	17	11	11	171	10	10	17
	143.36250	143.36250		Sinplex	Auto	STYPLE	12	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	off	Auto	171	High	17	12	12	1	1	12	10	12	12	
	143.37500	143.37500		Sinplex	Auto	SOMPLE	1	Tene	100.0 Hz	023	OFF	Auto	1	High	10	1	12	13	10	1	13	13	1	
	\$43.38750	143.38750		Sinplex	ALCO	STARE	13	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AL/50	13	High	12	13	12	12	13	13	13	13	12	10
	343.40000	143.40000	3	Serplex	Auto	STYPLE	1	Tone	100.0Hz	023	Off	AU30	12	High	10	1.12	11	12	1	1	12	13	1	- E
	143.41250	143.41250		Septex	Auto	SIMPLE	0	Tone	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	-13	High	- 13	- 6	- 13-	10	- 13	10	13	- 13	<u> </u>	
	143.42508	143.42500		Sinplex	AU10	GRAND	M	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	40/30	- 13-	High				- 13		- 8-				
	243.43750	143.43750	-	Suber	ALIO	DOWN	M	Tone	100.0 Hz		Off	AUto		righ				- 8-			<u> </u>			-8-
	243.45000	143.45000	- 1	Sinplex	AU10	CANFOR	14	Tone	100.0 Hz		off	Auto	- 12	High	- 61	10	11				10	13		
	143,47000	143.47000	-	Confect	4010	1000	19	Tone	100.0112	023	011	4,00	- 141	rege	- 14	10	141	10		100	121	10	100	10
	141 48780	141.40700		Cooler	2.00		10	Total	100.010		08	1.00	- 24	Made	- 24	10	171	- 27	- 14	- 21	11		- 27	- 24
	143,50000	143.50000		Service	4.00		1	Tene	100.0 Hz		OFF	4.00	11	High	- 14	1	H	1	1	1	11	11	10	11
	542 51250	143.51250		Singles	A.10		1	Tene	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	- 11	Hido	10	1	P	P	1	P	M	10	100	
	343,52508	143.52500		Service	Auto		- Pi	Tene	100.0Hz		Off	Auto	171	High	11	PI	171	11	11	11	171	PI	PI	171
	243.53750	143.53750		Singlex	AL00		12	Tone	100.0 Hz		Off	A./10	173	High	12	11	11	12	1	12	12	13	12	11
	143.55000	143.55000		Sinplex	Auto .		E3	Tone	100.0 Hz		Off	4,00	23	High	17	23	173	12	10	10	123	12	12	10
	143.56258	143.56250		Seplex	Auto		12	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	123	High	13	13	123	123	10	13	13	123	13	12
	143.57500	143.57500		Sinplex	A.00		E .	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	AU/00	12	Hgh	- 63	1	E		- 61	E	1	E		8
	143.58750	143.58750		Sinplex	Auto		E1	Tone	100.0192		Off	AU/10	10	High		1	13	13		10	10	13	- E	
2	143.60000	143.60000		Sinplex	Auto		11	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	_ 13	High	- 11	13	17	13	1	10	11	11	10	- E
2	143.61250	143.61250		Sinplex	Auto		10	Tone	100.0102	023	Off	AUto	- 13	High			11				- 81-	13-	11	
	143-62500	143-62500	-	Singlex	A.00		- 8-	Tone	3910.001		Off	A/10	-8-	High		- 8-	- 8-	- 8-	_		- 8-	- 8-	- 8 -	-8-
	343.63750	143.63750	-	sinpex	ALIO			Tone	100.010	023	off	AUID	- 12	regn		10	111	100		10	10	11		
	143.65000	143.65000		Contex	AUTO			Tone	100.010		Off	AUID	- 12	regn	- 21	121	1	121		10				
	141.67004	141.67506	-	Consiev	6.00		10	Tena	100.01/2		0#	Auge .	-14-	16mb	- 14 -	1	11	- 14 -	- 14 -	- 94 -	- 14	- 14	- 24	- 14 -
	143,68750	143,68250		Service	Auto.		171	Terre	100.0 Hz		OFF	4.00	171	Heb	271	171	171	171	10	171	11	171	171	10
-	143,70000	143.70000		Sindiev	4.00		E	Tene	100.0 Hz	023	Off	4.00	- 11	High	1	E E	E E	E I		F	- M	1	100	
8	143.71258	143.71250		Sinplex	Auto		E	Tone	100.0112		Off	AU/10	11	High	10	1	11	10	1	E	10	13	100	1
2	143.72500	143.72500		Sinplex	Auto		12	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	121	High	17	1 13	121	11	13	12	1 12	123	123	10
1	143.73750	143.73750		Sinplex	AURO		11	Tone	100.0 Hz		Off	AURO	13	High	13	E	E	E	13	E .	10	13	10	13
1	143.75008	143.75000		Singlex	Auto		13	Tane	100.01%	023	Off	AL/10	11	High	12	13	11	13	13	11	13	13	10	11
2	343.76250	143.76250	3	Sinplex	Auto		1	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	13	High	1	1	13	1	1	1	13	1	1	1
5	243.77508	143.77500		Sinplex	Auto		1	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Auto	12	High	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		E	E
4	\$43.78753	143.78750		Sinplex	Auto		13	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Au/50	-8-	High	- 63	13	13	10	- 6	10	0	13	10	1
	343.00000	143.00000	-	Sinplex	Auto	1000		Tone	100.010r	023	Off	Auto	- 12	High	-	10	11	13	1	1	1	13		
2	243.81258	143.81250	-	Sergiex	Auto	5741.8		Tene	100.0 Hz		Off	Auto	- 5	High	-	1			-	1	0			
	244.82500	141.82900		SUDER	AL00	SPACE		10ne	200.0H2	023	Off Off	AL/00	-8	нар	- 53	8			- 61		10	- 13	- 53	
2	243.63758	142 95000	-	Service -	ALICO	37912	1	Terre	100.049	023	Off	AU (0)	-6-	ingn Multi		8		10	- 21	- 6-	8		5	
1	143.02000	143.03000		Sinnier	6.00	57912	1	Tone	100.0 Hz		0.00	AUTO	- 12	- Mgn Herb	100	10	10	10	10	1	E H	10		10
N.	141 87500	143 87508		Cerelan .	A do	STADLE	1	Terra	100.0 Hz		Off	4.00	-14-	Hab	10	1 11 -	11	10	10	100	10	10	100	10
2	143.88753	143.88750		Sector	AL10	STATE	H	Tone	100.0 Hz	023	Off	Au/10	- 19	Hah	P	E E	E E	E .	- 11	E E	H H	10	8	1
3	243.90000	143.90000		Singley	4.00		H	None	103.0197		OFF	A.(1)	11	High	11	1	ET.	E1	1	P	ET.	ET.	100	10
							-						- 200		and a second	100	100	100	100	100	100	A Loss	A DECK	

© 2020 RT Systems, Inc.

Column editing will address a selection of consecutive cells all at once or individual cells repeatedly. If the items to be changed are not consecutive, you can select and paste repeatedly until all the cells are addresses. You do not have to copy again. The programmer retains the copied value.

<u>Check Box Cell Editing</u> - If you want to put several channels into a Bank, there is no reason to do this one row at a time.

This process varies from the other by how the cells are selected. Check box cells act differently than those that contain text. You can copy from one check box column into another.

In this example, put channels several into Bank 1 without checking the Bank 1 box for each channel.

First, select Settings from the menu at the top of the page. From that menu, select Bank Settings. Several columns of the screen will be hidden leaving only Receive Frequency, Name and Banks. This makes working on the screen easier since you no longer must scroll through several columns that you are not using now.

	Conventione: N	5 0 8	dia 24	9									
Î	Receive Name	Bank 1	Bank 2	Bank 3	Barik 4	Bank 5	Bank 6	Bank 7	Bank 8	Bank 9	Bank 20	Comment	
	\$43,25000 S04PLE	13	13	- 83	23	13	23	83	23	83	8		-
	143.26250 S0MPLE	10	12	123	10	E .	E	P3	23	10	E3		
	143.27500 S04PLE	11	175	17	25	83	13	13	10	10	10		-
	143.28750 S04PLE	6	123	123	100	8	8	19	63	6	8		
	243.30000 S74PLE	12	173	177	100	10	10	173	100	100	E3 -		
	143.31250 S04PLE	[*]	175	175	27	123	175	173	175	175	10		
	243.32500 S2VPLE	1	173	173	10	6	13	13	13	6	10		
8	143.33750 S2YFLE	171	P1	175	87	171	171	175	175	21	11		-
9	\$43,25000 S2MPLE	11	171	171	17	10	11	173	10	11	10		-
0	143,36250 S2VPLE	11	10	19	10	P	11	171	195	11	P		-
1	243.37500 S0MPLE	11	171	171	071	11	11	171	171	01	111		
2	142,28750 S2MPLE	PI -	E	P	121	P	E	1	10	P	10		
3	141.40000 STYPLE	- H	E E	171	171	- H	E I	ET.	PT.	- Pi	11		
14	543,41250 SOMPLE	19	121	123	199	191	Pl	121	193	191	P1		
5	141,41500 ((8410)	- H	1 M	ET.	171	- Pi	PL I	ET.	m	- Pi	M		-
6	143,43750 DOMN	11	175	171	197	10	175	175	175	- 21	11		-
	143 45003 CA3000	8	100	100	- 24	- 14 -	100	100	100	- 21 -	8		-
	141 46153 10 439	10	100	171	0.1	100	100	121	100	- 25	24		
	141 47500 10000	10	121	100		1	121	PS I	100	100	8		-
	141.41703	- 14-	- 21	- 24	- 24	- 24 -	8		- 24-	- 24			
	242 64000	1	121	100	01	1	10	100	05				
	143,50000	- 14				- 8-							
	10.01400	- 12	121	123	100		10	100	100				
	243.52300	- 13-	127	127				100	100				
	143.53/58		- 8-				100		8	-8-			
2	243.59000		100	100	-		10						
0	243.59250										8		
-	243.57500		10	100			10	10					-
8	243.58750	10	10				10						
9	143.60000	- 0-	- 0-	- 0									
10	243.61250	11	11	13	10		10	13	<u> </u>				
11	143.62500	- 11	13	13	<u></u>			13					
2	242.63750	0					0				6.3		
13	343.65000	10	10	1	10		1	- E	10	12			
4	243.66250	12	12	1	E	E	E	- E	E	- 2			
5	\$43,67900	12	12	12	13	- 63	- E	13	12	- 63	10		
6	243.68750	<u> </u>	12	1	10	10	1	13	E3 -	- 63			
17	243.70000	10	1.13	13	- 63	10	- 63	- 13	- C3 -	- 83			
8	143.71250	10	10	E	13	- 63	- 63	E3	13	E3	E3		
19	143.72500	- 23	12	1	10	10	23	13	13	13			
0	243.73750	6	6	12	. 63	8	6	6	6	8.			
1	243.79000	12	1	13	10	10	10	23	83	10	E3		
2	343.76250	12	17	12	12	13	15	15	15	10	10		
0	243,77500	P	173	17	10	10	1	10	1	6	P3		
14	243.78750	m	171	171	01	m	m	P1	01	11	171		
5	543,90000	11	11	12	1	10	11	11	11	10	11		
6	143.01250 SZMPLF	M	M	m	M	M	M	P1	m	M	M		
0	543,81500 SIMPLE	11	E Pl	10	101	11	11	171	011	11	171		-
	542,91751 CD40,5	1	1 10	127	100	1 H	H H	100	100	10	10		
1	A CONTRACTOR DATASE	10	171	175	1275	10	175	171	100	100	10		

For Channel 1, put a check in the box under Bank 1.

lie t	dit Communicatio	ns Settings	Window	Help						-	-		
) 🗳	2 X 46 68	800	dia 2↓	8									
14	Copy and Paste *	<											
R	Receive Name	Bank 1	Bank 2	Bank 3	Bark 4	Bank 5	Bank 6	Bank 7	Bank 8	Bark 9	Bank 20	Comment	
1	43.25000 S0MPLE	12	13	123	23	23	23	123	83	8	23		
1	H3.26250 S3MPLE	10	13	13	12	10	10	13	1	1	12		
	43.27500 S04PLE	1 10	12	123	123	E3	13	13	23	83	23		
1	43.28750 SDVPLE	13	13	13	8	8	13	6	6	10			
	H3.30000 53MPLE	10	13	E	- 61			<u> </u>					
	43.31250 S04PLE	1											-
13	H3.32500 524FLE	11	13	13			- 13	13	13				-
1	H3.33750 50MPLE		- 8-				- 8-						
	43.35000 50408	- 12	- 8-		- 8-		- 8-	8		- 8-			
	43.39250 52955	10		11	10	- 14	1	101	01	- 22	8		
	42 29253 CTMD E	1 10	- 12-		1	- 14	8	8	8	- 2 -	8		
	43,40000 STMPLE	H	- H	171	10	H	H	Pl	171	H	H		
	43.41250 S2MPLF	1973	173	1973	100	197	191	197	197	197	071		
	43.42500 GRAND	10	1	100	10	10	10	10	6	10	1 1 1		
	H3.43750 DOWN	10	12	123	123	11	123	123	12	85	23		
1	43.45003 CANTON	6	6	6	6	8	6	6	(C)	0	6		
1	H3.46250 KUH3P	10	13	13	63	E3	13	10	11 I	10	E3		
1	43.47503 100040	10	13	13	13	10	13	10	10		10		
1.2	43.48750	12	12	123	12	13	13	12	13	10	E		
1	43.50000	1	1	1	<u> </u>		1	1		<u> </u>	13		
1	42.51250	13	13	13	13	13	10	13	13	13	E		
1	43.52500			10									
	43.53750								<u> </u>				
	43.55000								<u> </u>				
	43.58250	8								8	8		
	43.57500	- 12		0.3		- 8-	- 8-	10	100		8		
	43.68000	10	111	123	100	1	121	100	100	- 14	1		
	41.61250	11	1	10	- 24 -	- 14 -	8	8	1	8	8		
	43.63500	100	10	195	191	H	11	175	100	H	100		
	43.63750	17	1	17	H	H	m	E I	m	- H	8		
	43.65000	12	10	10	10		10	10	10	10	10		
	43.66250	11	11	17	11	1	10	175	11	11	10		
	43.67900	1	13	11	13	13	13	10	13	10	10		
1	43.68750	12	12	11	23	13	13	13	13	21	23		
1	43.70000	1 23	13	123	1.12	10	10	E3	13	- 83	0		
8 1	43.71250	12	13	13	12	- 63	13	E3	13	- E	E		
9 3	43.72500	1	10	1			1	<u> </u>			0		
2 2	43.73750	10	13	. 13			13	13	10				
	43.75000	- 13-	- 13-	0		-9	- 13	0	<u> </u>				
	43.76250	- 8-	- 6-	8	- 8-	-8-	- 8-	- 8-	-8-	-8-	5		
	43.7/200		10	100			8	101					
	12.78729	1 10	- 6-	10			- 8-	1		1	- 5		
	41.81753 CTUDIE	1 10	10	10	1	1	8	10	100	8	8		
	43 81500 5040 5	11	10	171	100	10	H	011	071	100	물		
	43,81750 534915	1 11	- H-	- M	1	H H	1	1 m	- M	- M	8		
	43.85000 SIMPLE	H	10	11	11	H.	- M	PT -	(FT	- M	H		
-	10 11 10 10 10	and and	and diama	and and	Lie .	, sid		i tid		, with		1 al	

At this point you CANNOT copy this field. Press Tab or Enter to move out of the field.

The process is more easily done now with the keyboard rather than the mouse.

Press Right Arrow to move focus back into the Bank 1 column. Notice that there is now a black border on that cell. The cell is now ready to be copied. Press Ctrl C or select Edit from the menu then copy from the list that opens to copy the cell.

a	Convant Faste 1 V												
Ī	Receive Name	Bank 1	Bank 2	Bank 3	Barik 4	Bank 5	Bank 6	Bank 7	Bank 8	Bank 9	Bank 30	Comment	
1	243.25000 S2MPLE	12	123	- 123	23	13	123	123	123	23	83		
	143.26250 S0VPLE	11	17	1	10	1	E	13	10	1	8		
	143,27500 SIMPLE	P1	171	171	197	100	E.	171	175	100	PI I		
	143,28750 S0VPLE	[7]	173	19	100	61	6	19	171	6	8		
	243.30000 S7MPLE	11	17	171	171	10	10	10	175	10	10		
	143.31250 SIMPLE	P1	171	17	11	- M	11	m	m	m	M		
	243,32500 SZMPLE	11	11	100	100	100	10	10	10	100	Pi I		
	143.33750 S249LE	171	121	175	175	11	P1	175	075	21	m		
	543,25000 S2MPLE	111	171	171	100	PI -	E.	171	171	E I	M		
	141.36250 STAFLE	11	111	10	10	- M	11	171	11	100	100		
	243.37500 S2MPLF	m	m	11	171	m	m	171	171	m	M		
2	142.39750 S2MPLE	- H	10	10	1	1	10	E .	10	1	1		
5	143.40000 SIMPLE	H	PT -	100	- FT	H	E H	ET.	171	H	H		
6	543,41250 SOMPLE	19	121	123	191	11	121	121	193	191	10		
ŝ	141,41500 ((8410)	1 M	11	100	1	1 Pr	E PL	ET.	(FI)	1	H		
1	143 41753 DOMN	11	175	125	101	14	171	191	195	95			
-	143 45003 CANING	8	- 14	1	- 24 -	- 14 -	100	100	10	- 21-	8		
-	141 46153 10 439	- 21	11	100	100	100	100	121	0.3	- 25	100		
-	141 47500 10000	101	121	12		1	E.	PS I	100	100	8		
1	141.41703	- 14-	- 24-		- 24	- 24 -	8			- 24	- 24		
-	242 64000	11	121	100	04	- 14-	10	100	055				
1	143,50000					- 8-	- 8-				8		
1	10.01400	- 11	10	101		- 14	10	100	100		- 22		
	243.54309	- 11-	- 61	100				100	100	- 8-			
•	143.53/58	- 8-	-8-				10		- 2	-8-	8		
	243.59000			10									
2	343.56250			1				10					
-	143.57500		0	13				13			0		
	243.58750	10	13	13			10	13					
2.	143.60000		- 0-										
2	243.61250	11	11	13	10		10	13	13				
1	143.62500		13	10	10			13					
2	\$43.63750	10	- 13	- 63	C	C	- 61	- C	- 13	C	- 63		
3	343.65000	1	- 12	1.1	10	- E	12	- E	10	10.			
4	243.66250	1	10		- E	- El		- E	<u> </u>	- E			
5	\$43.67900	13	12	13	13	13	13	13	2	- 13	10		
5	243.68750	10	12	10	12	10	13	1	13	- El			
7	243.70000	13	13	13	1.13	10	- 13	13	E3 .	- 63			
3	243.71250	13	12	12	123	13	E3	E3	13	10	10		
1	243.72500	13	11	12	100	10	13	10	13	13	13		
2	543.73750	13	13	123	1	10	6	10	15	10			
1	243.79000	12	23	10	10	10	10	23	83	10	10		
2	543.76250	11	11	12	11	13	15	15	12	10	10		
3	243.77500	1	13	1.12	1	1	1	10	1	1	10		
4	243.78750	17	173	175	121	11	15	P1	175	11	10		
1	543,90000	11	11	10	1	10	11	11	173	10	11		
5	143.01250 STYPLE	- M	111	- M	10	M	- M	P1	Ph	- M	M		
2	543.83500 S0MPLE	171	121	171	121	11	11	171	121	11	171		
	142,81750 S2MPLE	P1	10	PI I	100	E F	E E	PL	10	Pi Pi	1		
5	141,85001 5040 F	11	11	175	197	1	171	171	175	100	1		
-	ALCONOMY STATES		in the second	in the		- 347	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1				Test		

Press and Hold the Shift key while pressing the Down Arrow key to select the rows that will be set with this information.



Press Ctrl V to paste the selecting into the fields.



**Simple Mode**: Hides several of the columns for each memory channel. Those remaining are the ones that are most needed for any memory channel. Those remaining include:

Receive Frequency - A channel cannot be programmed without a receive frequency. This is the frequency you listen to.

Transmit Frequency - The programmer will complete this automatically. The column is included in case you need to enter the value other than the default for the receive frequency based on the band plan (i.e., an odd split pair).

Offset Direction - Again, the programmer will complete this automatically based on the band plan for the receive frequency. However, an occasional repeater will differ from the band plan. Including this column gives you the ability to address that difference.

Name - This column is for personalized information to identify the channel.

Tone Mode - The repeater operator controls this detail for the repeater. There is nothing standard that can be completed automatically. You need to select the Tone Mode then assign the CTCSS frequency or DCS code as needed for a particular repeater.

Skip - Use at your discretion to include or exclude a frequency during memory channel scanning.

Comment - Personalized notes up to 80 characters. This information remains a part of the file and is not transferred to the radio.

FT-60	Programme lit Commu	r - FT-60 Un nications	ititled1 Settings Wi	indow <u>H</u> e ¶i 22↓   ??	lp					
E FI	-60 Untitled									
	Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency	Offset Direction	Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Skip	Comment	
1	430.00000	430.00000	Simplex 💌		None 💌	100.0 Hz 👻	023 💌	Off 🚽		
3										
4										
6										
8										
10										
11										
13										
14										
16										
18										
20										
21				(	L,					
H 4	► ►I Me	nories / Limi	t Memories / _	VFO / Hom	ie /					
Ready										CAP NUM

Note: While in Simple Mode, you cannot access the Preferences screen (Settings | Preferences). The columns that are hidden in Simple mode are predetermined by the programmer.

All columns are visible on the screen when you are no longer in Simple Mode. If you want to hide other columns, you can do that through individual selection on the Settings | Preferences page.

**Find (Ctrl+F)** - Finds specific text in a specified column. Once you select this command or press Ctrl+F a screen opens into which you enter the text (or number) to be found.

Find	
Look in:	ОК
Receive Frequency	Cancel
Find text:	

Select the field to be searched (i.e., Receive frequency, Transmit frequency, etc.)

Enter the text (or numbers) to be found.

Click OK to move to the first item found. The search always begins at the top of the list and stops at the end.

**Find Next (F3)** - Use the F3 function key to repeat the specified find and move to the next item. For example: You choose to search for 145 in the Receive Frequency column in a file with 5 channels beginning with 145. OK in the Find box takes you to the first one. F3 takes you to the second; then the third; then the fourth: and so on until you have stopped at each of those that match the criteria.

**Goto Channel (Ctrl+G)** - Moves to the indicated channel number. When this option is selected a screen opens into which you enter the channel number. Enter the number and click OK to move to that memory channel (programmed or not).

Goto Channel	X
Enter channel number to move to.	ОК
Channel	Cancel

**Insert Channel (Shift+Ins)** - Inserts a blank row without deleting information present. The current information and all that follows is "pushed-down" to make room. The number of rows inserted will equal the number of rows selected. This is a great way to slip channel information into a list of channels.

Note: Insertion of rows can result in the loss of data from the bottom of the list. You will be warned if there is danger of data loss and given the opportunity to cancel the process to prevent this loss.

**Delete Channel (Shift+Del)** - Removes the selected row. All the data following the deleted row is "pulled-up" to eliminate the blank row. Beware!! Deleted data cannot be recovered. Neither the Insert nor the Paste commands write the data to the grid. If you accidentally delete data, exit the Programmer WITHOUT saving. The file will be restored to its condition when you last saved and the last deleted data will be restored. Multiple channels can be deleted by selecting them all at once and selecting delete.

**Clear Channel** - Removes the data from the selected channel without moving all those that follow up to fill this space. Leaves the channel blank.

**Move Up (Ctrl+U)** - The ability to select a channel and have it "change places" with the channel immediately preceding it. Repeat this command on a selected channel to "walk" it into place in your list. Sequential channels can be selected and moved at once. The group will move up one channel at a time. The displaced memory channel will move to the end of the group being moved.

**Move Down (Ctrl+D)** - The ability to select a channel and have it "change places" with the channel immediately following it. Repeat this command on a selected channel to "walk" it into place in your list. Sequential channels can be selected and moved at once. The group will move down one channel at a time. The displaced memory channel will move to the top of the group being moved.

Add Frequency Range - A convenient way to add lots of channels at once. This is great for setting up a radio for scanning a certain range of channels. When this option is selected you are presented with a window into which you enter the details of the channels to be entered.

26

Add Frequency List
Starting Frequency MHz
Number of channels 1
Frequency Step 5 kHz 💌
Cancel

<u>Enter Starting Frequency</u>: The value of the first frequency of the list to be entered. Any allowable frequency of the radio being programmed.

<u>Number of channels</u> - Enter the number of channels to be entered. You can insert as few as 1 to as many as 1000 channels at once. You are not warned if you select more than the number of memory channels. The process just inserts all that it can and ignores the rest.

<u>Frequency Step</u> - Enter the value that will separate each of the frequencies in these channels. Select 5kHz to 200 kHz.

Click OK and watch the screen fill. Or Cancel to exit the process without change to your file.

The channels are inserted beginning at the currently selected channel (i.e., if you have selected channel 40, the first channel will be added at channel 40).

You are warned if a channel will be overwritten and given the ability to not overwrite or to cancel the process. If you choose No to prevent loss of the current channel information, the skipped frequency is entered into the next available space and not lost.

**Sort** - Great for data management or to arrange your channels permanently for a special use. The programmers have the ability to Undo a sort. You can now sort the list on a given parameter, touch-up a group of entries, then put the list back in its original order with the changes that you made. When this option is selected you are presented with a window for selection of the options.

Sort	
Sort by Receive Frequency	▼ 0K
Then sort by None	Cancel
Sort Mode Ascending Decsending	Channel Sort Selection C Selected channels C All Channels

<u>Sort by</u> - Select a column for the initial sort.

<u>Then Sort By</u> - Select a second column for a secondary sort.

<u>Sort Mode</u> - Ascending for lowest to highest. Descending for highest to lowest.

<u>Channel Sort Selection</u> - Selected Channels to sort only a group form the file. All Channels to sort all the channels in the file.

If the result is not quite what you expected, select the Undo Sort option to return the list to the point you left it last.

Always save your file before you sort. At the very worst you can exit the file without saving to return to the order of that last save.

Blank memory channels are always sorted to the top of bottom of the list based on the Ascending or Descending selection.

Different fields sort differently. If a field is a text field in one programmer and a drop down list in another, the sort results will be different. It has to do with how the computer interprets the values in these different types of fields. While this was present in the older programmers, it should not be a problem in the RT Systems programmers where the fields are consistent between the radio programmers.

**Unsort** - For use after sorting to return the list to the last saved order. Use Sort and Unsort to easily edit channels with the same info that needs to be changed. Sort to bring those channels together. Edit the details (see cell editing). Then unsort to return the list to the last saved order with the edits in place.

#### **Quick File Access Commands**

- Ctrl 0 (Control zero) Open existing file for same radio. Calls the Open dialog for the programmer being used allowing you to select a file to be opened without having to select the file type first. This is especially helpful when several programmers are loaded on one system. (i.e., Lets you select another FT-7800 file without having to select that file type first from the open box.)
- **Ctrl O (Control letter "O")** File | Open. Presents the box from which the file type is selected just as File | Open. Select the type of file to be opened. The programmer will look in the location of that last file for that particular file type. (i.e., you can open an FT-60 file while working with the FT-7800 programmer as long as you have the RT Systems program for both of these radios. With both open, you can copy and paste between the files or send each to the proper radio without having to close and reopen the programmers separately.)
- **Ctrl M** Automatically create a new file for the programmer being used. Eliminates having to select the file type first.
- Ctrl N File | New. Presents the box from which the file type is selected just as in File | New in the menu. Select the file type for the programmer to create a new file for that radio (the same as the one you're working with now or for a different radio for which you have the programmer.)



## 2 Screen Appearance and Default Options

This option is currently only in the Windows version of the programmer.

The screens of the programmer can be customized to make data entry that much easier. Many other controls for the program are found in the Preference section. The changes made here affect all the RT Systems programmers installed on this machine.

Options for screen appearance are accessed under Settings | Preferences from the menu on the main screen of the programmer. This screen appears when that option is selected:

## **Grid Display**

Mark the columns to hi Column Transmit Frequency Offset Frequency Offset Direction Operating Mode Name Tone Mode	Hide
Column Transmit Frequency Offset Frequency Offset Direction Operating Mode Name Tone Mode	
Transmit Frequency Offset Frequency Offset Direction Operating Mode Name Tone Mode	
Offset Frequency Offset Direction Operating Mode Name Tone Mode	
Offset Direction Operating Mode Name Tone Mode	
Operating Mode Name Tone Mode	
Name Tone Mode	
Tone Mode	
07000	
CIUSS	
Rx CTCSS	
DCS	
DCS Polarity	
Skip	
Step	
Digital Squelch	
Digital Code	
Your Callsign	
Bnt-1 CallSign	
	Rx CTCSS DCS DCS Polarity Skip Step Digital Squelch Digital Code Your Callsign Bnt-1 CallSign

#### Freeze Columns

The option to "freeze" can be applied to any or all columns. Select the number of columns to remain on the screen at all times as you scroll to the right of the spreadsheet.

Having these columns always available for reference can be a great help for identifying the memory channel being edited.

#### Hidden Columns (Mark the columns to hide)

Selected columns can be marked as hidden which removes them from the screen display. During editing, these fields are completed with default information for the radio. This option is a global setting and will affect every file, new or existing.

In an existing file the data in these columns is not lost: it is simply not displayed.

In a new file, a hidden column is filled with a default value.

Hidden column data is not printed. Columns can be marked as hidden to customize printed output and then restored for additional data management.

Note: Several columns are hidden and unhidden with the Simple Mode option found under Edit from the menu of the main screen. Simple mode hides all but the columns required for memory channel operations. When you leave Simple Mode, all columns will again be visible.

#### Alternate row colors

Select a color for the text (Fore) and/or background (Back) for rows 2, 4, 6, etc. This can help the readability of the spreadsheet.

#### Use Combo for Check box

On some systems the checkbox option does not work and you are not able to make selections for banks, show name or other options with check boxes. The check boxes will be missing from the cell.

Select this option to change the cell to a Yes/No combo box rather than a check box. Make your selections by setting the option to Yes where desired. Just are with the checkbox option, the combo box selection can be copied and pasted to other cells in the column.

#### Language

Select from several languages for column headers, message boxes and other text in the programmer.

## **Memory Defaults**

Grid Display Memory Defaults Font Other			
	Offset Freque	ency Defaults	
Open last file when starting programmer.	HF	100 kHz	•
Check ShowName Automatically Convert Split offsets to standand Plus or	6m	3.00 MHz	•
Minus when avaliable.	2m	600 kHz	•
Disable CTCSS, DCS and other Tone columns according to the Tone Mode	1.25m	7.60 MHz	<b>_</b>
selection.	70cm		•
Add and Remove Offsets       Offset     Pick an offset frequency       1     100 kHz       2     500 kHz       3     600 kHz       4     1.00 MHz   To add an offset double click "END OF	cy then click n the list. LIST."		
	ОК	Cancel	Apply

Memory Defaults let you set options that control the defaults of the memory channels. If you are having to change a certain cell repeatedly for the data you enter, you might want to make that change permanent here.

#### Open last file when starting programmer

By default, the programmer opens the last file saved. By choice, you can open to a default file for the radio by unchecking this box.

#### **Check ShowName Automatically**

By default, the programmer checks the ShowName column as soon as you enter the first letter of an alpha/numeric tag for the channel. By choice, you can have the programmer not check this box automatically. When unchecked, the name will not be displayed on the radio. This options affects programmers that use a ShowName column. Not all do since many handle show name as a global setting rather than in each memory channel.

#### Convert Split offsets to standard Plus or Minus when available

By default, the programmer leaves a split pair as a "split" in a radio that can handle a "split" for Offset Direction (i.e., Yaesu radios, for one, handle odd splits this way). With this option engaged (checked), the programmer will always calculate the Offset Frequency and set the Offset Direction to Plus or Minus when possible (if the math comes out correctly for the design of the radio). The functionality of the radio is the same with either configuration for the frequency pair.

# Disable CTCSS, DCS and other Tone columns according to the Tone Mode Selection

By default, the programmer turns the CTCSS, RX CTCSS, DCS and RX DCS columns on or off as needed for the selected Tone Mode (i.e., if you don't need to set a DCS code for Tone - encode - that column will be disabled and the value displayed in it ignored by the radio). With this option engaged, all the tone selection columns are active regardless of the Tone Mode selected. You will be able to change CTCSS frequencies and DCS codes although the radio may not use your selection for the Tone Mode engaged.

#### Add and Remove Offsets

A change to this section affects what you see in the Offset Frequency column when entering memory channels on the screens of the programmer. It also affects Offset Frequency Defaults found on this page.

#### **Offset Frequency Defaults**

Select a value in each field for the programmer to use when you enter channel information. This value is used for channel information entered into any of the memory channel types (Memory, Limit memories, VFO, Home, etc).

### Fonts

Grid Display	Memory Defaults Font Other			
Eont MS Sai MS MS Ø MS	ns Serif <mark>Sans Serif</mark> Serif UI Gothic 그국 2011년	*	Size: 10 8 10 12 14	
0 MS 0 MV 0 Nar 0 Nia 0 Nia	) <b>リック</b> 宗 <b>明朝</b> Boli kisim gara Engraved gara Solid	•	18 24	
Samp	le AaBbYyZz 0123456789			
	ſ	ОК	Cancel	v

The RT Systems programmers include selection of font and size to control display of headers, messages and item identifiers in the programmer. Select any font and size available on your system to make the programmer easier to use.

## Other

eferences
Grid Display Memory Defaults Font Other
<ul> <li>Radio Menu Settings</li> <li>Use Separate file for menu settings.</li> <li>Keep menu settings and frequencies in a single file.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Open new file when needed for "Get Data From Radio".</li> <li>Use different windows for each radio programmer.</li> </ul>
OK Cancel Apply

#### Radio Menu settings

By default (Use Separate file for menu settings), the programmer saves your global settings (Settings | Radio Menu Settings) to a separate file. In this arrangement, you must only set these options once. When the file is saved, it is used by the program even if you create a new file with memory channels. No need to touch up these setting just because you created a new list of memories.

The options, Keep menu settings and frequencies in a single file, eliminates this second file. You might want to exercise this option is you are creating files for completely different uses (Ham radio, fire department, etc), where you need the global settings to be different for the file. By engaging this option

#### Open new file when needed for "Get Data From Radio"

By default the programmer warns you when you select Communications | Get Data from Radio and the current file (the one you see on the screen right now)

is not a blank, default file. The programmer is warning you that if you continue you will lose all the work you have done by replacing the information on the screen with that currently in the radio.

By selecting this option (checking the box), the programmer will automatically open a blank, default file for you when Communications | Get data from Radio is selected. By completing the Get Data from Radio process into this default file, you will not lose the work you have been doing in the current file.

#### Use different windows for each radio programmer

By default the programmer opens each of the programmers installed on this machine (Version 4 or 4.5) in the same master window. Each file occupies a separate tab. The titlebar of the main window identifies the programmer associated with the file in a particular tab. If you name your files as "the radio name" and then "any other identifying information... remember you have 256 characters... don't be cryptic" you can easily tell by the information on the tab which one is for which radio.

When this option is engaged (checking the box), each programmer will open in a separate "main window". Each tab that opens will be for that particular programmer. It will be as if the others don't exist unless you start them from the icon. Working between the files with copy and paste will still work even if the files are displayed in two separate windows. There is no loss of functionality. Only a change in how the files are displayed.


# **3** Split Screen for Multiple Files

38

The screen can be split in either the Windows or Mac version of the programmer. Shown here are details for the Windows version.

On the Mac, the same things can be done by right clicking on the tab with the file name at the top of the screen. The menu that opens will offer you options.

The RT Systems programmer can display more than one file simultaneously in the programmer's main window. Opening several files at once makes it even easier to copy and paste between them (even files for different radios from different manufacturers) or just to compare the frequency lists.

Rece Freque 145.0 139.0 144.0	ve Tran ncy Frequ	060				1200	test x						-	1	IC-91 Unti	tiedl ×						
145.0 139.0 144.0	Contraction of the local division of the	ency Frequen	cy Director	Operating	Name		Receive	Transmit Frequency	Offset	Offset Direction	Operating	Name	-		Receive	Transmit Frequency	Offset Frequency	Offset	Operating Mode	Name	Tone Mode	e
139.0 144.0	0000 145.	00000 600 kHz	ARS	FIEM D	ITEST	1	145.00000	145,60000	600 kHz	Phe In	IFM I	TEST		0	146.01000	146.01000		Simplex Lie	EM W		None la	5
144.0	0000 139.	00000	Singlex	FM	TORI	2	450.00000	447,00000	3.00 MHz	Minus	FM	TEST2		1	440.00000	440.00000		Simplex	EM		None	1
	0000 144	00000	Smalex	PM	OTHER	3	450,00500	450,00500		Simplex	PM	TEST3		2				122				
165.0	0000 165.	00000	Sinclex	FM	TEST	4	450.01000	449.51000	500 kHz	Minus	FM			3								
170.0	0000 170.	00000	Simplex	FM	OTHER	5	450.01500	450.01900		Simplex	EM			4								
174.0	0000 174	00000	Simplex	FM	TORI	6	450.02000	450.02000		Simplex	FM			5								
134.0	0000 134	00000	Simplex	FM	OTHER	7	450.02500	450.02500		Simplex	FM			6								
						8	450.03000	450.03000		Simplex	PM			7								
						9	450.03500	450.03500		Simplex	RM.			8								
						10	450.04000	450.04000		Simplex	FM			9								
						11	450.04500	450.04500		Simplex	FM			10								
						12								11								
						13	142.00000	142.00000		Simplex	Auto			12								
						14	142.00500	142.00500		Simplex	Auto			13								
						15	142.01000	142.01000		Simplex	Auto			14								
						16	142.01500	142.01500		Simplex	Auto			15								
						17	142.02000	142.02000		Simplex	Auto			16								
						18	142.02500	142.02500		Simplex	Auto			17								
						19	142.03000	142.03000		Simplex	Auto			18								
						20	142.03900	142.03500		Simplex	Auto			19								
						21	142,04000	142.04000		Simplex	Auto			20								
						22	142.04500	142.04500		Simplex	Auto			21								
						23	142.05000	142.05000		Simplex	Auto	_		22								
						24	142.05500	142.05500		Simplex	Auto			23								
						25	142.06000	142.06000		Simplex	Auto			24								
	_		_			26	142.06500	142.06500		Simplex	Auto			25								
	_					27	142.07000	142.07000		Simplex	Auto	_		26								
	_					28				2441.67		-		27							-	
	_		_	_		29								28								
						30						-		29								
	_		_			31								30								
	_		-			32								31								

Open the files

From the menu at the top of the main screen, select Window | New Vertical tab group

The screen will separate into two parts taking the selected file to the new group.

To work with three as shown above, simple select another file and repeat the process.

A horizontal split is also possible.

Freque		rnit l	Officet	Offset	Operation		Show	CONCIDENTS!	Constanting of	2020	Tx	1000000		ARTS	Packet	
	incy Freque	ncy I	Frequency	Direction	Mode	Name	Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Power	Skip	Step	Mode	Speed	Comment
145.0	0000 145.0	0000		Simplex .	Auto 💌		- E	None 😿	100.0 Hz 💌	023	High	• Off	▼ 5 kHz	• Off	■ 1200 bps ■	
							10									
							E									
							E				-	-				
b. K	Memories	Lind M	emoties	VFB / Home	e								4			
FT-9	0 Untitled2	×	_													
Rece	he Trans	mt	Offset	Offset	Operating	Name	Show	Tone Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Tx	Skip	Step	ARTS	Packet	Comment
145.0	0000 145.0	0000	Tequeity	Simplex	Auto		THOME .	None 🖌	100.0 Hz	023	High	Joff [	- SkHz	Joff D	• 1200 bos •	
				100	0.04		10	- 63	1 200	1	(0.2 m)	18		29 (A		
		_					10									
	_	-					- 8-				-					
	_	-					1				-	-				
		and a					12									
* *	Memories	Linit M	emories	VFO Home									4			
10-9	Untitled1	×														
Rece	ive Trans	mt	Offset	Offset	Operating	Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	Rx	DCS	DCS	Skip	Step	Bank	Bank	Comment
146.0	1000 146.0	1000	requency	Simplex -	FM w		None	188 SH2	IRA SH2	1023	Both N 1	-10#	-15149	-	unannei	
440.0	0000 440.0	0000		Simplex	FM		None	38,5Hz	88.5 Hz	023	Both N	off	25 kHz			
	-	-			-		-				-	-		-		
					-		-				-	-				
		-														
		-														

Open the files

From the menu at the top of the main screen, select Window | New Horizontal tab group

The screen will separate into two parts taking the selected file to the new group.

To work with three as shown above, simple select another file and repeat the process.

Note: Once you divide the screen horizontally or vertically, the other separation is not available. Selections for vertical and horizontal groups will be enabled and disabled in the menu as necessary.



# 4 D-Star Settings

D-Star technology is the next step for advanced use of amateur radio. Using a system of repeaters and the Internet, this system enables long distance communication as easily as communicating with a local repeater.

Using the D-Star system involves detailed setup of identifying information. Fields are provided in the Programmer to address these details.

Options for D-Star are set in three different places in the programmer. The placement of these options has to do with how the radio uses the option.

**Memory Specific Settings** are set in each memory channel. These can be copied and pasted between files: even files for different D-Star radios.

Note: Icom has gone through several iterations while developing the format for many of the D-Star options in the radios.

One that changed quite a lot since it was first introduced are the RPT1, RPT2 and Your callsign. In earlier radios, this information was limited. Because of this limitation, the programmer cannot copy from a file that has an unlimited number of RPT1, RPT2 and Your callsigns into a file for another that can handle only a limited number of callsigns. You will have to handle this information manually after copying the other details for the channels to be sure that you work within the limitation of the earlier radio. The IC-2200 and the ID-800 are two that have this limitation.

**Global D-Star Settings** are set once for use whenever you are using the D-Star functionality of the radio. These options are completed in the fields found under D-Star | Digital (D-Star) Settings menu item at the top of the screen.

**General Digital Settings** are again set once for use whenever you are using the D-Star functionality of the radio. These settings are more universal to the radio. They are set in the programmer on the Settings screen which is found under Settings | Radio Menu Item Settings menu item at the top of the screen. These options are set once in the Settings file of the programmer and remain set even if you begin a new file.

# **Memory Specific Settings**

### Any memory channel of the radio including Limit Memories, Regular Memories, Call channels and VFOs can be programmed with D-Star settings.

In a specific memory channel, the D-Star fields become active once a **receive frequency is entered** and the **Operating Mode is set to DV** (digital voice) or DD (digital data)

With a digital mode selected as the operating mode, the columns for Tone are disabled since these functions are not used while in digital mode. Any value that appears in a disabled column is not used by the radio.

The fields specific for D-Star operations are filled automatically when you use the D-Star Calc(ulator) included with the programmer. See details of that feature in the D-Star Calculator section of this help.

# *Note:* Use D-Star | Show D-Star Columns to hide columns not associated with the D-Star options. This makes it easier to edit the D-Star channel details.

The columns specific to D-Star operation setup include:

**Digital Squelch** - Set to DSQL for digital call sign squelch or CSQL for Digital code squelch. DSQL uses My Callsign and CSQL uses the Digital Code set for this memory channel.

Digital Code - Select a digital code to be used with CSQL.

Your Callsign - Enter the call sign to be used for the Your Call Sign function.

**Rpt-1 / Rpt-2 Callsign** - Enter the call sign to be used for Repeater 1 and Repeater 2. Call signs entered here are saved to the Rpt 1 Callsign and Rpt 2 Callsign lists, respectively, as seen on the D-Star Settings screen. An option there allows you to stop these entries from being saved.

Once a callsign is saved to the repeater callsign list. This list is a part of the radio's memory structure. It is used if you are setting up D-Star functionality in the field. As for use of this list with the programmer, you can select a callsign from the list by double clicking in the Rpt-1 or Rpt-2 Callsign box on the main screen. The list will be presented from which a selection can be made.

Note: A Callsign does not have to be in the repeater list to be used in a memory channel. The radio uses the repeater list for "on-the-fly" operations engaged while in the field. Changes can be made to this *list by selecting D-Star | Digital (D-Star) settings from the menu at the top of the screen.* 

# **Global D-Star Settings**

These options are found on the screen that opens when D-Star | Digital (D-Star) Settings is selected from the menu at the top of the Programmer. This information is available for use by every D-Star channel in the current file.

The information entered on this settings screen is *File Specific*. It will not be available in another file for the radio. If you need to use this information in another file, start that file with a Save As in this file.

The Global D-Star settings include:

**My Callsigns** - Enter your callsign. Callsigns can be entered for others operating on D-Star on your radio. Be sure you know how to change the My Callsign designation from the face of the radio to allow someone else to use your radio without having to reprogram it. Set Selected My Callsign to let the radio know which one of the Callsigns to use.

**Note** - An additional four character piece of information that is sent with the My Callsign. When entered, My callsign is followed by a "/" and the four characters. Some use it to identify their radio, IC91, 2820, etc. Others might use their name, Bob, Paul, Pete, etc. You could use it to identify where your location, car, boat, camp, Sta1, etc.

Note: Given the radio has slots for six My Callsign/Note combinations, there is no reason the My Callsign could not be the same with different notes (i.e., KD4DXX/home : KD4DXX/car: KD4DXX/park: KD4DXX/camp). Then with minimal effort, the user can send the changed data by simply changing the My Callsign selection from the face of the radio.

**Your Callsigns** - The callsign of the party you are calling. Leave set to CQCQCQ for non-specific communications.

**Rpt Callsigns** - The callsign of the repeater with its extension. There is no need to worry about where to find these details for any repeater. The D-Star calculator feature of the programmer has that information built right in. See the *D-Star Calculator* section of this help for more details.

**D-PRS** - Digital Position Reporting System. Uses the selected My Callsign as Text message 1 to transmit positioning information. This Calc will incorporate this information into the message in Text Message 1. Be sure

that field is blank before clicking Calc for the D-PRS to get accurate positioning information.

**Tx Messages** - Five messages of up to 20 characters each. The first is used for D-PRS if that option is engaged. Check one to be transmitted when the radio is programmed with this file. The others are there to be easily accessed from the face of the radio.

## 4.1 D-Star Calculator

The RT Systems programmer provides an easy way to find the details for the D-Star repeaters you want to use. The D-Star Calculator (accessed in the menu from DStar | DStar Calc) has information on repeaters from all over the world.

RT Systems maintains the information in the DStar Calc published in the programmers. Updates to this information are supplied through updates to the programmer. If you know of a correction or of a new repeater, please e-mail details to <u>techsupport@rtsystemsinc.com</u>. We will be happy process your information for the next update.

The D-Star Calc in the programmer helps you by entering the details for a repeater in the correct format for D-Star operations.

dvanced DSTAR Calculator	
Source County United States State Texas City Fort Worth Callsign W5SH State 145.65000 0000 State Frequency 146.55000	Destination 4       Link to Repeaters       7         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Link to Repeaters       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6         Image: Callsign Routing 6       Image: Callsign Routing 6       <
Frequency <b>3</b> 145.6300 0.0000	Reset
RPT1 (Source) RPT2 (Destination) W5SH C W5SH G	9 Starting Channel Number 1 V AutoIncrement Apply Close

Shown here is the main page of the calculator.

Note: The numbers in red in the figure are for identification only. These help you find the specific field for the explanation that follows. You will not see these numbers when you use the DStar Calc in the programmers. **1: Source -** Begin here. This is the repeater you will "hit". Just as in analog communications, you must "hit the repeater" to be able to communicate with the system. The repeater does the magic.

Country - Select the country in which you are located.

**State** - Where applicable. In some countries this option is blank

**City** - Select a city near you or near where you will be if you are traveling. Remember, you must be able to "hit this repeater".

**Callsign** - The callsigns are those of the repeaters located in that city. You may have been told to use one in particular. If you don't see it in the list, try a different city. If it does not matter, select the first callsign and evaluate the available frequencies associated with it. The frequencies appear in the next box. You may need to select a different callsign if you need 440MHz or 2M frequencies only for your particular radio.

2: DVAP Hotspot - A device used if you do not have a DStar repeater in range. This device attaches to your computer with an Internet connection. The device converts your signal for use over the Internet. Everything you can do through a local repeater (link to reflector, link to repeater, callsign or repeater routing, talking, unlinking, echo test, etc.) you can do through a DVAP.

**Frequency** - Enter the frequency for your DVAP. The most common is 146.5500

**Name** - Enter a name to display on the screen of your radio when this channel is in use.

**3:** Displays information for the Source setup you are using. This information will be a part of the resulting channel programming.

**4: Destination** - The fields in this group refer to the output signal: where the signal is to be heard. This is the beauty of D-Star. You can talk to the local repeater and be heard anywhere around the world.

The programmer will create four channels for you automatically: Talk, Echo, Status and Unlink. You can stop the automatic creation by unchecking the appropriate box.

Described here are what these channels do and why you might need them (especially at first).

**Talk** - This is your CQCQCQ channel. This is the one on which you talk to the world. This is the most important of the four and often the only one needed depending on what other commands you use on the repeater or through the DVAP.

**Echo** - This is the most important function if you are new to DStar or new to an area. When you use the Echo channel stating your callsign and the message of "Testing", if you hit the repeater, your transmission in your voice will be repeated to you. Depending on the clarity and strength of the returned message, you will know if that repeater is good for you to use. Once you identify the repeater you plan to use, especially if you stay in one place and will be using this repeater exclusively, you may want to eliminate this channel to make room for others.

**Status** - This function commands the repeater to tell you its "linked" status. Some repeaters report this information verbally while others scroll the status in the message text of your radio. That information will include and indication of the reflector or repeater to which it is linked. If the repeater is not linked

Unlink - This function unlinks the local repeater from the remote one.

**11:** Information for the channel appears at the bottom of the D-Star Calc screen as you make your selections. Frequency, RPS1(Source), RPT2(Destination), and Your Call are displayed just as they will be programmed into the memory channel. Review this information and make changes to the fields on the screen if needed.

**12:** Channel Name - Enter an name for the channel. This information is for display on the radio only. It does not affect how the radio handles the other settings.

**13:** Channel Number - Select the Channel number this information will be assigned to. The D-Star Calc will overwrite a channel that is already programmed.

**14: AutoIncrement** - Check this box to advance the channel number automatically. This is handy if you are programming several channels.

**15:** Screen Options

**Apply** - Assigns the information the the selected channel and leaves the D-Star Calc open.

**OK** - Closes the D-Star Calc.

**Cancel** - Closes the D-Star Calc without applying changes to the radio file.

### 4.2 DStar Settings

Using the DStar Calculator in the program is a great way to easily set up details for the memory channels. There are other options that the radio needs set so it's ready to operate on DStar.

Access the DStar Settings through Dstar | Dstar Settings at the top of the main screen.

L L	Automaticali	y insert ca	allsigns entered in memory channi	ils 🛛		Your Callsign	Name	-
					U01	CQCQCQ	Use Repeater	
4	My Callsigns	Note	Selected My Callsign		U02	U	Unlink Repeater	
M01			MO1 KORTX ~		U03	I	Repeater Status	
v102					U04	E	Echo Test	
V103					U05	REF001AL	link to REF001A	
v104			Selected Tv Message		U06	REF001BL	link to REF001B	
405					U07	REF001CL	link to REF001C	
406			011 ~		U08	REF002AL	link to REF002A	
					U09	REF002BL	link to REF002B	
4		Т	x Messages		U10	REF002CL	link to REF002C	
1				_	U11	REF003AL	link to REF003A	
2				2	U12	REF003BL	link to REF003B	
3					U13	REF003CL	link to REF003C	
4					U14	REF004AL	link to REF004A	
5					U15	REF004BL	link to REF004B	
GPS					U16	REF004CL	link to REF004C	
					U17	REF005AL	link to REF005A	
	D-PRS				U18	REF005BL	link to REF005B	
		Cala			U19	REF005CL	link to REF005C	
	0.026	Laic			1120	REF006AL	link to REF006A	

Note: This screen is a sample of those found in the programmers for the DStar radios. Options in each radio will vary depending on the design of that radio.

1. The **My Callsigns** option must be set for the radio to access a DStar repeater. Enter your callsign here. Remember: your callsign must be registered with the Trust server to make calls with DStar. You can complete that registration at <u>www.kd0lux.org</u>. Regestration is a two step process. If you don't get the e-mail with details of the second step within two business days, contact RT Systems. **Note:** The note is four characters that will transmit with your callsign and Tx Message. This is a good place for your name, radio model, location, or any other information you want to broadcast that does not exceed 4 characters.

**Select My Callsign:** You can see by the list that the radio will store six callsigns. This would be good if you share your radio with a group. Select which of the callsigns will be used when the radio is first programmed with this file. This option can be changed from the menu of the radio to make the radio usable by someone else in the group whose callsign is in the list.

**2. Tx Messages** is an optional field. This is a fixed length field for more information that is transmitted with your callsign. This could include your name, radio type, or location. This information is used by the receiving station to identify you and call you back personally.

**Selected Tx Message**: You can see by the list that the radio will store several text messages. This would be good for different information to be transmitted for special events. Select which of the messages will be used when the radio is first programmed with this file. This option can be changed from the menu of the radio.

**D-PRS** - This conversion routine changes the information entered in the GPS string to TBC2 formatted APRS string . D-PRS is not a protocol but a conversion specification. Use this tool to make the GPS data presentable to APRS.

**3.** Your Callsign is also an optional field. This is a list of Your Callsigns for the radio. You will become familiar with this list if you use DR Memories for DStar transmissions. This list is often lost when the radio is reset and must be set up again by sending a file to the radio. Note: There are now more reflectors than there are memory locations in the Your Callsign list of the radio. You can do lots of editing here to be sure your favorites are available in the radio and those you don't use are removed.



52

# 5 Programming Memory Channels

The radio has lots of different types of memory channels. In the Programmer, these all program in a spreadsheet dedicated to that "type" of memory.

Use the links to access details for any one of these.

- <u>Regular Memory Channels</u> -The several hundred all radios have these days. The ones you will use most often. In the IC-9700 these are separated into VHF, UHF and 1.2G sections just as they are separated in the radio.
- Scan Limits Upper and lower limits for use in scanning.
- MemoPad Memories The contents of the quick save memories you assigned from the face of the radio.
- DR Memroies Special memories for D-Star activities. Details can be found in the <u>D-Star Settings</u> section of this Help.
- <u>Call Channels</u> Two memory channels with one touch access. One for each the 2M and 440 MHz bands.
- <u>Satellite Memories</u> Memory "pairs" that work together for satellite uplinks (U) and downlinks (D).
- <u>GPS Memories</u> Special GPS Memory information. These contain GPS details rather than frequency details.

Details on the special editing abilities of the Programmer are included in the *Easy Editing in the Grid* section of this Help. Review these details to make data entry even easier.

### 5.1 Regular Memory Channels

The Main window of the Programmer is for entering details for the "regular" memory channels. These are the memory channels for 2M, 440MHz and 1.2 GHz frequencies that you'll use most often. You will enter repeater details, details for weekly nets, and simplex frequencies where you meet your friends regularly on sideband. Your DStar memory channels will be set up here with all the details to make those worldwide contacts.

Columns continue off the right side of the screen. Use the bar at the bottom of the screen to move to these columns or press ENTER to step through each column. For easier editing, columns can be hidden and rows can be made alternate colors using the selections of the Preferences screen. Select Settings | Preferences in the menu to access these screen options.

*Make programming extra easy. Try Simple Mode in the software for even less to enter.* In Simple Mode only the columns needed for the minimum information to set up the channel are shown on the screen. Extra columns are hidden and filled with default information. To put the screen into Simple Mode, select Edit | Simple Mode from the menu. While in Simple Mode, you cannot access the Preferences screen. The Programmer controls what columns are hidden while in this mode.

There are lots of features in the Programmer that make data editing easier. These include, copy and paste, column editing, sort, and unsort. See the *Quick Editing Commands* in this Help for details.

Details to be entered for each memory channel include:

**Receive Frequency**: Enter a receive frequency for the memory channel. Acceptable frequencies are detailed in the operating manual for the radio. The software will accept any frequency within the range of the radio. Unacceptable frequencies cannot be entered into the Programmer.

Note: VHF, UHF and 1.2G frequencies are entered onto separate pages of the program (just as they are handled separately by the radio). Access the correct tab at the bottom of the screen for your frequency.

When using the D-Star calculator in the program, you will be offered only the frequencies that can be used on the selected sheet. If you are on the VHF sheet and are looking for a 440MHz repeater in the

# calculator, it will not be found. Move to the UHF sheet to access the UHF frequencies in the calculator.

**Transmit Frequency**: Enter a specific transmit frequency or let the Programmer calculate this frequency based on the offset. Acceptable transmit frequencies are detailed in the operating manual for the radio. The software will accept any frequency within the range of the radio.

Note: Although in the Programmer you can set offset and other transmit related data for frequencies outside the transmission abilities of the radio, the software will not enable transmission on these frequencies. Transmission will be possible only if the radio is properly modified.

For some D-Star activities, you need an Offset Direction of +Dup or -Dup with an Offset Frequency of 0.00Khz. You have complete control of these fields for the channel. Simply make changes as needed to set up for the device you're using. Since with D-Star you often set up multiple channels, you can make this change later for all the channels with column copy and paste rather than having to change each channel individually.

**Offset Frequency**: The mathematical difference between the transmit and receive frequencies of a repeater. Icom radios handle all repeater frequencies with an Offset Frequency (the difference between the transmit and receive frequency) and an Offset Direction (+ or -).

Icom radios use an Offset Frequency of 0 to 9.99900 MHz with a Plus or Minus Offset Direction for the 144/430 Bands and 0 to 99.999900 MHz for the 1.2 Ghz band.

**Offset Direction**: If necessary, manually set the Offset Direction to one of the there options available. The Programmer will make a selection automatically based on the receive frequency; however, the details for a particular repeater may differ from the standard band plan making it necessary for you to make a selection other than the default. Select from

Simplex - transmit and receive frequencies are the same;

<u>-DUP</u> - the offset frequency is subtracted from the receive frequency (i.e., the transmit frequency is less than the receive frequency as in RX 145.520 TX 143.425) The transmit frequency shifts down from the receive frequency.

<u>+DUP</u> - the offset frequency is added to the receive frequency (i.e., the transmit frequency is greater than the receive frequency as in RX 144.250 TX 147.335) The transmit frequency shifts up from the receive frequency.

**Operating Mode**: Select the appropriate operating mode for the channel. The selections listed here are not included in all lcom radios. Chose from those available for your model:

LSB or USB - Lower or upper sideband.

CW or CW-R - CW mode for Morse Code

RTTY or RTTY-R - RTTY digital mode

FM - Amateur band repeater operations

<u>AM</u> - For listening on aviation frequencies. Transmission is not available.

<u>DV</u> - Digital mode. This mode must be selected for the memory channel before the D-Star columns become available.

DD - For digital operations in 1.2Ghz band.

Data: Available only for LSB, USB, AM or FM operating modes.

Operating data mode allows you to operate SSTV, RTTY (AFSK), PSK31, JT65B and FT8 with optional equipment and software for the activity.

**Name**: Enter an Alpha/Numeric tag (up to 16 characters) to easily identify that memory channel. The Programmer allows entry of characters that are allowable in the radio.

**Tone Mode**: The "tone" system has two purposes. First, it allows you to access repeaters that have a tone assigned. Second, it allows for silent monitoring until a call directed to you is received. The radio offers CTCSS (Continuous Tone Coded Squelch) and DTCS (Digital Tone Coded Squelch) systems to be tailored to your particular needs.

Using tones requires two steps:

1) Selecting the Tone Mode and

2) Making a selection for the CTCSS frequency or DTCS tone.

Note: Values that appear in the CTCSS, Rx CTCSS or DCS column that are not associated with the selected Tone Mode are not used by

#### *the radio other than to fill the space in the its memory structure. These values will NOT interfere with Tone operation of the channel.*

Use of the "Tone System" is limited to the FM operating mode.

Use of the "Tone" system can make it possible for you to use a local repeater. It can also limit your ability to hear a transmission from that repeater. The details governing use of the system depend completely on your situation. The repeater operator is in complete control.

Set up the options carefully. If you are not sure, program the same memory channel more than once with different options selected for Tone. Once you determine which one works, delete the others from the file then send that altered file to the radio to change its programming.

#### Set the Tone Mode:

**None** - No tone system activated. With this option selected, neither of the columns for selecting a CTCSS or DCS value is active.

**Tone** - CTCSS tone is activated for transmission only (this mode is used for many if not most repeater operations). This mode is often referred to as Encode. With this option selected, the CTCSS column becomes active to set the tone frequency to be used. Set the tone frequency in the CTCSS column for this channel.

**T Sql** - CTCSS tone squelch is activated for **both transmission and reception.** Only signals with the same tone will open the squelch: your radio will remain silent otherwise. This mode is often referred to as Tone Squelch. With this option selected, the RX CTCSS column becomes active to set the tone frequency to be used for **both transmission and reception**. The radio uses only one CTCSS frequency for both transmission and reception.

Note: Unless specifically noted in the information you are given about the repeater, most amateur repeaters do NOT use this mode. If you select this mode incorrectly, you will be able to access the repeater; however, you will hear nothing when the repeater transmits. You will know the repeater is transmitting because you will see an indication of a received signal on your radio; but, you will hear no sound. Reprogram the channel using Tone rather than TSql and try again.

**DTCS** - The Digital Coded Squelch system is activated for **both transmission and reception.** Only signals with the matching tone will open the squelch: your radio will remain silent otherwise. With this option selected, the DCS column becomes active to set the code to be used. The radio uses only one DCS code for both **both transmission and reception**. **D** Code - The Digital Coded Squelch system is activated for *transmission only.* With this option selected, the DCS column becomes active to set the code to be used. The radio uses only one DCS code for both *transmission only.* 

**T DCS** - The CTCSS tone system is activated for *transmission* and the Digital Coded Squelch system is activated for *reception*. Only signals with the matching tone will open the squelch: your radio will remain silent otherwise. With this option selected, the CTCSS and DCS columns become active to set the CTCSS frequency to be transmitted and the DCS code to be used for reception.

**D Tone** - The Digital Coded Squelch system is activated for *transmission* and the CTCSS tone system is activated for *reception*. Only signals with the matching tone will open the squelch: your radio will remain silent otherwise. With this option selected, the RX CTCSS and DCS columns become active to set the code to be used.

**Split Tone** - The CTCSS tone system is activated for **both transmission and reception.** Only signals with the matching tone will open the squelch: your radio will remain silent otherwise. With this option selected, both the CTCSS and RX CTCSS columns become active to set the CTCSS frequencies to be used. In this mode, the radio can use **different** CTCSS frequencies for transmission to the repeater and reception by the radio. The radio uses two separate CTCSS frequencies from **transmission and reception**.

**CTCSS**: Select one of 50 tone frequencies to be used in the Tone mode. This is the sub-audible tone that will be transmitted for access to a repeater (i.e., you will not hear it; but the repeater will). This field becomes active only when Tone is selected as the Tone Mode.

**RX CTCSS**: Select one of 50 tone frequencies to be used in the Tone Sql mode. This is the sub-audible tone that will be transmitted for access to a repeater and must be received by your radio before it will hear an incoming signal. This field becomes active only if Tone Mode is set to TSql.

Note: This is NOT the tone used for normal repeater access. Unless the repeater is specially set up for this option (fire-rescue, emergency services or commercial repeaters as examples), your radio will be able to activate the repeater; but it will hear NOTHING back. You will see an indication on your radio is receiving a signal; however, you will hear nothing.

#### In this case, change your setting to Tone with the same value set in the CTCSS column and try again.

**DCS**: Select one of 104 DTCS codes to be used in the DTCS mode. This is the code associated with a 3-tone sub-audible sequence that will be transmitted for access to a repeater and must be received by your radio before it will hear an incoming signal. This field becomes active only if Tone Mode is set to DTCS.

**DCS Polarity**: Select the polarity of the DCS tone for advanced use of this feature. Options include Both N (NN, default), TN-RR, TR-RN and Both R (RR) where T = Transmit, N = Normal, First R of pair = Receive and Second R of pair = Reversed.

# Note: both the DCS code and polarity must match for a signal to be heard when received.

**Scan select**: Assign the channel to a select group 1, 2,3, or 1,2 and 3. This organizes the channels into scan groups. When selected, only this group of channels will be included in scanning.

Leaving this option off (no selection) will include then channel when scanning outside a select group.

# These columns for the D-Star settings are disabled for a memory channel until Operating Mode is set to DV.

**Digital Squelch** - Set to DSQL for digital call sign squelch or CSQL for Digital code squelch. DSQL uses My Callsign and CSQL uses the Digital Code set for this memory channel.

**Digital Code** - Select a digital code to be used with CSQL.

**Your Callsign** - Enter the call sign to be used for the command for the repeater. Your callsign is the command for general talk (CQCQCQ), connect to xx (xxx###L) etc.

**Rpt-1 / Rpt-2 Callsign** - Enter the call sign of the repeater and the incoming and gateway commands.

Note: While all the details of a DStar channel can be entered manually, the programmer has a built in tool and database that will do all the work for you. Use the DStar Calculator (found under DStar Calc from the menu at the top of the screen) to have the programmer complete the channel as needed for proper DStar communications.

Use of the DStar Calculator is detailed at <u>www.rtsystemsinc.com</u> in the How To Videos or the <u>D-Star Settings section</u> of this Help.

**Comments**: An identifying comment up to 80 characters for the memory channel. This information is not transferred to the radio.

### 5.2 Scan Limits

60

Used as the frequency ranges for the Programmed Scan function. Three ranges are available for each band. Enter an upper and lower frequency to scan between the pair.

The tuning step for scanning is set as a global setting for each mode in each band (other than DD). This is done in the programmer under Settings | Radio Menu Settings | Common 2 tab | Tuning Step grid. Customize these as needed for optimum frequency coverage during scanning.

Details to be entered are the same as those for <u>Regular Memory Channels</u> other than Scan Select as these channels cannot be included in that function.

# 5.3 DR Memories

DR Memories are used with D-Star activities both as repeaters to be accessed directly if you are near that repeater or as outgoing repeater to be linked to.

The IC-9700 contains an impressive list of Dstar repeaters from around the world. Having so much to chose from may be both overwhelming and difficult. The list can be customized for your use with the DStar Calc found on this page.

The process would go something like this...

Sr IC	9700 Untitled1 ×														
	Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency	Offset Frequency	Offset Direction	Repeater Use	Operating Mode	Name	Sub Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	IP Address	Rpt-1 CallSign	Rpt-2 CallSign	LatLng	Latitu
1	439.50000	431.90000	7.60 MHz 🗸	-DUP		DV	Farm Ozondjisse	Namibia	None	88.5 Hz 👻		V53DV B	V53DV G	Approximate	21°12'36"
2	145.60000	145.00000	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Farm Ozondjisse	Namibia	None	88.5 Hz		V53DV C	V53DV G	Approximate	21°12'36'
3	145.70000	145.10000	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Windhoek	Namibia	None	88.5 Hz		V53W C	V53W G	Approximate	22°38'60
4	438.26250	430.66250	7.60 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pretoria	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS0JPL B	ZS0JPL G	Approximate	25°43'48
5	438.27500	430.67500	7.60 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pretoria	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS6MRK B	ZS6MRK G	Approximate	25°40'48
6	438.25000	430.65000	7.60 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pretoria	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS6VTS B	ZS6VTS G	Approximate	25°45'00
7	145.82500	145.22500	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Sandton	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS6STN C	ZS6STN G	Approximate	26°06'00
8	439.70000	434.70000	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Shenyang	China	None	88.5 Hz		BR2SY B	BR2SY G	Approximate	41°52'12
9	439.72500	434.72500	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Shenyang- Liaoni	China	None	88.5 Hz		BR2RSA B	BR2RSA G	Approximate	41°47'24
0	145.63750	145.03750	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Troodos Mt.	Cyprus	None	88.5 Hz		5B4CY C	5B4CY G	Approximate	34°56'24
1	439.50000	434.50000	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Ulsan	Korea- R	None	88.5 Hz		6MOUM B	6MOUM G	Approximate	35°39'36
2	433.33750	439.33750	6.00 MHz	+DUP		DV	Taoyuan	Taiwan	None	88.5 Hz		ВХЗАН В	BX3AH G	Approximate	24°59'24
3	144.33750	146.33750	2.00 MHz	+DUP		DV	Taoyuan	Taiwan	None	88.5 Hz		BX3AH C	BX3AH G	Approximate	24°59'24
4	144.33750	146.33750	2.00 MHz	+DUP		DV	Taoyuan	Taiwan	None	88.5 Hz		BX4ACB C	BX4ACB G	Approximate	24°59'24
5	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Bangkok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DA B	E24DA G	Approximate	13°47'24
6	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Bangkok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DA C	E24DA G	Approximate	13°47'24
7	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Chiang Mai	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DG B	E24DG G	Approximate	18°49'48
8	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Chiang Mai	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DG C	E24DG G	Approximate	18°49'48
9	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Chonburi	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DC B	E24DC G	Approximate	13°11'60
0	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Chonburi	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DC C	E24DC G	Approximate	13°11'60
1	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Maha Sarakham	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DE B	E24DE G	Approximate	16°10'13
2	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Maha Sarakham	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DE C	E24DE G	Approximate	16°10'12
3	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pathum Thani	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DB B	E24DB G	Approximate	14°02'24
4	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Pathum Thani	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DB C	E24DB G	Approximate	14°02'24
5	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Phitsanulok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DF B	E24DF G	Approximate	16°53'24
6	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Phitsanulok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DF C	E24DF G	Approximate	16°53'24
7	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Phuket	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DJ B	E24DJ G	Approximate	07°52'48
8	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Phuket	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DJ C	E24DJ G	Approximate	07°52'4
9	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Ranong	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DH B	E24DH G	Approximate	10°02'24
0	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Ranong	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DH C	E24DH G	Approximate	10°02'2
1	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Songkhla	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DI B	E24DI G	Approximate	07°00'3
2	145,61250	145.01250	600 KH2				Sonakhla	Thailand	Napo	ROF HT		E24DL C	E24DL G	Approvimato	07:00'3

Now, let's clear some channels to work with. Click on the "1" in the blue box at the left. Then hold the mouse and drag down across the channel numbers of those channels you want to clear (We'll do a screen full for this example... you do as many as you want up to the entire list).

Once highlighted, click Edit at the top of the screen. Then Clear Channel (deletes these and leaves all others in place).

dit	Cut	s <u>S</u> ettings <u>D</u> Ctrl+X	star <u>W</u> indow <u>F</u>	ielp											
	<u>C</u> opy <u>P</u> aste	Ctrl+C Ctrl+V	04.1	00.1			1		-						-
	Simple Mode		Frequency	Direction	Use	Mode	Name	Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	IP Address	CallSign	CallSign	LatLng	La
à .	Eind	Ctrl+F	7.60 MHz 😽	-DUP		DV V	Farm Ozondjisse	Namibia	None -	88.5 Hz 🗸		V53DV B	V53DV G	Approximate	21°12
	Find Next	F3	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Farm Ozondjisse	Namibia	None	88.5 Hz		V53DV C	V53DV G	Approximate	21°12
	<u>G</u> oto Channel	Ctrl+G	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Windhoek	Namibia	None	88.5 Hz		V53W C	V53W G	Approximate	22°38
	Insert Channel	Shift+Ins	7.60 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pretoria	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS0JPL B	ZSQJPLG	Approximate	25°43
	Delete Channel	Shift+Del	7.60 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pretoria	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS6MRK B	ZS6MRK G	Approximate	25°40
	Clear Channel		7.60 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pretoria	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS6VTS B	ZS6VTS G	Approximate	25°45
	Clear Banks		600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Sandton	S. Afric	None	88.5 Hz		ZS6STN C	ZS6STN G	Approximate	26°06
3	Move Up	Ctrl+U	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Shenyang	China	None	88.5 Hz		BR2SY B	BR2SY G	Approximate	41°52
Ļ	Move Down	Ctrl+D	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Shenyang-Liaoni	China	None	88.5 Hz		BR2RSA B	BR2RSA G	Approximate	41°47
	Add Frequency Ra	nge	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Troodos Mt.	Cyprus	None	88.5 Hz		5B4CY C	5B4CY G	Approximate	34°56
Ļ	Sort		5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Ulsan	Korea- R	None	88.5 Hz		6MOUM B	6MOUM G	Approximate	35°39
	Undo Sort		6.00 MHz	+DUP		DV	Taoyuan	Taiwan	None	88.5 Hz		BX3AH B	BX3AH G	Approximate	24°59
F	144.33750	146.33750	2.00 MHz	+DUP		DV	Taoyuan	Taiwan	None	88.5 Hz		BX3AH C	BX3AH G	Approximate	24°59
	144.33750	146.33750	2.00 MHz	+DUP		DV	Taoyuan	Taiwan	None	88.5 Hz		BX4ACB C	BX4ACB G	Approximate	24°59
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Bangkok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DA B	E24DA G	Approximate	13°47
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Bangkok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DA C	E24DA G	Approximate	13°47
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Chiang Mai	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DG B	E24DG G	Approximate	18°49
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Chiang Mai	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DG C	E24DG G	Approximate	18°49
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Chonburi	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DC B	E24DC G	Approximate	13°11
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Chonburi	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DC C	E24DC G	Approximate	13°11
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Maha Sarakham	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DE B	E24DE G	Approximate	16°10
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Maha Sarakham	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DE C	E24DE G	Approximate	16°10
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Pathum Thani	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DB B	E24DB G	Approximate	14°02
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Pathum Thani	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DB C	E24DB G	Approximate	14°02
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Phitsanulok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DF B	E24DF G	Approximate	16°53
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Phitsanulok	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DF C	E24DF G	Approximate	16°53
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Phuket	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DJ B	E24DJ G	Approximate	07°52
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Phuket	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DJ C	E24DJ G	Approximate	07°52
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Ranong	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DH B	E24DH G	Approximate	10°02
	145.61250	145.01250	600 kHz	-DUP		DV	Ranong	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DH C	E24DH G	Approximate	10°02
	438.01250	433.01250	5.00 MHz	-DUP		DV	Songkhla	Thailand	None	88.5 Hz		E24DI B	E24DI G	Approximate	07°00
	145 61250	145.01250	COOLUS	DUD	172	DN /	Constitute	The silves of	W/5			FOIDL O	50 (D) 0	A second country	07000

### The result is this.

IC-970	0 Untitled1 *	×	21 8												
F	Receive requency	Transmit Frequency	Offset Frequency	Offset Direction	Repeater Use	Operating Mode	Name	Sub Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	IP Address	Rpt-1 CallSign	Rpt-2 CallSign	LatLng	La
			~	~		~			~	~				~	

Now, let's put back what we want and will use most often. From the menu at the top, select DStar  $\mid$  DStar Calc

e Edit	Communicatio	ns Settings D	Star Window H Show DStar Colu	jelp umns											
E IC-9	700 Untitled1 *	×	Digital (D-Star) S	ettings											
	Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency	Frequency	Direction	Repeater Use	Operating Mode	Name	Sub Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	IP Address	Rpt-1 CallSign	Rpt-2 CallSign	LatLng	Latitu
1			~	~		~			~	~				~	
2									him						
3															
4															
5															
6															
7															
3															
9															
0															
1															
2															
3															
4															
5															
6															
7					0										
8					0										
9					-										
0					- A										
1					<u> </u>										
2															
3															
4					П										
5															
6					-										
7															
8								-	1						
9									-						
10															
1															
0								-							

The on-board calculator opens. This list reflects the list of the Trust Server that you find from other sources on the Internet. It is built right in to the RT Systems program.

iect repeater to add to the DR memo	nics,
	Starting Channel
	1 V Autoincrement
pMaid 1Australia	
	Use Callsign for channel name
	Apply as Group shown
	C Replace all existing groups
	Append groups if space available
	Apply to this group;
Latin America	8-1
New Zealand	Set for Repeater Use
USA Hawaii	
USA Midwest	
USA Northeast	
USA Northwest	O repeaters selected
USA Southeast	U repeaters selected
USA Southwest	

Since I am in the Southwest and want only those repeaters, I expand the calculator for USA Southwest and with one click have 310 repeaters ready to set up for my use. Still a lot to work through when looking for the one I want.... but less than what is in the original list.

Click Apply.

Select repeater to add to the DR me - Europe Southern - Europe Western - Germany - Italy - Japan - Latin America - New Zealand - USA Alaska - USA Alaska - USA Midwest - USA Northeast - USA Northeast - USA Northwest - USA Southwest - USA Northwest - USA Southwest - USA Northwest - USA Northwest	emories.	Starting Channel          1       Image: Autoincrement         Use Callsign for channel name         Apply as Group shown         Replace all existing groups         Apply to this group:         Set for Repeater Use
		310 repeaters selected

The resulting file begins with the Arizona repeaters and continues from there.

		10 V 178 24 0											
IC-970	Receive	Name	Sub Name	Tone Mode	CTCSS	IP Address	Rpt-1 CallSign	Rpt-2 CallSign	LatLng	Latitude	Longitude	UTC Bank	Commer
	445.85000	Globe	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz 🗸		N7CI B	N7CI G	Exact	~ 33°16'56"N	110°49'17"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Globe
_	440.73750	Goodyear	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KG7HBZ B	KG7HBZ G	Exact	33*28'33"N	112°24'20"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Goodyear
	1284.00000	Kingman	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7KDS A	W7KDS G	Exact	35°21'23"N	114°00'24"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Kingman
	445.90000	Kingman	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7KDS B	W7KDS G	Exact	35°21'23"N	114°00'24"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Kingman
	145.13500	Kingman	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7KDS C	W7KDS G	Exact	35°21'23"N	114°00'24"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Kingman
	445,95000	Kingman	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KR7MC B	KR7MC G	Exact	35°13'09"N	113°59'10"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Kingman
	145.14500	Kingman	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KR7MC C	KR7MC G	Exact	35°13'09"N	113°59'10"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Kingman
	1285.65000	Mesa	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KE7JFH A	KE7JFH G	Exact	33°29'34"N	111°38'26"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Mesa
	445.97500	Mesa	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KE7JFH B	KE7JFH G	Exact	33°29'34"N	111°38'26"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Mesa
	145.12500	Mesa	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KE7JFH C	KE7JFH G	Exact	33°29'34"N	111°38'26"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Mesa
	1284.25000	Mount Lemmon	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		K7RST A	K7RST G	Exact	32°26'26"N	110°46'60"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Mount Lemmon
	445.90000	Mount Lemmon	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		K7RST B	K7RST G	Exact	32°26'26"N	110°46'60"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Mount Lemmon
	147.41000	Mount Lemmon	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		K7RST C	K7RST G	Exact	32°26'26"N	110°46'60"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Mount Lemmon
	445 80000	Oro Valley	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7AL B	W7AL G	Exact	32°21'06"N	110°58'30"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Oro Valley
	1283 90000	Phoenix	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7MOT A	W7MOT G	Exact	33°34'41"N	112°34'25"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Phoenix
	440.81250	Phoenix	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7MOT B	W7MOT G	Exact	33°34'41"N	112°34'25"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Phoenix
	145.13500	Phoenix	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7MOT C	W7MOT G	Exact	33°34'41"N	112°34'25''W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Phoenix
	1248.75000	Sahuarita	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KR7ST A	KR7ST G	Exact	31°57'40"N	110°58'35"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Sahuarita
	445.95000	Sahuarita	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KR7ST B	KR7ST G	Exact	31°57'40"N	110°58'35"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Sahuarita
	145.11500	Sahuarita	Arizona	None	94,8 Hz		KR7ST C	KR7ST G	Exact	31°57'40"N	110°58'35"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Sahuarita
	1285.00000	Scottsdale	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KF7CUF A	KF7CUF G	Exact	33°31'14"N	111°54'11''W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Scottsdale
	445.95000	Scottsdale	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		KF7CUF B	KF7CUF G	Exact	33°31'14"N	111°54'11''W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Scottsdale
	145.12500	Sierra Vista	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		K7RDG C	K7RDG G	Exact	31°31'11"N	110°11'26''W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Sierra Vista
	445.73750	Tucson	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		W7NFL B	W7NFL G	Exact	32°19'26"N	111°07'07''W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Tucson
	1284.60000	Williams	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		K7NAZ A	K7NAZ G	Approximate	35°15'01"N	112°11'22''W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Williams
	445.78750	Williams	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		K7NAZ B	K7NAZ G	Approximate	35°15'01"N	112°11'22"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Williams
	145.11500	Williams	Arizona	None	94.8 Hz		K7NAZ C	K7NAZ G	Approximate	35°15'01"N	112°11'22"W	-07:00 22:	Arizona Williams
	1287.82500	Anaheim	Californ	None	94.8 Hz		W6HRO A	W6HRO G	Exact	33°50'42"N	117°56'32"W	-08:00 22:	California Anaheim
	449.84000	Anaheim	Californ	None	94.8 Hz		W6HRO B	W6HRO G	Exact	33°50'42"N	117°56'32"W	-08:00 22:	California Anaheim
	147.57000	Anaheim	Californ	None	94.8 Hz		W6HRO C	W6HRO G	Exact	33°50'42"N	117°56'32"W	-08:00 22:	California Anaheim
	444.50000	Aubum	Californ	None	94.8 Hz		K6IOK B	K6IOK G	Exact	38°55'57"N	121°08'33"W	-08:00 22:	California Auburn
	446.87000	Blue Ridge Berry	Californ	None	94.8 Hz		W6CPAR B	W6CPAR G	Approximate		008°00'28"E	-08:00 22:	California Blue Ridge Berryessa
	145.58500	Blue Ridge Berry	Californ	None	94.8 Hz		W6CPAR C	W6CPAR G	Approximate		008°00'28"E	-08:00 22:	California Blue Ridge Berryessa
	1286 52500	Chico	Californ	None	94.8 Hz		K6CHO A	K6CHO G	Approximate	39°44'24"N	121°50'08"W	-08:00 22	California Chico

Now you have the list you want for the area you travel.

# 5.4 Call Channels

The Call channel memories provide convenient, access to two most used frequency in each band.

The information to be programmed for the Call channels is the same as that for the regular Memory channels other than Scan Select. See <u>Regular Memory Channels</u> for the details

### 5.5 Satellite Memories

Satellite information describes the location of the satellite, it's pass schedule for your area, its uplink and downlink frequencies where applicable. This information is available from many sources especially the Internet.

The IC-9700 has a total of 99 memory channel pairs for upline and downlink frequencies for satellite communications.

Program different frequencies to each line. The upper of each paid is for the downlink (receive, Rx) frequency in the main band and the lower line is for the uplink (transmit, Tx) frequency in the sub band. The pairs of satellite memories must contain frequencies in different bands.

Information for the satellite memories is the same as that for regular memory channels (other than scan select as these memories cannot be included for that function). You can find details for each of the options on the <u>Regular Memory Channels</u> page of this help.

# 5.6 GPS Memories

# **GPS Memories**

GPS memories are used with GPS alarm to cause an alarm to sound when a target comes into the alarm area. The area can be a caller station, all GPS memories, a selected GPS memory group or a selected GPS memory.

# **GPS Memory Group Names**

GPS Memory group names are entered into the programmer under Settings | Bank Names and Linking | GPS Memory Group | Names

Enter up to 16 characters for the name of the group.



# 6 Radio Menu Settings

Radio Menu Settings are menu items that are global to the operation of the radio. These features affect the radio whether you are in VFO or Memory mode.

These options are set from the Radio Menu Settings screen in the Programmer. This screen is accessed through Settings | Radio Menu Settings from the menu on the main screen.

Check boxes that toggle features on or off, drop down boxes that list all selections, and blank boxes into which you enter personalized selections add to the ease of programming the radio with the Programmer.

Included in this Help are brief descriptions of the features to be controlled and how to set them in the Programmer. The operating manual of the radio should be used to provide any other explanation of the feature and its use after programming.

The Programmer offers two options for managing the global settings.

- You can create and use multiple global settings files
- Save these settings as part of the file with the memory information.

The two options are described below. The selection between these two options is set on the Preferences screen that is accessed from Settings | Preferences in the Programmer.

# Creating and using multiple global settings files

There may be global settings of the radio that you want configured differently for different activities. You can make changes to your settings file and save it separately.

To select a settings file for use:

- Select Settings | Radio Menu Settings from the main page of the Programmer.
- From the Radio Menu Settings screen, select File | Open. A list of settings files will be presented.
- Select the file you want to use and click Open.

- Verify that this is the settings file that you want to use. Check also that the proper filename appears in the titlebar at the top of the Menu Settings window.
- Select File | Exit to close this screen. These settings will be sent to the radio with each memory channel file until you change this file selection again.

Having multiple memory channel files and multiple global setting files gives you the ability to mix and match the features of your radio to suit your needs. This makes it easy to customize the radio for a special event without disturbing the original programming files. Then once the event is over, simply reprogram the radio with the memory channel information and settings that you use everyday.

The entries on this screen are made for you to "Set and Forget". Once settings are customized, you are prompted to save before exiting. Failure to save will return the settings to factory defaults (even for the file in which you are currently working). Once the settings are saved, they will be repeated in each new file created with the Programmer.

When a new file is begun, the same settings used in the last settings file saved will appear automatically in this new file. You need not re-enter the settings each time, nor are you forced to always begin a new file by renaming an existing file. Your settings are retained and you need only enter memory channel details.

# Alternate global settings file option

Programmers have the option of saving the global settings with the memory channel information. This new feature is not the default for the Programmer; but may be valuable under certain programming circumstances.

To contrast and compare the two Radio Menu Setting options:

Use Separate file for menu settings (default)

- This option is based on a "Set and Forget" plan. Once the global settings are configured to your liking and saved, you do not have to repeat this process. This configuration does not change with a new memory channel file.
- The last settings file saved is the one that will be used when a memory file is sent to the radio.
- You can save several different settings files (i.e., one for your radio and a different one for your son's radio). Then easily match the settings to the radio being programmed without having to make changes in the file repeatedly.
Keep menu settings and frequencies in a single file. (option)

- This option is set on the Settings | Preferences screen.
- With this option selected, the Radio Menu Settings as assigned on the Settings | Radio Menu Settings screen are assigned ONLY in this file.
- With each new file created the Radio Menu Settings return to factory defaults.
- You have the ability to customize the global settings just as you customize the memory channel file. This would be useful if you are programming each radio uniquely.
- No guesswork about what the configuration of the global settings. Once they are set, they stay set in this file until you make a change to them.

# 6.1 Settings \_ Common

74

**CW Normal Side** - Sets the carrier point in the CW normal mode. Select LSB or USB for the carrier point in CW transmissions.

**Keyboard Layout** - Changes the on-screen keyboard layout of the radio between English, German and French.

**Keyboard Type -** Sets the keyboard entry type on the face of the radio to Ton-Key or Full Keyboard.

MemoPad Quantity - Sets the number of Memo Pad channels.

**Mic Up/Down Speed** - Selects the steps per second when changing an operating frequency by holding down the mic's [UP]/[DOWN] buttons.

RF/Sql Control - Sets the outer control operation. Set to

Auto: Functions as an RF gain control in the SSB, CW and RTTY modes. Functions as a squelch control in the AM, FM, DV and DD modes.

SQL - Functions as a squelch control in all modes. Eliminates RF gain control.

RF+SQL - Functions nor onl as an RF gain control, but also as a squelch control in all modes.

**[NOTCH] Switch AM/SSB -** Sets the notch function used in the SSB or AM mode.

**AFC Limit** - Sets whether to limit the operating range of the AFC (Automatic Frequency Control) function or not.

**FM/DV Center Error** - Turns the FM/DV Center Error indication On or Off. The Main./Sub band indicator shows the received signal deviation. When an off-center signal is received, the indicator blinks green.

**SSB/CW Sync(hronous) Tuning** - Turns the Displayed Frequency Shift function On or Off. This function automatically shifts the frequency to match the CW pitch with the operating mode is toggled between SSB and CW.

**SSB TBW** - The transmit filter width for SSB and SSB-D modes can be set to Wide, Mid, or Narrow. By default, the widths are set to the following:

100 Hz to 2900 Hz
300 Hz to 2700 Hz
500 Hz to 2500 Hz
300 Hz to 2700 Hz

Note: The values for Wide, Mid and Narrow and SSB-D can be adjusted in the table found on the Tone Control/Scope page of the Settings of the programmer. Customize Wide, Mid, High for optimum performance.

PTT Lock - Check to disable the PTT

**Monitor** - Check to engage the Monitor function which enables you to monitor your transmit ausio. Use this function to check the voice characteristics while adjusting transmit audio parameters.

Monitor Level - Adjust Monitor audio output.

Reference Adjust - Adjust the reference level of the spectrum scope.

Screen Capture (power) - Assigns the screen capture function to the power button.

**Screen Capture File** - Sets the format for the Screen Capture function to PNG or BMP.

Time Out Timer - Sets the time after which continuous transmission will end.

**Dial** - Set the following as they apply to the Main Dial of the radio.

Main Dial Auto TS - Set the Auto Tuning Step function to control the tuning step automatically when rapidly rotating the [Main Dial].

1 Hz Mode - Check to engage 1hz fine tuning in SSB, CW and RTTY modes.

Satellite 1 Hz Mode - Check to engage 1hz fine tuning in Satellite mode.

# Display

BW (Bandwidth) Popup (FIL) - Selects whether or not to display the IF filter width and shift value when you switch the IF filter.

BW (Bandwidth) Popup (PBT) - Selects whether or not to display the PBT shift value during PBT operations with the [MULTI] key.

Meter Peak Hold - Turns the Meter Peak Hold (Bar) function On or Off.

Memory Name - Turns the memory name display in the memory mode on or off.

MN-Q Popup - Turns the Manual Notch filter width display on or off.

Power On Check - Selects whether or not to display the RF power level at power on.

Opening Message - Selects whether or not to display the opening message at power on.

Opening Message - Enter text for the opening message

Scroll Speed - Set the scrolling speed of the message, call sign, or other text displayed on the radio.

Radio Comment - Change the text of the embedded radio comment.

Display Font - Select the font for the frequency readout.

Display Type - Set the display background color to = Black or B = Blue.

Display Language - Set to English or Japanese. This option is available on the radio only if System Language is set to Japanese.

System Language - Set the system language of the radio to English or Japanese. To control the characters in the DR screen or Menu mode, set Display Language to Japanese.

# Note: See the statement from Icom in the User's Manual on page 8-17 about setting this option to Japanese.

LCD Backlight - Set the backlight brightness.

TX Meter Select - (Meter Display selection) - Select one of six different transmission parameters (PO, SWR, ALC, COMP, VO and ID) for your convenience.

Screen Saver - Set the time of not activity after which the screen of the transceiver automatically turns off.

Position Format - Selects the format for Latitude/Longitude display.

Altitude/Distance - Select the format to display distance and elevation.

Speed Units - Select the format to display the speed.

Temperature - Select the format for temperature display.

Barometric - Set the format to display the parometric pressure.

Rainfall - Select the format to display the amount of rainfall.

Wind Speed - Select the format to display the wind speed.

# Sub Band Mute (Tx)

Check to mute the received audio of the SUB band when you transmit. The default for each is OFF. Check to engage mute for one or all the options.

### Lock

[Speech/Lock] Switch - Selection the action of this key to control the options engaged through a long or short touch of that button. The first option shown is always the push while the second is the option when the key is held down.

Lock Function - This function electronically locks the [Main Dial] or the panel display and all keys and dials other than [AF->RF/SQL], Power and [Speech/Lock].

# **Quick Split**

Quick Split - Check to enable the Quick Split function. This function automatically turns on the split function and sets the frequency and mode that is not displayed (VFO A or VFO B) according to the Split Offset setting.

Note: If you are operating in VFO and your radio is not acting as you expect with independence of VFO A and VFO B, check to see if this option is on and disengage it if necessary.

Split Lock - Check to engage the Split Lock function. The Split Lock function enables you to adjust the transmit frequency while holding down the [XFC] key even while the Dial Lock function is activated.

# Note: To prevent accidentally changing the receive frequency by rotating the [Main Dial], use both the Split Lock and Dial Lock functions.

Split Offset - Set the Split offset between - 9.999 and +9.999 MHz. The split offset is the difference between the receive and transmit frequencies for the Quick Split function.

# 6.2 Settings \_ Common 2

## Scan

Scan Speed - Set Slow or Fast scan speed

Scan Resume - Check to engage Scan Resume

Checked - When a signal is detected, the scan pauses for 10 seconds, then resumes whether or not the signal is lost. If the signal does not last for 10 seconds, scanning resumes 2 seconds after the signal disappears.

Unchecked - When a signal is detected, scanning ceases. It must be started again manually if desired.

Pause Timer - When Scan Resume is On, adjust the Scan Pause timer (the 10 second default can be adjusted here). Set to 2-20 seconds which causes scanning to resume after that time whether the signal is lost or not, or Hold which causes scanning to halt until the signal is lost.

Resume Timer - When Scan Resume is On, adjust the Scan Resume timer (the 2 second default can be adjusted here). Set to 0 seconds to resume immediately upon the loss of a signal (remember, this could cause scanning to resume just because someone pauses in a conversation; 1-5 seconds, or Hold which causes scanning to halt even after the signal is lost.

Temporary Skip Timer - Control the radio's performance with Skip channels.

5/10/15 min - Skip channels are skipped for the set period of time.

While scanning - Skip channels are skipped whenever the radio is scanning.

While Powered On - Shipped channels are skipped until the receiver power is turned off.

Note: This timer works during VFO scan, Memory scan and DR scan.

Channels are marked as a Temporary Skip channel during scanning from the face of the radio. During scanning, push the [QUICK] button then Temporary Skip Set to designate the channel or frequency for this function. Up to 20 channels or frequencies can be marked for Temporary Skip.

The Temporary Skip designation is canceled when the timer expires or when the radio is powered off.

Main Dial Scan - Set to control how scanning reacts when the main dial is rotated during scanning.

### Mic Gain

Mic Gain - Set the microphone sensitivity for optimum performance for your voice. Higher values make the microphone more sensitive to your voice.

COMP SSB - Check to engage Speech Compression which increases the average RF output power and improves readability at the receiving station. This function compresses the transmitter audio input to increase the average audio output level. Turn this option on when working long distance communications or when propagation conditions are poor.

COMP Level SSB - The COMP level is best set on the radio while speaking into the mic and watching the meter. The option here in the programmer allows you to see what this feature is set to at the time you Got Data from the radio. Adjustments can be made in the program.

#### Vox

Set options to control Voice Activated keying on the radio. Remember, with Vox engaged, everything you say is transmitted.

VOX Engaged - Check to turn the option on.

Vox Gain - Adjust the VOX gain for more sensitivity to your voice. A higher setting results in more sensitivity.

Anti-Vox - Adjust the Anti-Vox gain for less sensitivity to the received audio from a speaker or headphones.

Vox Delay - Set the delay for normal pauses in speech before returning to receive.

Vox Voice Delay - Set voice delay to prevent clipping of the first few syllables of a transmission when switching to transmit.

Note: When using the VOX voice delay, turn off the Monitor function to prevent transmitted audio from being echoed.

# Веер

Beep Level Limit - Check to limit the volume of the beep up to the specified level.

Confirmation Beep - Check to engage a beep sound when a switch is pushed or the touch panel is touched. The sound "confirms" the action.

Level - Set the output level of the beep.

Beep Sound Main/Sub - Set the audio frequency for the beeps.

# **Tuning Step**

The tuning step controls the value between frequencies when tuning the radio in VFO with the [MainDial]. You want the values set high enough that you move quickly to a desired frequency but small enough that you don't miss something getting there.

Set the tuning step for each mode in each band. Note: The tuning step in DD mode is preset in all but the 1.2Ghz band where it can be adjusted in the table.

# **Satellite Tuning Step**

Working satellites is different from regular listening. Many more variables come into play as you chase after a receiver hundreds of miles away and moving.

Set the tuning step for each mode to a value low enough that you cover all the frequencies in the Doppler shift. Remember, when tracking, the frequencies change together based on this value and the type of tracking you have engaged. See the Satellite section of loom's User's Manual for the radio for more details.

# Voice TX

Transmission of recorded audio data

Auto Monitor - Check to engage the Automatic Monitor function for recorded audio transmissions.

On - Automatically monitors transmit audio when sending a recorded audio

Off - Monitors transmit audio only when the monitor function is on.

Tx Level - Set the volume at which the transmission is sent.

Repeat Time - Set the repeat interval to repeat the voice transmission. The transceiver repeatedly transmits the recorded content at this interval.

Mic Gain (REC) - Set the mic gain for optimum recording.

# **Time Set**

NTP Function - Uncheck to disengage the functionality that automatically obtains the current time from the NTP server. The default for the radio is On (it will attempt to check for the time automatically).

NTP Server Address - Set the NTP server address (Addresses can be found by searching the internet for nist server addresses)

UTC Offset - Set the offset from Grenich Mean Time for your location.

GPS Time Correct - Select whether or not the time data is automatically corrected by a received GPS sentence.

# PreAmp/ ATT / IP

These values are set independently for each band.

Pre Amp - The preamp amplifies received signals in the receiver front end to improve the signal-to-noise ratio and sensitivity. A preamp is used when working weak signals. The internal preamp can be turned on or off for each band.

An External PreAmp can be used with the radio. To use an external preamp, you need to set External PAmp on for each band. With this option set to Inhibit, the function of the external preamp is halted.

Radio Menu Settings 83	Radio	Menu	Settings	83
------------------------	-------	------	----------	----

# 6.3 Settings \_ Band Settings

84

These options are set independently for each band.

**RF Power**: Set the output power level for transmission.

#### Note: Remember two things

1) By FCC rules, you should use the minimum power required to make the contact. That is not always high or 100% power. and

2) If your antenna is not properly tuned, more power out yields more SWR which not only reduces your signal out but also can be dangerous to your radio (although most radios have protection from excessive SWR that can include turning the radio off or at least reducing the power out). Using less power, until you can get your antenna tuned for the frequency, could net more contacts since you will be putting more signal out the antenna and less power back down the feedline.

**Tx Power Limit**: Set On to limit the transmission output to the level set in Limit Power. Set Off to eliminate this limit.

Limit Power: Set limit value for transmission output.

**Tx Delay**: Set timing for transmissions for each operating band. This feature is used with external equipment initiates its transmission later than the radio to prevent reflected wave that could damage the equipment. Delaying the timing prevents the reflected wave.

**NB**: Noise Blanker - Engage or disengage for each band. The noise blanker can help eliminate pulse-type noises such as the noise from car ignitions.

Note: If you are using this radio in a mobile setting, it is really best if you turn it on and off from the face of the radio and not through the electrical system of the vehicle. In the past, radios did not do well and could lose all their programming when hit with an electrical "bump" when the vehicle was started. The easiest protection was to turn the radio off with it's power button before turning the vehicle off then turning it on again with its power button after the vehicle is running. Newer radios handle this better... but it's better to be safe than without any of your programmed repeaters and other settings. **NB** Level/Depth/Width: Adjust the characteristics of the noise blanker feature for optimum performance of your radio.

**NR**: Noise Reduction - Engage the noise reduction function that reduces random noise and enhances other signals that are buried in the noise.

NR Level: Adjust the noise reduction level.

**RIT**: Turn the Receive Incremental Tuning function On or Off. The RIT function shifts the receive frequency without shifting the transmit frequency.

#### Note: To use this function, the RIT Frequency must be set.

**RIT Frequency**: Enter a value from -9.999 to +9.999 for use by the RIT feature. What you are entering is similar to a tuning step.

**dF Span**: Select a value to establish a scanning range above and below the displayed frequency when dF Scan is engaged. This value can be set independently for each band.

**Program Scan Edge**: Select the Programmed Scan Edge to use for that function. The frequencies for the Programmed Scan Edges are entered in the programmer on the PS Limits page. See the tabs at the bottom of the main screen of the programmer.

**Select Memory Scan**: Select the Memory Scan group to scan for a given band. Memory channels as assigned to the Select Memory Scan groups using the Scan Select column on the Memories sheet of the programmer.

Note: If you want a channel in more than one Select Scan group, you will need to enter that channel as a new memory channel. This is done easily with copy and paste in the programmer then make the change to that one option (Scan Select) to have that frequency included in a second group.

Remember though, when you scan all memories, you will hear this frequency repeatedly during that activity.

While this may be a good solution for the National Calling frequency so that it appears in all the groups you'll be using while you travel, it might not be the best solution for NOAA weather that will cause scanning to stop repeatedly.

**AFC**: Turn on or off the Automatic Frequency Control for FM or DV activities. This function automatically tunes the receive frequency when the signal being received goes off-frequency or the receive signal shifts mode.

**1/4**: Turn the 1/4 tuning step function on or off. This function reduces the dial speed for finer tuning control.

Note: The Auto TS function for the main dial takes priority over the 1/4 tuning step function.

**Auto Repeater** - The Auto Repeater function automatically turns the duplex operations and tone encoder on or off (USA version only) Set to:

Off - the radio does not shift automatically based on frequency.

Dup - Turns on the repeater shift function only. The repeater shifts up or down based on a predetermined bandplan.

Dup+Tone - Turns on the repeater shift setting and the tone encoder (CTCSS to the repeater) function.

# Auto Repeater Edges (USA Only)

Set Offset Direction for distinct ranges of the bands. This value is used in conjunction with Auto Repeater Shift when engaged.

# **User Band Edge**

Band Edge Beep:

Off - The Band Edge Beep function is not engaged.

On - A beep sounds when you tune outside of or back into the default amateur band's frequency range. This is the default for this option.

On (User) - A beep sounds when you tune outside of or back into a user programmed amateur band's frequency range.

On (User) & TX Limit - A beep sounds when you tune outside of or back into a user programmed amateur band's frequency range and transmitting is inhibited outside the programmed range.

Set the upper and lower frequencies for operations in the Amateur radio bands.

These limits can be used to remind you that you are leaving a range or can actually prevent transmission outside your license class by the selection chosen for Band Edge Beep.

They can be small ranges within a band to be used for contesting, CW, QRP operations, etc. Any activity that is done is less than an entire band.

Note: Band Edges must be in increasing order by frequency. They cannot overlap. It can take a little manipulation to the preset ranges to allow a range to be inserted.

# 6.4 Settings - Tone Control/Scope

# **Tone Control**

**Bandpass Filter**: A bandpass filter is a device that passes frequencies within a certain range and rejects frequencies outside that range. Set the upper and lower cut off frequencies for the SSB, AM, FM, DV, CW, and RTTY modes. Values range from Off to 2400 Hz and should total no more than 3000 hz (the limit of the filter).

Note: When this item is set, the TX and RX Bass and Treble items are set to 0.

**Tone Control**: Set Bass and Treble level of receive and transmit audio for each SSB, AM, FM and DV. Values range from -5 to +5. When the Bandpass filter is used, this option is returned to 0 by the radio.

**SSB TX Bandwidth**: Customize Wide, Mid and Narrow ranges for SSB transmit bandwidth (TBW).

Note: Assign Wide, Mid or Narrow to SSB operations in the SSB TBW section of the Common 1 tab of the Programmer.

**SSB-D TX Bandwidth**: Customize Wide, Mid and Narrow ranges for SSB-D transmit bandwidth (TBW).

Note: Assign Wide, Mid or Narrow to SSB operations in the SSB-D TBW section of the Common 1 tab of the Programmer.

# Scope

The spectrum scope enables you to display the activity on the selected band as well as the relative strengths of various signals.

Main/Sub: Set options for the main and sub bands independently.

<u>Mode</u>: Select Center or Fixed mode for the spectrum scope

Center displays signals around the operating frequency within the selected span. The operating frequency is always displayed at the center of the screen.

Fix - Displays signals and the RX marker within a specified frequency range. The frequency range is established in the Scope Fixed Edges table on this same page of the programmer. Three ranges are available for each band.

<u>Span</u>: Select the scope's scan. This can be set independently for the Main and Sub bands.

<u>Sweep</u>: Set the sweep speed to Fast, Mid or Slow independently for the Main and Sub bands.

**Scope During TX**: For use in the Center mode. Set on or off display of the Tx signal.

Waterfall Display: Check to turn on the Waterfall display

**Waterfall Marker Auto-Hide**: Check to automatically hide the marker in the Waterfall zone.

Waveform Color: Choose a color for Current, Line and Man Hold.

Averaging: Set FFT scope waveform averaging function. Options include:

<u>Off</u> - The FFT scope screen refreshes at each sweep time. This setting displays the critical spectrum.

2-4 - The FFT scope screen averages 2 to 4 sweeps to smoothly display the spectrum.

**Center Types**: Select the center frequency of the spectrum scope screen. This option affects the display only when working in the Center mode. Select from:

<u>Filter</u>: Displays the center frequency of the selected filter at the center of the spectrum scope screen.

<u>Carrier Point Center</u>: Displays the carrier point frequency of the selected operating mode at the center of the spectrum scope screen.

<u>Carrier Point Center (Abs Freq)</u>: In addition to the carrier point center setting above, the actual frequency is displayed at the bottom of the scope (Abs Freq => Absolute Frequency).

Max Hold: Set how the peak level holding function works. Select from:

<u>Off</u>: Does not hold the peak spectrum.

90

<u>10s Hold</u>: Holds the peak spectrum for 10 seconds

<u>On</u>: Continuously holds the peak spectrum.

**Marker Position**: For use with the FIX type scope screen. This option controls display of the marker on the spectrum scope screen. Select from:

<u>Filter Center</u>: Display the Marker on the center frequency of the selected filter.

<u>Carrier Point</u>: Display the Marker on the carrier point frequency of the selected operating mode.

**Reference Level**: While monitoring a weak signal that is buried in the noise floor or monitoring a strong signal with some stronger signals nearby, adjusting the Reference level of the screen helps to see these signals on the scope.

#### Note: While this option can be set from within the programmer, it sounds like one that you will be well served to know how to use from the face of the radio as its use is truly driven by conditions and the reception of other signals.

Waterfall Peak Color: Set the signal level that the Waterfall displays in the peak color.

**Waterfall Size**: Set the Waterfall height in the expand scope screen. The options include:

<u>Small</u>: The Waterfall display is the same height as the Normal scope screen, only the FFT scope expands.

<u>Mid</u>: The Waterfall height expands at the same ratio with the FFT scope.

Large: Only the Waterfall height expands.

**Waveform Type**: Select the outline waveform display. Select from:

<u>Fill</u>: The waveform is drawn in color without an outline.

<u>Fill + Line</u> The waveform is drawn in color with an outline.

Video Bandwidth: Set video band width to Narrow or Wide.

# FFT Scope (Audio Scope)

These options control the FFT (Fast Fourier Transform) scope zone when operating in the Center mode.

Attenuator: Select the value for the attenuator of the FFT scope.

Waterfall Display: Check to engage the Waterfall display for the FFT scope.

**Waveform Type**: Select the outline waveform display for the FFT scope screen. Select from:

Fill: The waveform is drawn in color without an outline.

<u>Fill + Line</u> The waveform is drawn in color with an outline.

Waveform Color: Choose a color for the FFT scope display.

# Oscilloscope

These options control the oscilloscope functionality and display.

Level: Set this options to 0dB, -10dB, -20dB or -30dB

Sweep Time: Set the sweep time for the oscilloscope.

Waveform Color: Choose a color for the oscilloscope display.

## 6.5 Settings -DV/DR Mode

These settings are for the DV and DD operating modes.

# **DV Set**

92

**Auto Reply**: The automatic reply function replies to calls by a station that specified your call sign. Options include:

Off - No automatic reply is sent

On - A reply of your own call sign is sent. No audio is sent.

Voice - Replies with your call sign and any auto reply message recorded on the SD card. That message can be up to 10 seconds. If no message is found to send, your own call sign will be sent. The transmission can be monitored.

*Note: This option is automatically turned Off when you press the radios PTT or Transmit button. On or Voice is disabled.* 

**DD Packet Output**: Set the condition for outputting the packets in the DD mode. Options include:

Normal - Packet is outputted when

1) A call addressed to your own call sign or a non-call sign specific call (CQCQCQ) is received.

- 2) An EMR signal is reveiced
- 3) A break-in call is received
- All All packets are outputted.

DD Tx Inhibit (Power On): Inhibit digital transmissions when the radio is powered on.

**Digital Monitor**: Sets the desired monitoring mode during DV mode operation from AUTO, DIGITAL and ANALOG.

<u>AUTO</u>: The transceiver sets monitoring mode to FM and DV according to the received signal. (default)

<u>DIGITAL</u>: Monitors in DV mode.

<u>ANALOG</u>: Monitors in FM mode.

**Digital Repeater Set**: Set to On to automatically store the callsign of a digital repeater that is different than what is programmed in RPT1 and RTP2. The stored repeater's call sign can be re-called when selecting the repeater call sign. (default: OFF)

**Display Type (RX History)**: Control display of data in the top screen of the RX history. Select from

Call Sign - Displays the repeater or Your Call sign.

Name - Displays the repeater or Your name. - When the repeater or Your Name is not entered in the repeater list or Your Call Sign memory, the call sign will be displayed.

**DV Data Tx**: Set this option for how data input from the PC via the data jack on the radio is transmitted. Options include

PTT: The data is transmitted when the [PTT] on the radio is pushed. (default)

<u>AUTO</u>: The data is transmitted automatically.

#### **DV Fast Data**

On - Check to engage fast data mode.

GPS Data Speed - Set the GPS sata speed for the DV data sent using DV Fast Data mode.

Slow - Sends data in the slow speed mode (approximately 960 bps)

Fast - Sends GPS data in the fast speed mode (approximately 3480 bps)

TX Delay (PTT) - Set the Tx delay for data send in DV Fast Data mode.

**DV Auto Detect**: Check to engage detection of FM signals even when operating in digital mode. Select:

<u>OFF</u>: DV mode indicator blinks, however the transceiver receives in DV mode even if non-DV mode signals are heard. (default)

<u>ON</u>: DV mode indicator blinks and the transceiver monitors the signal in FM signal.

**EMR AF Level**: Set the audio output level for reception of an EMR (Enhanced Monitor Request) communication mode signal.

**Reply Position Display**: Select whether or not to display the caller's position data when the data is included in the Auto Replay signal.

**Rx Call sign Display**: When a call is received this option controls the display of the call sign of the calling station. Options include:

<u>Off</u> - The function is turned off and the call sign is not displayed.

<u>Normal</u> - The call sign and message of the calling station scroll once.

<u>Rx Hold</u> - The call sign and message scroll once then the call sign is displayed on the radio until the signal disappears.

<u>Hold</u> - The call sign and message scroll once then the call sign continues to be displayed until the signal disappears. When the signal disappears, the call sign and message display each for 2 seconds.

**Rx Position Indicator**: Select whether or not to display the indicator when the position data is included in the signal received in the DV mode.

**Rx Position Display**: Select whether or not to display in a dialog when the calling station's position data is included in the signal received in the DV mode. Options include:

Off - No display

On(Main/Sub) - The data is displayed when the calling station's position data is included.

On (Main only) - The data is displayed when the calling station's position data is included on a signal received on the Main band only.

**Rx Position Display Timer**: Control how long the RX position data is displayed. Select from

5,10,15,30 seconds - The data is displayed for the selected period.

Hold - The data is displayed until you operate the radio again.

**RX Record (RPT)**: The radio can record the data of up to 50 individual calls. When the received signal includes a status message ("UR?" or "RPT?") that is sent back from the access repeater, you can record all of these messages or only the latest one in the RX History. Set this option to All or Latest Only.

**Standby Beep**: Sets On (checked) or Off (unchecked) the option for an audiable beep that is heard when the communicating station finishes transmitting or the receive signal disappears while in the DV mode

**Tx Callsign Display**: Selects callsign display function from Your Callsign, My Callsign, and OFF. When this setting is set to YOUR or MY, the transceiver automatically indicates the programmed information from the Your or My callsign fields during DV mode transmission. The default is Your Callsign.

# **DR Mode Settings**

**Filter** - Set the IF filter of the DR mode fro the DV and FM modes. Set this option for each of the three bands.

**Noise Reduction** - Engage and set level of noise reduction independently for Main and Sub bands. The DSP noise reduction function reduces noise and enhances desired signals buried in the noise to improve reception of weak signals.

**RIT** - The RIT (Receiver Incremental Tuning) function shifts the receive frequency per the offset frequency while the transmit frequency remains unchanged. Engage the RIT function and set the RIT offset frequency independently for Main and Sub bands.

**Digital Squelch** - Engage and set the Digital Squelch code to be used for the Main and Sub bands when operating in VFO. Digital Squelch can be assigned to each memory channel independently. That assigned value will be used during memory operations.

# 6.6 Settings - GPS Set Mode

**GPS Select**: Adjust your mode of data entry for entering your GPS position information from the face of the radio. Set to:

Manual - Manual entry of GPS position information in Manual Position (Latitude), Manual Position (Longitude) and Manual Position (Altitude)

Note: This information can be entered through the programmer in the options found under Manual Position on the GPS screen of the settings file. Remember though, if you set through Manual entry a special set of details and do not set GPS select to Manual, your details may be lost when the radio automatically gathers information for your current location.

External GPS - The radio automatically receives its position information from an external GPS unit.

Off - The GPS receiver is not in use.

Compass Direction: Set the display type of the compass. Options include

<u>Heading Up</u>: The top of the compass represents the direction of your course heading.

<u>North Up</u>: The top of the compass represents north.

South Up: The top of the compass represents south.

**Receiver Baudrate**: Select the radio at which the GPS receiver transfers data. Select 4800 or 9600 bps.

**Manual Position**: Enter the information that the radio will use for Latitude, Longitude and Altitude.

**Position Display**: Select the display type for "RX" on the GPS Position screen. Options include:

Latest (Main/Sub): The position data of the station received last is displayed.

<u>Main</u>: The position data for the station received on the Main band is displayed.

Sub: The position data for the station received on the Sub band is displayed.

96

**Alarm Area (Group)**: Sets GPS alarm active range within 00'05?to 59'59?in 1 sec. (00'01?) steps. The default is: 00'15?. The GPS alarm will sound when the target position enters this area.

Alarm Area (Rx/Memory): Set GPS alarm active range to LIMITED, EXTENDED or BOTH.

<u>LIMITED</u>: GPS alarm will sound when a target position enters 500 m\*(547 Y)\* range.

<u>EXTENDED</u>: GPS alarm will sound when a target position enters 1 km\*(1094 Y)\* range.

<u>BOTH</u>: GPS alarm will sound when a target position enters either 500 m\*(547 Y)\* or 1 km\* (1094 Y)\* range. (default)

Alarm Select: Select the target station(s) for the GPS alarm functions. Select from:

Off - Turns off the function.

Rx - The last position data received from a station is used fro the GPS alarm function.

Group - All memories in the GPS memory or in the selected GPS memory group are used for the GPS alarm function. Groups are assigned to the GPS memories on the GPS memories tab of the programmer.

Memory - Only one memory in the GPS memory is used for the GPS alarm function.

Alarm Group: Select the group to be used when Alarm Select is set to Group.

**Alarm Memory**: Select to one memory to be used when Alarm Select is set to Memory.

Note: While this option can be set and sent to the radio, it will not be used by the radio if no GPS memories are stored.

**GPS Tx Mode** - Select an operating mode to transmit position data received from a GPS receiver. Your choice is based on the requirement of the receiving program or device. Set to:

Off - Turns off GPS transmissions

D-PRS - Transmits position data D-PRS mode. This code is based on APRS code. -

NMEA - Transmits position data in NMEA mode.

**GPS Auto TX Timer** - Set the interval from Off (no automatic transmission, however manual transmission is still possible) to 30 minutes for automatic transmission of GPS position data and programmed GPS message.

### NMEA

**GPS Sentence**: Select up to 4 of 6 standard GPS sentences.

Note: When 4 sentences are selected the GPS Auto TX timer will set automatically to 10 sec if it is set to a lesser value.

**GPS Message**: Enter up to 20 alpha/numeric characters for a customized message.

Note: For reception of the GPS Message by some radios, it will be necessary to turn off the GSV sentence. Some radios are not compatible with the GSV sentence and if heard, will not be able to display the GPS message properly.

# D-PRS

D-PRS is a system that sends APRS data across a digital signal. Set options here for that transmission.

Format Selected - This is the transmission format. Select from

Position - Transmit mobile or base condition.

Object - Transmit a message with the position data and time information

Item - Transmit information that needs no time information along with position data.

Weather - Transmit weather information received from a weather device.

**Unpronto Address** - Enter an unpronto address of up to 56 alpha/numeric characters. Identification of an unpronto address is done through other sources then entered here.

Once the Format is selected, set the options for it using the tab for that format.

# Position

SSID - Select a designation to be added to your callsign to assist in identifying a station's type. The options include

-- If a callsign includes a space, the space will be changed to "-" and a character after the space will be used as the SSID

(-0) No SSID is added. If a callsign includes a space, any character or digit after the space will be deleted.

(-1 to -15) Adds an SSID of -1 to -15 to your call sign.

(-A to -Z) Adds an SSID of -A to -Z to your call sign.

Altitude - Select whether or not to transmit the altitude data in addition to the position data.

Power - This selection is available for the radio to use only if Data Extension is set to Power/Height/Gain/Directivity. With this option for Data Extension the TX Power level is transmitted in addition to the position data.

Gain - Transmit the gain of your antenna along with the position data.

Time Stamp - Enter either the DHM or HMS format to transmit the current UTC time as a time stamp.

Data Extension - Select Off - nothing is transmitted; Data -Power/Height/Gain/Diorectivity are sent in addition to the data; Course/Speed - Course and speed data are sent in addition to the data while the object is moving.

Height - Transmit the height of your antenna along with position data.

Directivity - Transmit the directivity of the antenna that is being used for a base station in addition to position data.

Comment - Enter and select a comment to be transmitted with position data.

Symbol - Set the symbol character fro the radio to send. The symbol generally represents your means of transportation or location. Four options can be set.

# Object

SSID - Select a designation to be added to your callsign to assist in identifying a station's type. The options include

-- If a callsign includes a space, the space will be changed to "-" and a character after the space will be used as the SSID

(-0) No SSID is added. If a callsign includes a space, any character or digit after the space will be deleted.

(-1 to -15) Adds an SSID of -1 to -15 to your call sign.

(-A to -Z) Adds an SSID of -A to -Z to your call sign.

Data Type - Set the object station's status to transmit in addition to the position data. Set to

Live - the object station is valid

Killed - the object station is invalid

Power - Select the power level to be transmitted along with the position data.

Gain - Transmit the gain of your antenna along with the position data.

Time Stamp - Enter either the DHM or HMS format to transmit the current UTC time as a time stamp.

Data Extension - Select Off - nothing is transmitted; Data -Power/Height/Gain/Diorectivity are sent in addition to the data; Course/Speed - Course and speed data are sent in addition to the data while the object is moving.

Height - Transmit the height of your antenna along with position data.

Directivity - Transmit the directivity of the antenna that is being used for a base station in addition to position data.

Comment - Enter and select a comment to be transmitted with position data.

Symbol - Set the symbol character fro the radio to send. The symbol generally represents your means of transportation or location.

Name - Set an object station name of up to 9 characters to transmit in addition to position data.

Enter details for Latitude, Longitude, Altitude, Course, and Speed to be sent according to the Data Extension selection.

# ltem

SSID - Select a designation to be added to your callsign to assist in identifying a station's type. The options include

-- If a callsign includes a space, the space will be changed to "-" and a character after the space will be used as the SSID

(-0) No SSID is added. If a callsign includes a space, any character or digit after the space will be deleted.

(-1 to -15) Adds an SSID of -1 to -15 to your call sign.

(-A to -Z) Adds an SSID of -A to -Z to your call sign.

Data Type - Set the object station's status to transmit in addition to the position data. Set to

Live - the object station is valid

Killed - the object station is invalid

Power - Select the power level to be transmitted along with the position data.

Gain - Transmit the gain of your antenna along with the position data. Time Stamp - Enter either the DHM or HMS format to transmit the current UTC time as a time stamp.

Data Extension - Select Off - nothing is transmitted; Data -Power/Height/Gain/Diorectivity are sent in addition to the data; Course/Speed - Course and speed data are sent in addition to the data while the object is moving.

Height - Transmit the height of your antenna along with position data.

Directivity - Transmit the directivity of the antenna that is being used for a base station in addition to position data.

Comment - Enter and select a comment to be transmitted with position data.

Symbol - Set the symbol character fro the radio to send. The symbol generally represents your means of transportation or location.

Name - Set an object station name of up to 9 characters to transmit in addition to position data.

Enter details for Latitude, Longitude, Altitude, Course, and Speed to be sent according to the Data Extension selection.

# Weather

SSID - Select a designation to be added to your callsign to assist in identifying a station's type. The options include

-- If a callsign includes a space, the space will be changed to "-" and a character after the space will be used as the SSID

(-0) No SSID is added. If a callsign includes a space, any character or digit after the space will be deleted.

- (-1 to -15) Adds an SSID of -1 to -15 to your call sign.
- (-A to -Z) Adds an SSID of -A to -Z to your call sign.

Time Stamp - Enter either the DHM or HMS format to transmit the current UTC time as a time stamp.

Comment - Enter and select a comment to be transmitted with position data.

Symbol - Set the symbol character fro the radio to send. The symbol generally represents your means of transportation or location.

**GPS Speed**: Selects the speed at which the data will be transmitted during packet operations. Options are 4800 bps (default) and 9600 bps.

Units: Selects display units for distance and elevation from Meters and Feet.

**Compass**: Selects compass indication type from "Arrow Head (default), North Ref and South Ref.

UTC Offset: Set the UTC offset for your location in hours and minutes.

**GPS Datum**: Selects the GPS datum (country/area code) from 0 (default) to 224. If wrong GPS datum (country/area code) is set, the position measuring accuracy may be poor.

**GPS Alarm**: Set the GPS alarm to sound when your own position is close the specified area. This function can be set for the received channel, a specified GPS memory channel, all GPS memory channels, or a specified memory bank.

Note: • When "RX" or Channel is selected for the alarm functions the action of the alarm depends on the setting for Alarm Area 2. • When "ALL" or a memory bank is selected for the alarm function the action of the alarm depends on the Alarm Area 1 setting.

Alarm Channel: The GPS channel, 1-99, to be used with the alarm function.

**Unproto Address**: A 56-character data string used during GPS-A operations.

**Data Extension**: Select from COURSE/SPEED and OFF (default) for the data extension. The transceiver's course and speed information is transmitted with position data when COURSE/SPEED is selected.

**Time Stamp**: Set transmitting time stamp type format. This function can be transmitted in UTC (Universal Time Coordinated) time only. Select from

<u>OFF</u>: No time stamp is transmitted. (default)

<u>DHM</u>: Time stamp in the format of Day, Hour and Minute is transmitted.

HMS: Time stamp in the format of Hour, Minute and Second is transmitted

**GPS-A Symbol**: Selects the GPS-A symbol to identify you to a receiving station. Several symbols are available. If Other is selected, check the symbol codes of APRS, and enter it correctly in the Other Symbol field of the Programmer.

**Comment**: Program up to a 43-character comment that is transmitted with the GPS position data. Note: Use the Comment Extension field to enter the comment when Data extension is set to Course/Speed.

**Comment Extension**: Use to program a 36 character comment when Data Extension is set to Course/Speed.

# 6.7 Settings - DTMF/ Network

# **DTMF Settings**

Store into memory up to 16 often used DTMF codes to use with autodial or to access digital functionality on repeaters.

- **DTMF** Enter up to 24 digits. Valid digits are 0 to 9 and A to F. Use E for \* and F for #
- **Speed** Select the speed at which the characters are sent. When sent too quickly, a character may be missed by the repeater causing the connection to fail.
- Selected DTMF Channel Select the channel to use immediately after programming the radio with this file. This value changes on the radio when another DTMF channel is selected.

# **Network**

Set options for the radio to work as a device on your local Internet network. Details for all these options are found in the Basic Users Manual for the radio.

Work carefully especially if you plan to control your radio remotely.

# 6.8 Settings \_ Connectors

**External Speaker** - (External Speaker Separate) Sets the audio output when an external speaker is connected. Set to:

Separate - The Main band audio is output from the EXT-SP Main jack and the Sub band audio is output from the EXT-SP Sub jack.

Mix - Mix and output the audio of the Main and Sub bands.

Headphone L/R Mix - Set the audio output when headphones are connected. Set to:

Separate - The Main band audio is output to the left side and the Sub band audio is output to the right side of the headphones.

Mix - Mix and output the audio of the Main and Sub bands.

Auto - Output is tied to display. With Sub displayed, the main band audio is output from the left side and the Sub band audio is output from the right side. The the Sub band is not displayed, the main band audio is output from both sides of the headphones.

**Headphone Level** - Set the radio of the audio output level between the headphone and the internal speaker.

**ACC Send Output** - Select whether or not to switch the SEND terminal output level of the [ACC] socket to the Low level during transmissions. This is an Off (unchecked) or On (checked) option for each band.

External Keyer - Check to enable external keypad functionality.

Voice - Use the keypad to enable voice memory transmissions.

Keyer - Use the keypad to enable keyer memory transmissions.

RTTY - Use the keypad to enable RTTY memory transmissions.

## CI-V

Set options that pertain to the CI-V jack on the radio.

**Transceive** - Check to enable transceive functionality. With this feature engaged, changing a setting on this radio will trigger the same change on other connected transceivers or receivers.

**Baud Rate** - Set the CI-V data transfer rate. When set to Auto, the bard rate is set automatically according to the date rate of the connected controller.

Note: Most of today's computers and electronic devices work better at faster baud rates. Try 19200 bps before moving down to through 9600 or 4800 bps. Remember, at 4800 bps, large files could take hours to transfer.

**Address** - Set the CI-V address for this device. Using different addresses allows you to connect more than one device to a computer and gives your programs and other devices a way to tell them apart.

**USB Port** - Select the internal connection type. The options include:

Link to - This internally links the USB and Remote CI-V ports internally. Note: This option could interfere with the Cloning process if something is connected to the other port.

Unlink - The USB and Remote CI-V ports each function independently.

**USB/LAN Address** - Set the address used to remotely control the radio through the USB or LAN port. The signal for external equipment control is put out from the Remote jack. This address is used with commands that are sent to the radio over the internet rather than those from a connected computer.

**USB Echo Back** - Check to engage the Echo Back function. This option is needed by some other applications. It should be clear in their instructions if this option should be engaged. There is another option for Data Echo back that may also or alternately need to be set.

**USB Baud Rate** - Select the speed for data transfer through the USB port.

Note: Most of today's computers and electronic devices work better at faster baud rates. Try the higher rates before moving down to through 9600 or 4800 bps. Remember, at 4800 bps, large files could take hours to transfer

**Data Echo Back** - Check to engage the Echo Back function for data being sent between the radio and an external source. This option is needed by some other applications. It should be clear in their instructions if this option should be engaged. There is also a USB Echo Back function that may also or alternately need to be set.

Data Baud Rate - Set the speed for data transfer through the Data jack.

Note: Most of today's computers and electronic devices work better at faster baud rates. Try the higher rates before moving down to through 9600 or 4800 bps. Remember, at 4800 bps, large files could take hours to transfer

# ACC AF/IF Output

Output Select - Select the AF or IF output for the ACC socket.

AF/SQL Output Select - Select whether the signal is from Main or Sub

AF SQL - Check to output AF Squelch when Output Select is set to AF.

**AF Output Level** - Set the output level of the AF signal.

IF Output Level - Set the output level of the IF signal.

**AF Beep/Speech Output** - Check to engage beep and speech audio output through the ACC jack when the output select is set to AF.

# **USB AF/IF Output**

Output Select - Select the AF or IF output for the USB port.

**AF SQL** - Check to output AF Squelch when Output Select is set to AF.

**AF Beep/Speech Output** - Check to engage beep and speech audio output through the USB port when the USB Output Select is set to AF.

**AF Output Level** - Set the output level of the AF signal.

IF Output Level - Set the output level of the IF signal.

# LAN AF/IF Output

Output Select - Select the AF or IF output for the LAN connection.

**AF SQL** - Check to output AF Squelch when Output Select is set to AF.
## **Modulation Input**

**Data Off Modulation** - Select the connector(s) to input the modulation signal when the data mode is Off. This option controls performance in SSB, AM and FM modes.

**Data Modulation** - Select the connector(s) to input the modulation signal when the data mode is On. This option controls performance in SSB, AM and FM modes.

ACC Modulation Level - Set the modulation input level of the ACC jack.

**USB Modulation Level** - Set the modulation input level of the USB port.

LAN Modulation Level - Set the modulation input level of the LAN connection.

## USB(B) Port

The radio has 2 virtual com ports, A and B. When connecting to a USB port on your PC, the ports are named USB(A) and USB(B). The options here control the functions of the USB(B) port. The USB(A) port is used for programming or for CI-V operations.

**USB(B) Function** - Select which function will be performed on the USB(B) port. Options include

Off - The USB(B) port is not functioning.

RTTY Decode - Outputs the decoded data of the RTTY signal.

DV Data - Input or output low speed data for the DV mode.

**Data Function** - Set the function to be assigned to the Data jack (2.5mm jack). Options include:

Off - No function is assigned to the Data jack.

RTTY Decode - Outputs the decoded data of the RTTY signal.

DV Data - Inputs or outputs low speed data for the DV mode.

GPS/Weather - Selects when connecting a GPS receiver.

CI-V - Inputs or Outputs CI-V commands. (Programming is not done through these commands).

**GPS Out** - Select whether or not to output the position data to the USB(B) when the GPS receiver is connected to the Data jack.

Note: This selection is part of the functionality of the radio only when USB(B) is set to Off/DV Data and Data function is set to GPS/Weather.

**Baud Rate** - Set baud rate for DV Data/GPS and RITTY output.

## USB Dial / Send

Settings for the terminal used for data communications when you operate the radio from software on the PC.

Note: When you connect the radio to a PC with a USB cable, two com ports are created on the PC. To confirm UAB(A)/USB(B), open the com port properties in Device Manager and confirm the value of the details tab.

**USB Send** -Set the USB terminal of the radio to receive the SEND signal from the software on the PC. Set the same terminal as the terminal set by the software. Options include:

Off - The SEND signal is not used by the radio.

USB(A) DTR - Data Terminal Ready on USB(A)

- USB(A) RTS Ready to Send on USB(A).
- USB(B) DTR Data Terminal Ready on USB(B)
- USB(B) RTS Ready to Send on USB(B).

**USB Keying (CW and RTTY)** - Set the USB terminal of the radio to receive the CW or RTTY Keying signal from the software on the PC. Select the same terminal as the terminal set by the software. Options are the same as those in USB Send.

Note: The options of USB Send has priority over what is set here.

#### 6.9 Settings \_ Filter Settings

112

## **Pass Band Filters**

Pass Band Tuning electronically narrows the IF pass band width to reject interference by shifting the IF frequency slightly outside the IF filter pass band.

In the tables, set the cutoff edges with PBT1 and PBT2 for each mode on each band.

The programmable values differ depending on the value of the passband width and the operating mode. The edge of the programmable range is half of the pass band width. The value is adjusted in 50 Hz steps for SSB, SSB-D, CW and RTTY modes and in 200 Hz steps for AM.

## **IF Filter Shape**

Set the IF Filter Shape for SSB, SSB-D, and CW modes. The shape selection includes Sharp and Soft.

Note: The Users Manual for the radio lists more modes than are available for this option. Working with the radio, we believe the manual to be wrong (things happen between writing files and final radio design). While Icom has the final say on the design of the radio, RT Systems works to reflect the radio as designed.

## 6.10 Settings \_ CW/RTTY

## CW

Set options that pertain to the CW operations of the radio

**Mic Up/Down Keyer** - Check to enable CW keying using the up/down keys of the microphone.

**Side Tone Level Limit** - Check to engage functionality that will limit sidetone volume to a point that will not be exceeded even when the AF knob is turned further.

**Break In** - Set the Break-In function that automatically toggles the transceiver between transmit and receive when keying. Options include:

Off - the function is not engaged.

Semi - The radio transmits when keying then automatically returns to receive after the break-in delay period has expired after you cease keying.

Full - The radio transmits when keying then automatically returns to receive immediately after you stop keying.

**Break-In Delay** - The amount of time between when you cease keying and when the radio returns to receive mode. Used by the radio when Break-In option is set to Semi.

**Key Speed** - Select the keying speed for the internal electronic keyer. Higher numbers are faster speeds.

another option for Data Echo back that may also or alternately need to be set.

**Pitch** - Set the pitch for the sound hear through the local speaker of the CW being sent and received.

**Number Style** - Select the numbering system used for contest serial numbers. Options include

Off - the function is not engaged and no abbreviations are used.

190 > ANO - Sets 1 as A, 9 as N and 0 as O.

190 > ANT - Sets 1 as A, 9 as N and 0 as T.

90 > NO - Sets 9 as N and 0 as O.

90 > ANT - Sets 9 as N and 0 as T.

**Count Up Trigger** - Select a number of the memory keyer. sending the contents of the selected memory keyer automatically increments the contest serial number by 1. Select M1 through M8.

**Preset Number** - Set the current contest serial number.

Dot/Dash Ratio -Set the ratio of the Dash to the Dot/Space.

**Keyer Repeat Time** - Set the CW transmission interval. Use of this option is triggered from the face of the radio. Touch the memory keyer number (M1 - M8) for 1 second to transmit the contents repeatedly at the programmed interval.

**Keyer Type** - Select the keyer type to be connected to the KEY jack on the back of the radio. Options include Straight, Bug and Paddle.

**Paddle Polarity** - Set for right or left dots and dashes. Options include:

Normal - Right = Dash / Left = Dot

Reverse - Right = Dot / Left = Dash

**Rise Time** - Set the rise time of the transmitted envelope. Adjustments to this option affects the sound of the CW signal at the receiving station.

Side Tone Level - The audio level of the tone heard during CW operations.

**Memory Keyer** - Eight preset messages that are sent automatically when triggered from the face of the radio.

#### RTTY

**Decode Log** - Check to save the transmitted or received data as a log on the SD card.

**Decode USOS** - Check to engage the letter code decoding capability after receiving a space.

**Tx USOS** - Check to explicitly insert the FIGS character even though it is not required by the receiving station.

**Decode New Line** - Select the new line code for the internal RTTY decoder. Options include: CR,LF,CR+LF - Makes a new line with any of these codes.

CR+LF Makes a new line only with CR+LF code.

#### Note: CR = Carriage return / LF = Line feed

**File Type** - Select the file type for the log to which transmitted or received data is saved to the SD card. Options include Text or HTML.

Keying Polarity - Set to control the order of mark and space.

**Mark Frequency** - Set the RTTY mark frequency. Options include 1275Hz, 1615Hz or 2125Hz.

# Note: Then the internal RTTY decoder is used, the mark frequency is automatically set to 2125Hz.

**Twin Peak Filter** - Check to engage the RTTY twin peak filter. The twin peak filter changes the audio frequency response by boosting the mark and space frequencies for better RTTY reception.

# Note: When RTTY Mark frequency is set to a value other than 2125 Hz and RTTY Shift Width is set to a valye other than 170 Hz the twin peak filter is automatically turned off and you cannot change the settings.

**Display Chars TX(Sat)** - Control display of RTTY characters during satellite operations. Options include:

Rx - Displays decoded characters. Does not display transmitted characters.

Tx - Displays transmitted characters. The decoded character are not displayed while you are transmitting a RTTY signal.

**Time Stamp** - Check to enable writing the time stamp (date, transmission or reception time) in the decode log.

**Time Stamp (frequency)** - Check to include frequency information with other details in the decode log.

**Shift Width** - Set the RTTY shift frequency. When the internal RTY decoder is used, the shift frequency is automatically set to 170Hz.

Time Stamp (Time) - Select local or UTC time format for the log.

Threshold Level - Set the RTTY decoder threshold level.

FFT Scope Averaging - Set the FFT scope waveform averaging function.

Note: Use the default r smaller FFT scope waveform number for tuning.

FFT Scope Waveform Color - Select a color for the scope waveform.

Font Color (Receive) - Select a color for display of received characters.

Font Color (Transmit) - Select a color for display of transmitted characters.

**RTTY TX Memory** - Enter messages to be sent automatically with minimal button presses from the face of the radio.



## 7 Radio / Computer File Transfer

Data flow two ways: from the computer to the radio or from the radio to the computer. Even when you are sending a file to the radio, some data must be sent from the radio to the computer to ensure that the two are "talking" before transfer of the file ever gets started.

In either case, **be sure to follow the directions presented on the screen carefully**. The wrong button press can result in a communications failure that could reset your radio to factory defaults.

Details for this process are contained in these sections:

<u>Communications | Get Data From</u> - Always the best place to start. Even if there is nothing in your radio. It gets the data "flowing" between the two.

<u>Communications | Send Data To</u> - This process programs the radio with the details of the file that is on the screen. If the file is blank, you will have a blank radio. Be sure you see your frequencies on the screen before you start this part of the process.

<u>Radio to Computer Cabling</u> - Check the photos to be sure you are using the correct cabling for your radio.

<u>Comport Setup</u> - There is no comport setup in Version 4. The Programmer automatically finds the *RT Systems* USB cable for you.

## 7.1 Communications | Get Data From

Uploads the contents of the radio memory to the computer. This function is often referred to as "reading" the radio since memory information is "read" from the radio.

This step is recommended before the first file is sent to the radio; however, it is not a requirement. Files with frequency information can be created in the Programmer without executing this step.

## "The data from the radio will overwrite this file. Continue?"

This message will be raised by the programmer when you select Communications | Get data from radio with a file open that is not a new (default) file into which no entries have been made.

This message is warning you that you will replace any information you have entered with whatever is in the radio. The "whatever" could be all blank channels.

Answer "yes" if you want to lose all the information that appears on the screen. Answer "no" if you don't want to lose several hours of work spent creating the file on the screen. To prevent loss of information, first do File | New to open a new (default) file. Then while looking at that file, do Communications | Get data from radio and complete that process. Your file will drop to the background and be protected from during this part of the process.

Once you complete Communications | Get data from radio, return to your file a) select the tab at the top of the page; or b) select File | Open and open the file from the list presented (if you closed it some time during the process.)

## The Get Data From process (reading the radio)

- Connect the cables properly to the radio. See the <u>Radio to Computer</u> <u>Cabling</u> section of this Help for details of that cabling.
- The USB-29A (Blue) cable connects to the speaker jack on the back of the radio.
- The USB-RTS05 (Orange) cable connects to the data jack on the front of the radio.

- Be sure the battery is charged completely or that you are connected to an external power source before beginning this process. Loss of power during communications may result in a reset radio.
- The screen that opens has details for completing the process to get data from the radio (read the radio).

## Read the screen carefully. The steps differ with each model. All the steps you need to do are listed on this screen.

*Note: When using the USB-RTS05 the cable attaches to the Data jack on the front of the radio. The plug size of the USB-RTS05 will help you identify the correct jack on the radio for the connection.* 

<ol> <li>Turn the radio off.</li> </ol>		
2: Insert the cloning	cable into the E	ar/Speaker jack.
3: Turn the radio on.		
4: Click OK to receiv	e data from the	radio.

 A transfer status bar is displayed immediately on the computer screen to let you know that the computer is receiving the data from the radio. If the "blue bar" does not appear and fill immediately, cancel the process and try again.

*Note: If the "blue bar" does not appear and begin to fill <u>immediately</u>, <i>the first steps in troubleshooting are as follows:* 

- Do NOT turn the radio off. Do these steps exactly as listed here.
- Cancel the process on the computer.
- Once the screen closes, select Communications | Get Data From radio from the main page of the Programmer.
- When the screen opens, skip to step 4 and click OK without doing anything on the radio.

When the Get Data From process is complete, the Programmer will return to the spreadsheet of the main window where the information taken from the radio is displayed. This information is ready to be edited and saved.

The radio can remain connected to the computer while changes are being made in the Programmer. These changes are not reflected in the radio until you complete the Send Data To process in the Programmer. Leave the radio in CLONE mode or turn it off while it is connected to the radio. If it is on in normal mode, it may "act funny" since the PTT line is active in the programming cabling.

If you are doing major editing, turn the radio off and remove the cloning cable. Then return to the Programmer for editing the file. Once your editing is complete, connect the radio to the computer and complete the Send Data To process to transfer the changes to the radio.

## Troubleshooting

- Other than the lcom IC-R10, at the time of this writing, lcom radios are NOT put into CLONE mode for programming. CLONE mode is used only when you transfer data from one radio to another. The process for programming the radio from the computer is simple. When the instructions say to "Turn the radio on", do just that, press the power button to turn it on. If pressing a key is needed as a part of this step, it will be included with the instructions on the Get Data From screen.
- "Nothing" happens when I press the button indicated on the second screen of the Get Data From process.

If this is "nothing on the radio", check that your keys are not locked. Turn the radio off. Unlock the keys. Then turn the radio back on in CLONE mode and try again.

If this is "nothing on the computer" (i.e., the transfer status bar does not appear and begin to fill), check the cable connections between the radio and the computer.

- Other details for general troubleshooting can be found in the *Troubleshooting* section of this Help.
- Should the problem persist, contact *RT Systems* for personal assistance.

## 7.2 Communications | Send Data To

Sends the contents of the current file and the settings file to the radio.

#### Connect the radio to the computer

#### **Current File**

The Programmer can work with several radio files at one time. There is no need to close extra files before executing the Send Data To process. The current file will be sent to the radio during the Send Data To process.

The current file is the one that appears in the main window of the Programmer. Basically, what you see on the screen is what is sent to the radio.

#### **Settings File**

Check your global menu settings under Settings | Radio Menu Settings to be sure the right information is being sent. The items on this screen are the radio settings that are not associated with a specific memory channel.

These settings are set once to be sent to the radio with any frequency file that you create. Details on these settings can be found in the <u>Radio Menu Settings</u> section of this Help.

If the radio "acts funny" after it is programmed,

- Check the Radio Menu Settings found under Settings | Radio Menu Settings. These are global settings that are not tied to any one memory channel. When you program your radio with a file from the computer, these settings go with the memory channel details.
- Make changes to the settings as needed.
- Save the settings file.

• Do Communications | Send Data To with the same memory channel file. The menu settings will be sent with the memory channel information.

#### Completing the "Send Data To" Process

When you execute the Communications | Send Data To command, you are presented with instruction for putting the radio into clone mode.

Read the screen carefully. The steps differ with each model. Pressing the wrong button will result in no response or the wrong response for the process.

Follow the steps on this screen. When you click OK a progress bar appears immediately letting you know that the process is being completed.

When the transfer is complete, the transfer status window disappears and the Programmer returns to the Main Window.

With the radio off, remove the cloning cable. The radio is ready to power-up and use with the newly programmed settings.

Note: The radio may be in VFO mode even after it is programmed. This is a normal mode of the radio and the one you found it in the first time you turned it on. Press the [M/Call] key to put the radio into memory mode.

## Troubleshooting

Communications | Get Data From Radio required first



The first time you attempt to send your file to the radio, this message may appear.

This indicates that you have not read the configuration of the radio into the Programmer.

There are details that the Programmer can get only from the radio. Even if the radio is not yet programmed, these "background" details are necessary for the Programmer to send a file to your radio successfully.

To complete this process:

- 1) Select File | New from the menu at the top of the screen.
- 2) Turn off the radio.

3) Select Communication | Get Data From Radio from the menu at the top of the screen.

4) Complete the process detailed on the screen.

5) Once the process is complete, click the tab at the top of the screen showing your filename. The file that you want to send to the radio will be displayed on the screen.

6) Select Communications | Send Data To Radio from the menu at the top of the screen.

7) Complete the process following each step carefully to program these channels into the radio.

#### **Modified Radio**

If your radio has been modified, you need to read from the radio (Get Data From) into a new file before you attempt to write data to the radio. When the Get Data From process is used, even if the radio is not yet programmed, the Programmer gets the data it needs to know that the radio is modified.

When you use Get Data From for the sake of establishing communications, you need to save the file ONLY if you want to save the memory data that is currently in the radio. The Programmer already has what it needs. The option to save is available should you want to save the pre-programmed data.

#### The radio is not programmed after the process is complete

This could indicate several things. Most of those are specific to the radio. The most general error is not an error in programming; but the need to put the radio into Memory mode once programming is complete. Many of the radios return to VFO when they are programmed. Press the appropriate key on the radio (See the operating manual for your specific model to identify the key press that changes the radio from VFO to memory mode. It will be detailed there.) Once in memory mode the information programmed will be available for use.

Several of the radios are not programmed when the download process is complete. These radios have encountered an error during the programming process. Try the process again. If it continues to fail, first, be sure you are using the latest version of the Programmer by updating from the Check for Update link under Help in the menu of the main screen of the Programmer. If the problem persists, send the file that you are attempting to send to the radio. We will examine it for any problem that might exist in the data.

Check the cabling between the radio and the computer by disconnecting and reconnecting at all connections. Try the process again.

#### If you have problems sending a certain file to the radio

Cancel the Send Data To process and execute Get Data From. Be sure to open a New file (File | New) into which the data will be read from the radio. This prevents loss of data in the file that you are sending to the radio. Getting data from the radio is a less critical process that can help get communications established.

The radio must be connected to the computer with the proper cables for that radio. See <u>Radio to Computer Cabling</u> in this Help for details and pictures.

Other than the lcom IC-R10, at the time of this writing, lcom radios are NOT put into CLONE mode for programming. CLONE mode is used only when you transfer data from one radio to another.

The process for programming the radio from the computer is simple. When the instructions say to "Turn the radio on", do just that, press the power button to turn it on. If pressing a key is needed as a part of this step, it will be included with the instructions on the Get Data From screen.

If necessary, contact *RT* Systems' tech support for assistance.

## 7.3 Radio to Computer Cabling

128

The radio must be connected to the computer with the proper cables for that radio.

The IC-9700 uses a USB-A to USB-B cable. Be sure to give the Silicon Lab drivers time to load when you first connect the radio.

## 7.4 Comport Setup

In the RT Systems programmers there is **NO** comport setup. The software finds the USB cable automatically.

## Troubleshooting

When I select Communications | Send Data To, I get the following error:

Communication Error	x
Please check that the RT Systems cable i	is securely in the USB Port.
	ОК

Be sure to give the computer enough time to do its internal setup once the cable is attached. On some machines this can take up to a minute (a long time in computer time). Once the cable is ready for use, the program will continue into the steps for transferring data between the radio and the computer.

Follow the steps carefully. They are unique to each radio and different for the same radio for Get Data From or Send Data To.



## 8 Copying From an Excel Spreadsheet

The Programmer can handle information copied from an Excel spreadsheet.

Although this process is valid for transferring data between these programs, it is not recommended for original file creation. It can be tedious getting all the information into the original Excel file that you are copying from. For example, why struggle to find information for the offset frequency and offset direction for your Excel list when the programmer will complete this information automatically when frequencies are entered there.

Limitations for use of another commercial spreadsheet program include:

- The spreadsheet program will know none of the limitations of the radio. It will allow you to enter any value in any space. You will have to enter transmit and receive frequencies, CTCSS tones, and DCS codes carefully to be sure they are imported correctly to the radio.
- You will need to organize your data carefully. The Programmer will import all the items from a single column as the same thing. This can cause an odd split to be entered as Simplex or a non-standard offset to be ignored if non-similar data is listed in the same column.

Let the Programmer help you as you create your original file with its defaults and automatic settings. Once the file is created you could export the data for other uses.

## 8.1 Step 1

The Programmer makes no assumptions about the information being handed to it from the Excel file. You need to be familiar with the data in the file to the point you can identify that data to the programmer during the copy process.

## Step 1

Open the Excel file. Select and copy the information you want to put into the programmer.

6		() and ()							-	RepFreqs M	icrosoft Ex	cel				-			_	10.00	
P	Hane B	yard Pa	ge Layout F	comutas Da	ata A	leview Vite	Ý														. • ×
12	X Cut	N Cash	1		-		-tour		Connel				Non	la est	Red		-	9. 111	Σ AutoSum	· A	
	I Copy	Care	n .11	AA	_		-I.m	ap res	General			a 💷	r l aon	Then .	Dao				FIL*	Zr uru	1
Parte	🦪 Format Pai	nter B	I U	· · • •		- 二字(字)	Bille	rge & Center *	5 - %	· · 34 43	Formatt	onal Forma ing * as Tabl	Goo	d	Neutral	-	Intert	Delete Forwat	Q Clear *	Filter * Select	k L'
	Clipboard	G	Font	6		Alignm	ent	0	Nu	mber G				Styles				Cells	6	diting	
3	Sec.																				*
1	A 8	с	D	ε	F	6	н	1	J	к	L	M	N	0	р	Q	R	5	TU	J V	N
1																					
2	Receive	Transmit	Offset (kHz)	) Offset (Min	a: Mode	name		Tone/ No	CTSS												
4											_										
5	147.345		600 kHz	Plus	FM	FtP ARC		Tone	107.2												
6	146.955		600 kHz	Minus	FM	PSLARC		Tone	107.2												
7	147.060		600 kHz	Plus	FM	MCARA		Tone	107.2												
8	146.625		600 kHz	Minus	FM	HobeS		Tone	110.9												
2	146.315		600 kHz	Minus	FM	WPB EC		Tone	110.9												
10	145.370		600 kHz	Minus	FM	KL.		Tone	94.8												_
11	147.000	147.00	0		FM	MIA Tall		NoTone													_
12	147.270		600 kHz	Plus	PM	MIA open		NoTone													
13	146.640		600 KH2	Minus	FM	MIABCH		Tone	103.5												
15	444 950		5000 1442	Mur	63.6	DSI Echo		Topo	107.2												
16	443.975		5000 kHz	Plus	EM	WPR Echo		Tone	110.9												
17	443.625		3000 kHz	Plus	73.6	FIL Echo		Tone	110.5												
18	147.585		600 kHz	Plus	FM	Fill Echo		Tone	110.9												
12	411.425		5000 kHt	Plus	FM	Mia Echo		Tone	94.6												
20	442,100		5000 kHz	Plus	EM	KL Echo		Tone	94.8												
21																					
22	147.060		600 kHz	Plus	FM	Key-Cudio		No Tone													
23	147.165		600 kHz	Plus	FM	Key-Largo		Tone	94.8												
24	146.670		600 kHz	Minus	FM	Key-BPK		Tone	94.8												
25	147.225		600 kHz	Plus	FM	Key-Mara		Tone	94.8												
26	146.715		600 kHz	Minus	FM	Key-Plan		Tone	94.8												
27																					
28																					
29																					
30																					
31																					-
16 6 9	E Sheet1	Sheet2	Sheet3 2	7																_	
Ready					_			_						Aserag	r: 366.2590789	Count: 13	6 Sum	1318.225	1 10 100% (*	0 0	•

#### 8.2 Step 2

Open the Programmer to which the data is to be pasted.

It is recommend that you import into a new file to prevent loss of data from an existing file. Channel information can be copied to an existing file, and put exactly where you want it, after the process of copying from Excel is complete.

Note: The FT-60 is used here as an example. The process works the same for any RT Systems programmer (Version 4 or higher). Column names shown in the screen shots of this example may differ or not be available for your particular radio.



## 8.3 Step 3

Paste: Press Ctrl V or right click and select Paste or select Edit then Paste from the menu at the top of the screen.

A window opens to complete the process.

	068	98	M 24 1	8																			
PT-60 Untitle	di X																						_
Receive 1 Frequency Fr	Trananik reguency P	Officet	Offset Direction	Openating Mode	None	Show Name	Tone Mode	CTESS	DCS	Stip	Step	Clock. Shift	Power	Narow	Pager Enable	Bank 1	Bank.2	Bark 3	Bask.4	Bank 5	Bark 6	Bank.7	
430.00000 4	100000.001	-	inplex 🖵	4440 🖵		1	Neve 🖵	100 0 Hz 🖵	83 🖬	08 🕞	4.0 -	1	High 🖵	-	0		1	0	20		10	1	F
	-	-	_			10	-		-			-8-			-8-	8		8	8	8	- 8-	- 11	t
						13						10		- E	0	10	1	10	10	1	10	1	
		-				- 13-	-					-8		-8-	- 8	- 8-		- 8-	- 8-	- 8-			
	-					1						1		-	8	1	1	8	1	-	- 6	1	t
						10						10		10	0	10	10	0	10	1	- 10	20	
						17	-				-	-8-			-8-			-8-			- 8-	- 11	ł
						10						0		10	0	0	1	6	10	1	6	1	t
	-					- []	6	monet Step 2	-14			-		122	<u>ъ</u> 9–			8		-	- 0-		Ŧ
-	-	-				- 19		officer such a				_		-	18-	8	8	8	8		-8-	8	t
						1		Calumbrid .	Adventure						10	13	13		23	13	10	10	
-	-	-				12		Parlacture	Jonney.						2	10		- 2	20	1	- 22	21	ł
	-					17		in Tab	(1) Samiral		0	geat conso	sutive delimiter	an one	10	10	1	8	1	1	6	1	t
						12		() Coarse	C mpro			led Quelle	Disnel		0	- 0	1	0	20	13		2	
	-	-				- 18-		C Bere	0.244				(preset		18	8	8	8	8		-8-	1	t
						13		Law -							0	- 23	1	0	10	- E	13	10	
-	-					- 13-		Column 1	Courn 2	Column 3	Column 4 Colu	mm 5 Celu	m 6 Calumn	/ 01	8-	8		<u> </u>	-8-		- 8-		ł
	-					10			145 955		SOCIEMO Mos	<ul> <li>FM</li> </ul>	PSL AR	c 1	10	- 21	1	10	10	1	10	1	t
						1			147,060		500 kHz Plus	FM	MCARA		0	10	0	0	1	1	0	1	Ţ
	-					-8-			146.625		500 kHz Minu	e FM	HobeS		18	8		-8-	8	8	-8-	- 8-	t
						13			145.315		SOCIEME: Minu	a 114	WPE E		12	10	1	10	1		15	1	t
_	_					13								,	0			0		-	0	-	Ŧ
	-					- 8									18-	8	- 8-	-8-	- 8-		-8-	- 8-	t
						1				< Back	Not >	0	ancel	Help	10	10	1	10	1	1	23	1	
-	-	-				- 12				-				-	18-	- 8-	- 8-	8	- 8-	8	-2-	- 8-	÷
						17					-	10		1	8	10	1	10	1	1	15	1	t
							_					0		<u> </u>				0	1		0	1	Ţ
	-					- 12						8			-8-	8	8	8			- 2	- 11	
						1						10		Ē	10	10	Ē	10	2	1	B	1	1
						1						1		0	- 21	2	-	10	2	-		1	ŧ
-		-				1	-					8		8	8	8	8	8	1		8	1	ł
						17						10		13	6	0	1	10		-	10	1	1
						13								-		0		0	23				ŧ
		-				8						- 14	-	8	8	8	8	8	1	E .	- 8-	1	t
						1						10		1	6	10	10	10	10	1	10	10	1
						1						1		0	0	0	1	0	1	-		2	Į

## 8.4 Step 4

136

On this screen, you may need to use the Text Qualifier to remove quotes from your data.

The data should be appear as it does in this image: without quotes and separated into columns.

Delimiters Tab <u>Space</u>	<mark>⊘ Sem</mark> ice	olon ©	<u>C</u> omma	Treat ( Text Q	consecutive ualifier {No	delimiter as o one} 🔻	one
Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column 5	Column 6	Column 7	C
	147.345		600 kHz	Plus	FM	FtP ARC	
	146.955		600 kHz	Minus	FM	PSL ARC	
	147.060		600 kHz	Plus	FM	MCARA	
	146.625		600 kHz	Minus	FM	HobeS	
	146.315		600 kHz	Minus	FM	WPB EC	
•							÷.

Click Next to continue.

## 8.5 Step 5

In this step of the process, you identify the information in your spreadsheet for the programmer. The programmer attempts to identify the columns based on the headers that you have for the columns in your original file.

The programmer makes no assumptions and will set any non-matched column to "Ignore". The data in an ignored column will not be used in this process.

Click o	on column h	neader to s	select.	_		e neade	rs	
Then s	select the c	olumn nar	me from the d	Iropdown	<i>li</i> st. / [			
To ski	p a column	during imp	oort set head	er to "igno	ore"/.	$\langle \rangle$		
		/	/	/	/		1	
Ignore	Ignore	Ignore	Ignore	Ignore	Ignore	Ignore	Ignore	Ignc
	147.345		600 kHz	Plus	FM	RtP ARC		Ton
	146.955		600 kHz	Minus	FM	PSL ARC		Ton
	147.060		600 kHz	Plus	FM	MCARA		Ton
	146.625		600 kHz	Minus	FM	HobeS		Ton
	146.315		600 kHz	Minus	FM	WPB EC		Ton
•								•

Click on colu Then select To skipte co	umn header to the column na olumn during im	m - PICK t select. me from the d port set head	Iropadown er to "igna	list.	Column 2 Ignore Ignore Channel Number Receive Frequency
Ignore 147 146	Ignore .345 .955	lgnore 600 kHz 600 kHz	Ignore Plus Minus	Ignore FM FM	Offset Frequency Offset Direction Operating Mode Name Show Name
147 146 146	.060 .625 .315	600 kHz 600 kHz 600 kHz	Plus Minus Minus	FM FM FM	Tone Mode CTCSS DCS Skip Step
		< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext	>	Clock Shift Tx Power Tx Narrow Pager Enable Bank 1

The column header changes to show your selection. Be sure to identify each of the columns you want used. The data in an "ignored" column will be set to defaults in the resulting file. Your specifics will not be used (the information will be ignored).

You ONLY need Receive frequency to import. The programmer will set everything else for the channel to defaults which means you will lose other important information (names, tones, etc.) if you don't take the time to tell the programmer that this information is available in the file.

Clic The To s	k on column en select the skip a colum	heade colunn i n duing i	o select. name from mport set	n the disordow t header to	vn list. poore ":	Column 1 CTCSS	0		•
ns	Offset F	Offs	Ope	Name	Ignore	Tone	СТС	Ignore	-
	600 kHz	Plus	FM	FtP ARC		Tone	107.2		-
	600 kHz	Minus	FM	PSL ARC		Tone	107.2		
	600 kHz	Plus	FM	MCARA		Tone	107.2		
	600 kHz	Minus	FM	HobeS		Tone	110.9		
	600 kHz	Minus	FM	WPB EC		Tone	110.9		-
•					111	-		F	

Click Next to continue.

## 8.6 Step 6

Complete the options on the final screen and click Finish.

Startin	g radio memory 1	V	Overwrite existing o	hannels
Avai	able Channels: 999 Total Channels: 1000		Show only selected Show only valid free	l columns quencies
Char	nnels Selected: 22	Sele	ect All Dese	elect All
Ignore	Receive Frequency	Transmit Frequency	Offset Frequency	Offset Directio
<b>V</b>	147.345		600 kHz	Plus
1	146.955		600 kHz	Minus
1	147.060		600 kHz	Plus
1	146.625		600 kHz	Minus
1	146.315		600 kHz	Minus
•				+

The resulting file contains the data just as it was in the Excel spreadsheet.

	Receive Featurev	Transnik Fransnik	Officer	Offset Direction	Operating Model	Name	Show	Tane Mode	CTCSS	DCS	Skip	Step 🔺
			-	-	-		Г		-			0.000
8	145.01000	146.01000	2	Simplex	FN		- E	None	88.5Hz	023	01	5kHz
3	440.00000	440.00000		Sinplex	FN		- E	None	88.5Hz	023	0/1	5kHz
3					227V			10000		x1010	1.5	207491
3	-						E					
4	200000	1000000	;	00000	1242			1000 C	2011	1.2.5	22	
8	145.66000	145,66000		Sinplex	FN		1	None	33.5Hz	023	00	15KH2
8	147 100000	147 88870	÷	Finales	-			Massa	00.81.0+	000	~	TELLIS
8	147.00000	141.00000		Destroy	FR		10	none	00.0 Mc	142.0	- On	IDINE
ŝ.	-						E			-		
							E					
à							E					
61							E .	1.00			1	
4	F H Mer	vories / Linit	Meniories	VFO Hom	0/		1	1		100		F State



## 9 Importing a file

The Programmer can Import data from delimited text files. These files can be created using the Export feature of the Programmer for another radio, Travel Plus for Repeaters by ARRL, commercial spreadsheet programs, or text editors.

Limitations for use of another commercial spreadsheet program include:

- The spreadsheet program will know none of the limitations of the radio. It will allow you to enter any value in any space. You will have to enter transmit and receive frequencies, CTCSS tones, and DCS codes carefully to be sure they are imported correctly to the radio.
- You will need to organize your data carefully. The Programmer will import all the items from a single column as the same thing. This can cause an odd split to be entered as Simplex or a non-standard offset to be ignored.

The easiest way to begin a text file for your Programmer is to Export a file from the Programmer first. In that exported file, you will see column headers for the details that the Programmer expects to import. You will also see the format of the information. You can edit or add to this file with any commercial spreadsheet program or text editor.

Note: The new features of the programmer include the ability to enter a series of channels by entering just a beginning frequency and the number to be entered, column editing, copy and paste of one or multiple rows of data, rearrangement of columns, hiding columns that need not be edited, and automatic completion of data based on band defaults for a frequency entered. Given that the programmer is designed for the data of the radio, you might find editing in the programmer easier than using another spreadsheet program.

The file to be imported must contain at a minimum Receive frequency to define a valid memory channel. The programmer will fill the rest of the details for that channel with defaults just as if that frequency had been entered.

The Programmer makes no assumptions about the information available. If a piece of information is omitted, the Programmer imports the memory as a simplex channel and fills other fields with defaults.

Although this process is very valid for transferring data from one radio Programmer to another and for using the data from other sources such as ARRL Travel Plus, it is not recommended for original file creation. It can be tedious getting all the information into the file to be imported just like the Programmer wants it. Let the Programmer help you as you create your original file with its defaults and automatic settings. Once the file is created you could export the data for other uses.
# 9.1 Creating a file for Import

# Checking a file to use with the Programmer

If you are given a file that you want to import into a programmer for use by your radio and are not sure if it is a "flat file", test the file by opening it with Windows notepad.

If the Notepad display is full of strange characters with very little legible text, this file is not ready to be imported by the programmer. The file may or may not be able to be used for import depending how it was created and saved.

Try opening the file in Microsoft Excel or other commercial spreadsheet program. If everything looks good there carefully save the file in as delimited text (this could be called several different things in the program that you are using. If the first one you try does not produce the file format that you want, try selecting a different File Type during the save process. The details for this process are included below for Microsoft Excel.

Open the file that you created during the save process in Notepad. As before, if the display is legible data separated by commas you are well on your way. If, however, the data appears in one very long line, you should return to the original source to extract the data with line feed breaks at the end of each record.

If the Notepad display has orderly lines of legible data separated by commas, it is ready for use by the programmer. It is fine if you see two commas right together. The process can handle a blank field.

# Saving an Excel file for import

If you work on a file in Excel for import to the programmer, that file must be saved as a comma delimited file before you leave Excel. The Programmer cannot import an Excel file with all its formatting codes. What it can work with is the "flat file" output of that file.

- In Excel, select File|Save as
- In the Save As window change the Save as Type to CSV (comma delimited) \*.csv
- Enter a file name for the output file. Pay attention to the drive and directory to which the file is being saved. You will need to be able to find the file later for use during import.

- Excel will raise a warning(s) about worksheets and formatting that will be lost if the file is saved in this format. Answer to the affirmative (OK or Yes) to the message(s);eliminating the formatting is exactly what you want.
- When you exit Excel, you will be asked again if you want to save the \*.csv file. If you have made no changes since you lost saved, answer No. If you have made changes, answer Yes and proceed through the warnings again to save the file again.

#### Limitations for use of another commercial spreadsheet program include:

- The spreadsheet program will know none of the limitations of the radio. It
  will allow you to enter any value in any space. You will have to enter transmit
  and receive frequencies, CTCSS tones, and DCS codes carefully to be
  sure they are imported correctly to the radio.
- You will need to organize your data carefully. The Programmer will import all the items from a single column as the same thing. This can cause an odd split to be entered as Simplex or a non-standard offset to be ignored if the data is not in a column labeled correctly or is mixed in with dissimilar data.

### The Import File

The Import function is designed to assimilate some if not all of the following pieces of information for use by the Programmer. As radio features vary, so will the information to be imported (i.e., frequency ranges, the way offsets are handled, special options such as mask, clock shift, etc.)

The very best way to begin an Import file is to export a file from the programmer. That will give you the headers for the columns that the programmer expects and formatting for the data in each.

Remember, you need only Receive frequency to import a file. All other details will be set to defaults for the field during the import process. As with all computer functions, the more information you can give it and the more accurate that information, the easier the process and the more accurate the results.

**Channel Number**: If your file has channel numbers and you opt to use this column during import, your resulting file might not be what you expect.

- If the "Overwrite existing channels" option is checked: The information will be inserted into the specific channel no matter what is in the file at that location now. While the channel numbers can help to organize the information being imported, it can result in data being overwritten in the process
- If the "Overwrite existing channels" option is unchecked: The information from the file being imported will be skipped if there is already information in the channel. The data in the existing radio file will not be overwritten.

### It is always recommended that you import into a new file to prevent data loss in an existing radio file. Once the information is in the programmer file, it can be copied into an existing file. With the copy process, you have more control of where the data is inserted into the file.

**Receive Frequency**: The very least a file must have to be imported is the receive frequency. This may be called the "output frequency" depending on whether you're referring to the radio or the repeater. If the column header is "Receive Frequency", the import process will recognize this label and identify the information automatically.

- Acceptable receive frequencies are detailed in the User's Manual for the radio. In the text file, the frequency should be entered in the format "MHz decimal kHz" (i.e., 146.450) with up to five digits following the decimal.
- Although, unacceptable frequencies can be entered into the text file, they will not be imported into the Programmer. They will result in a blank memory channel when import is completed.

**Transmit Frequency**: Enter a specific transmit frequency in the format "MHz decimal kHz" (i.e., 146.450) with up to five digits following the decimal.

### This information can be omitted from the file.

• If you are importing repeater information where all the repeaters have standard offsets (none operates on an "odd" split) the import process will calculate the Transmit Frequency from other information in the file.

*This information must be included in a separate column for an "odd split".* 

- The column cab be empty other than the specific information for those few "odd split" repeaters. The import process will calculate the Transmit Frequency from other information in the file for the other channels.
- Acceptable transmit frequencies are detailed in the manual for your radio.

### Note: In the Programmer you can enter details for frequencies outside the transmission abilities of the radio; however, the software will not enable transmission on these frequencies. Transmission will be possible only if the radio has been properly modified.

**Offset Frequency**: This is the amount that the Receive Frequency changes to produce the Transmit Frequency. Standard offsets in the programmer include 100, 500, and 600 kHz (0.1, 0.5 and 0.6 MHz) and 1.0, 1.6, 3.0, 5.0, and 7.6 MHz.

- In Yaesu radios any value in 50 kHz increments can be used as an offset (i.e., .650, .550, .050)
- In an Icom radio, there are no Splits. Everything must be entered with an exact Offset Frequency.
- The Offset Frequency is used by the radio along with the Offset Direction to calculate the Transmit Frequency. The Programmer does the same.
- This is one place that the import process will make an assumption for you. It uses 600 kHz for the offset for VHF and 5 MHz for the offset for UHF if no other offset is specified.

### **Non-Standard Offsets**

The Offset Frequency can be used in conjunction with Offset Direction for a value in 5 kHz steps (i.e., any value ending in .xx5 where x is any digit from 0 to 9). This gives you the ability to use the Reverse function of the radio although your frequency pair is not separated by a standard offset value. This is considered a non-standard offset.

To use a non-standard offset in your text file enter the Receive Frequency. Then the Offset Frequency as an exact value including the decimal to denote kHz. For example, given the pair 146.650 and 147.300, the Offset Frequency entered would be .650 (decimal six five zero). And the Offset Direction as Plus or Minus. With these three pieces of information, the import process will setup this memory channel correctly for use by the radio with the most functionality. Note: You may see this import with one of the standard Offset Frequencies; however, once the file is saved, closed and reopened, the Plus or Minus and the Offset Frequency value as entered will appear.

**Offset Direction**: The Offset Direction lets the Import process know whether to add (plus) or subtract (minus) the Offset Frequency from the Receive Frequency when calculating the Transmit Frequency for the memory channel.

Enter Plus, Minus, + or - for the process to recognize the command.

# NOTE: Be sure to use Offset Direction if your file contains + and &endash; in this column. Using Offset Frequency for this column will result in all channels being imported as simplex.

**Operating Mode**: Enter FM, AM, or WFM as appropriate for the frequency.

**Name**: Enter an Alpha/Numeric tag (up to 8 characters) for the memory channel to provide an easy reminder of the function of a particular frequency. Not all radios have this available for each memory channel. Consult your Users' Manual for details.

**Tone Mode**: Use of the tone systems of the radio allows for silent monitoring until a call is received with a corresponding tone. Tone mode also allows access to repeaters that are made private with a PL tone. Most radios offer CTCSS (Continuous Tone Coded Squelch System) or DCS (Digital Coded Squelch) to be tailored to your particular needs. Consult your Users' Manual for details specific to your model.

Use of either of the tone systems requires two steps. Your import file will handle these steps in THREE (3) columns.

• Step 1: Turning on Tone Mode

There are now so many different tone modes and combinations of them, we recommend that you use the designation just as it appears in the Programmer for your radio to identify the Tone Mode to be used. Examples would include but not be limited to:

- None Tone mode off
- Tone Encode
- T Sql Encode/Decode
- DCS DCS Tone
- Others specific to your radio as detailed in the Tone Mode column of the programmer.

 Step 2: Setting the tone frequency (CTCSS) or selecting the code for the tone (DCS).

Note: The CTCSS tone frequencies and the DCS tone codes should be stored in TWO separate columns in your file to be imported. The import process does not separate. It will ignore incorrect values leaving the tone set incorrectly for the channel.

• **CTCSS Tone**: Enter one of the 50 tone frequencies in the format MHz decimal kHz with only one digit to the right of the decimal.

This value must be entered exactly as shown in the chart in the Users Manual. A value that is not in the table will result in an incorrect tone value setting in the resulting Programming file.

This value is set independently for each memory channel.

• **DCS Code**: Enter one of the 104 codes in a three digit format (This will appear as two digits if you editor does not show leading zeroes. Two digits are acceptable when the third is a leading zero).

This value must be entered exactly as shown in the chart in the Users Manual.

A value that is not in the table will result in an incorrect tone value setting.

This value can be set independently for each memory channel that uses a DCS tone.

**Skip**: Marks selected memory channel to be *skipped during scanning* This field should contain one of the following:

Scan, 0, or Stop to include the channel to be scanned

Skip or 1 to mark the channel to be skipped.

PScan or 2 to mark the channel as Preferential Scan

**Step**: The frequency being used by the radio changes by the value of the step when tuning manually. This value is used by the radio in Memory Tune mode. This value is not critical in memory mode since the original memory channel frequency can be retrieved by exiting Memory Tune mode.

Enter 5/10/12.5/15/20/25/50 or 100 as needed.

**Clock Shift**: Shifts the internal reference frequency slightly to eliminate "birdies" that interfere on other channels.

Enter On or 1 / Off or 0

**Tx Power**: The output power can be set individually set for each memory channel to address the exact needs of each operation.

Enter High / Med / Low

Half Deviation: Enter On or Off as needed for the channel

Comments: Enter an identifying comment up to 80 characters.

You can see by the details here that creating a file for import can be a tedious process. Although this process is very valid for transferring data from one radio Programmer to another and for using the data from other sources such as ARRL Travel Plus, it is not recommended for original file creation.

Let the Programmer help you as you create your original file with its defaults and automatic settings. Once the file is created you could export the data for other uses.

The comma-delimited file can contain this information in any order. It must contain only the Receive frequency to be a valid memory channel. The Programmer makes no assumptions about the information available. If a piece of information is omitted, the Programmer imports the memory as a simplex channel and fills other fields with defaults.

This data can be entered in any order. You will identify the specifics to the Programmer during the Import process. If you find after several entries that you need another column for additional information, simply add it at the end. The Programmer will correct the order when it imports.

Save the data in your file often to prevent loss. Be sure to save the file as text with delimiters (separators) rather than as a worksheet of the program in which you are working. The Programmer cannot use a worksheet created by the other program.

To save as a text file, select File | Save (in the spreadsheet program). In the Save file window, select a different file type from the selection at the bottom of the screen. Acceptable formats are those that specify Text (i.e., .cvs, or .txt file extension).

Exit the spreadsheet program. Your file is ready to be imported into the Programmer. Changes can be made within the Programmer after you import the data.

### 9.2 Import - Step 1

In the Programmer, select File | New.

It is always best to import to an "Untitled" or new file. The new file is used as a temporary stopping point for the data. This way, if the results as not quite as you expected, you simply close the file without saving and begin again... in another new file.

Working in a new file eliminates the possibility that existing data will be overwritten and lost during the import process. From there use the tools available in the programmer (copy and pate, column editing, sort and unsort, etc) to get the data just as you want it.

If you want the data to be a part of an existing file, use copy and paste to move it from the new file to exactly where you want it in the existing file.

# Importing

In the Programmer select File | Import.

From the Import Radio File dialog that opens, select the file to be opened.

Import Radi	o File				· 28
Look in: 📔	Ker		-	£ 💣	-
2800.rdf IC208.dat IC-208.kc2 Kerr Adjus PEARL 1.Cf Estfedf.ic20	18 IB Ied for Tone,CSV IV IB	Step.csv step.ic208 Step.tab			
File <u>n</u> ame:					Open
Files of type:	ADfiles (".") Tab Delimited (".tab Comma Delimited (".	) (cav)	•		Cancel

This screen gives you the ability to find and open the file to be imported.

- Use "Look in:" at the top to change directories as needed
- Use "File of type:" at the bottom to show other files in the directory you selected. Since the most common file types are \*.csv and \*.tab you may need to change types for your file to appear.

• Once your file is highlighted, select Open to proceed.

Import Step 1 of 4: Identify one or more of the first rows of data to be omitted

Import Step 1 of 4
18 - Select rows from begining of let to skip on impot Eliminate channels from the beginning of the list by increasing the counter.
Column 1 "147,02200";"0:6000";"+"::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::
< English Next > Cancel Help

This screen was used originally to omit headers, columns without data, from the import. This is no longer necessary.

# Actually, it is recommended that you leave the headers to help you more easily identify the information in a later step.

This step remains useful for eliminating a number of memory channels from the import process. For example if your file contains more channels than are allowed by the radio. You could eliminate multiple channels here rather than later in the import process.

Click <u>Next</u> to continue.

### 9.3 Import - Step 2

Import Step 2 of 4: Identify the delimiters (separators) used in your file.

nport Step Z of 4	2
Select field delimitent. Select the ch the data in th	aracter that separates e file being imported.
Deliniters     O Semisolon     O Comma	Tgeat consecutive delimiter as one
C Space C Other	Text Qualifier
Column 1	·
147,02007, 76,60007, **********************************	27.3". Salen
147.1995 79.5000 . +	127.3"."Hilka"." Character is the 127.3"."Wesef"." same as the one
147;1400;70,5000;*4;7;7;1H; 127;3;1 147;2400;70,5000;*4;7;7;H; 127;3;1	27.3 Enter that appears her
147,3200°, 70,6000°, **, **, **, ***, ***, ****, *********	17 <u>9 9° 3908 - 975</u> 179 9° 39540°
< <u>B</u> ack	(ext > Cancel Help

The data in the file to be imported is separated by tabs, semicolons, commas, space or other non-text characters. Select from the list at the top of the screen or enter the one you used.

Once you select the correct delimiter, the data will properly separate into columns.

Select field d	elmters.	to sepan	ate the d	ata into e	olumns		
C Tab		ion @	Comma	III, Tgeat c	onsecutive	delimiter as	one
C Space	C. Other			Text Qu	alfier (Na	ne) 🔻	
Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column 5	Column 6	Column 7	Cord
147.0200	"0.63000"	N.N	4.96	000	- HI	*127.0°	10 T
°147.0400°	"0.5000"			CTTP	- H-	127.37	- <b>1</b>
°147.3000°	"0.E000"					127.3	-
°147,1200°	°0003-0°		(12)	GE 20		127.3	- <b>1</b>
"142.1480"	P0.6880	Han .	<del>_</del>	000	1	P127.3P	- ₽¶} }
"147.2400"	0.5000	7 <del>9</del> 0			-H-	127.3	- <b>1</b>
°147.2800°	"0.6000"				- <b>1</b>	"179.S"	- T 🖻
<b>X</b> (					P	~~~~~~	ĵ >

Examine the data to be sure that it is ready for the Programmer to process. Look at the data in the window. Select the proper Text Qualifier if you have single or double quotes within a data field. With quotes present, the import process will handle all the data

incorrectly resulting in a blank file. Once selected, the quotes are removed and the data appears as shown.

Select field	delimiters.		Sele o eli	ct the qu iminate t	ote (") as he quote	: the Tex I from th	t Qualifie le data.	ir .
C Tab	C Segi C Other	colon r	¢	Comma	Text C	consecutiv Valifier 📗	e delimiter a	sone
Column 1	Column 2	Colur	m 3	Column 4	Column 5	Column 6	Column 7	Col
147,0200	0.5000	+				H	127.3	127
147.0400	0.9000	+				14	127.2	127
147,1000	0.5000					H	127.3	127
147,1200	0.6000	+				H	127.3	127
147.1400	0.6000	+				H	127.2	123
147.2400	0,5000	4				H	127.3	127
147.2800	0.6000	+				N	173.9	179 🗠
< (						house	~~~~~	~_[>]
								000

Click <u>Next</u> to continue.

# 9.4 Import - Step 3

### Import Step 3 of 4: Identify the data to the Programmer

The Programmer will make an attempt to identify the information in your file. In this step of the process, you can make corrections to the assignments the Programmer has made and identify other columns that you want imported.

	COLUMN IN	eader to p	elect.			_		
Then sel	ect the co	alumn nar	me from th	he dropdo	own list.			
To skip a	o column o	during imp	oort set h	eaderto	'ingore".			
Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore
147,0200	0.6000	+			H	127,3	127.3	Salem
	0.6000	+			H	127,3	127.3	Autob
147,0400	ALC PROVIDE N					1072	1000	DIST Dist
147,0400 147,1000	0,6000	+			111	1000-0-000	ALC: NOT	CTRA PARA
147,0400 147,1000 147,1200	0,5000	+			EH)	127.3	127.3	Milleas
147,0400 147,1000 147,1200 147,1200	0.6000	+			H H	127.3	127.3	Milleed Beiher
147,0400 147,1000 147,1200 147,1400 147,2400	0.6000 0.6000 0.6000	*			r FF FF	127.3 127.3 127.3	127.3 127.3 127.3	Mittheed Bristype Vitaser
147,0400 147,1000 147,1200 147,1400 147,2400 147,2500	0,6000 0,6000 0,6000 0,6000 0,6000	* * * *			r EEEE	127.3 127.3 127.3 127.3 127.3	127.3 127.3 127.3 127.3	narwr Mithoed Brahym Vincyr PDX

For the columns to be imported, select the header of the column (the little grey box just above the column) then select the proper identifier from the drop down list at the top of the screen

Click or	n celura	h hea	idento s	elect.		1	Col	umn 1		
Then s	elec, the	e colu	umn nan	ne from ti	ne dropd	own list.		878		
To skip a column during import set header to "ingere".										
-	Ingo	re [	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	Ingore	in off	set Freque	ncy	~
147.020	0 0.60	00				H	127.3	127.3	Salem	
147.040	0 0.60	00	+			<b>.</b>	127.3	127.3	Aptch	3
147,100	0 0,60	00	<b>4</b>			H	127.3	127.3	HdRe	5
147,120	0 0.60		+				127.3	127.3	Millood	3
147,140	0 0,60	00	4			H	127.3	127.3	Braker	3
147.240	0 0.60		+			14	127.2	127.2	STORE	2
147,280	0_0.60	00	+			H	179.9	179.9	PDX	2
<										2

You need to identify only those columns to be imported.

Click Click	and the ru	eader to r	select.	he drood	own list.	Cela	mn 10		Î.
To skip a	a lolum t	durns im	port set h	esticate	'nguw'				
1		A.		20000000		10000000 0000000		Concerne and Conce	
Recel	Offs	Offs	Ton	Ignore	Tx	СТС	Ingore	Name	^
147,0200	0.5000				H	127.3	127.3	Salem	
147.0400	0.6000					1273	127.3	Aptoh	ş
147.1000	0.9000	+			H	1273	127.3	HdRvr	1
147.1200	0.6000				H	127.3	127.3	MtHood	5
147.1400	0.5000	4			開	127,3	127.3	Enher	Ç
147.2400	0.5000				H	127.3	127.3	VIEW	.5
147.2900	0.6000	+			1	179/9	179.9	PDX	4
1 C				Line •					2

Click <u>Next</u> to continue.

# 9.5 Import - Step 4

### Import Step 4 of 4: Limit the channels that are imported by the Programmer

Again, you can make adjustments to the data to be imported without having to edit the original file. Select all or any part of the list by checking the box at the left of the screen.

Starting radio me	amory D		Verv	wite existing ch	annels	
Available Char Total Char Channels Sele	mels: 901 0 mels: 900 5 geod: 51	in uncho election riported	ked is not	Selec	st Al	
Receive frequen	cy Offset Freque	ency Offs	et Direction	Tone Mode	Ignore.	Tx F
147.0200	0.6300	+				H 5
147.0400	0.6000	۲	These	chacked		H 🗄
147.1000	0,6000		- ore los	noted		H
147.1200		+	see mi	ponea		H 🗄
147,1400	0.6000	+				н 🕌
NA2 2600	0.6770	•	<u> </u> ~		~~~~~~	

Since the data can be imported into an existing file, use the boxes at the top of the screen to place the data in the file where you want it to appear.

- Starting radio memory Insert the channels into the file somewhere other than at the beginning (i.e., At the end of a list that has the last channel of 21. Enter 22 in this box to begin with the next memory channel of that file).
- Overwrite existing channels Tells the process to replace data it finds in the existing file or to skip that data and write in the next available channel. For example:
- Unchecked If you import into a file with memories in channel numbers 1-10, 12, 15 and 16 the process would write the imported channels in order to 11, 13, 14, then 17 on to the end of the imported list.
- Checked If you import to a file with memories in channel numbers 1-10, 12, 15 and 16 the process would write the imported channels in order beginning at channel 1 and continue in order to the end of the imported list. The existing channel data of the file would be lost in the process as it is replaced with that of the imported file.
- Finish Click to compete the process. The resulting file in this example would look like this:

1 📾		Ra (EL   45	1 2 :			esuiting file as set to 22	when Ba I during B	asting sadio be last step	enemory of import	<u>د</u>			
VX.	-6 Untitle	11					-						2
	Receive Facilities	barrat. Frequency	Offset Europethills	Directors	Opensing Hode	Nane	Show Name	Tone Made	CTC96	DES	Pener	Skip	-
21		and the second data and th			ļ							1	
22	- Jager	2022222	8.9999	8		G1191			1 68.9	998	3408	192	
100	142 04000	Tablanii	100000	IPALD	204	Latit total		H DOM	1000 M	1022	1000	100 V	
2	142.0000	147,20000	101610100	TEN40	204	IND DOD	H-H-	None	1.02.0	10(20)	1.0.0	100	
*	142,10000	147,72000	10161000	TESAL	TH	HINGOOD	H H	Nooe	327.0	106231	1-660	101	
<i>m</i>	147.14000	147.74000	1010100	IPS40	TH	IPROPER 1	E C	None	127.0	10623	1464	190	
8	147228900	147.99.032	10 (0000)	Phat	394	-ONICHER		Noos	1297.3	0880	094699	0.0	
3	14253800	147.00930	100380	TPRAC	39M	PER:		Non	079-9	1660	094094	10.0	
30	142235400	147/333830	1069860	Definit	368	ISESIAD.		Norm 1	10/99	168/10	19404	DOC	
39	14239800	14458888	316338	ISoules	366	Debrightski		Bowen (	17:39	108/10	194gh	1004	
32	142,228,00	1418888	3063380	1Plue	XM	TRUGE.		Nora	7788.0	10840	(High	10.92	
20	162.55000	162,55000	116000	Septer	355	NUAA		Nora	1008.0	623	Pelight	0.9	
24	155,43000	155,45000	TUSTICO	Distantion	784	POLCED		Nora	179.0	0000	(Pillata	10.9 M	•



# 10 Export

The programmer can export, "convert", the data of a radio programming file to a flat file for use in other programs. This will create the file that you need is someone asks you for a "csv" or Excel file.

You control two parts of export

What is exported from the file

Where the exported file is saved on your hard drive.

### What is exported from the file

The file created through export contains the data on the screen that is open when the process is begun.

If a radio has Right Memories and Left Memories, it will export the data of the Right Memories when you are viewing that screen when the process is begun and the data from the Left memories if you are viewing that screen.

Each export should be directed to a separate file. If you use the same filename, you will replace the data from the first export with that of the next.

### Where the exported file is saved on your hard drive

Select the section of the file to be exported.

Click File | Export

A Save dialog box opens. You have complete control of the filename and location of the file on your hard drive in the options in that Save dialog box.

Pay close attention to the filename and directory designation of the resulting file. You want to be able to find it easily later.



# 11 Contact Us

164

# *RT Systems, Inc.* 510 Compton Street, Suite 105 Broomfield, CO 80020

Technical support	303-586-6510
Fax	770-216-1836
Technical Support Hours	Monday through Friday 10:30AM until 7:30 PM (Eastern Time) 9:30AM until 6:30 PM (Central Time) 8:30AM until 5:30 PM (Mountain Time) 7:30AM until 4:30 PM (Pacific Time) Other times by appointment. Call or e-mail to make arrangements.
Web Page	www.rtsystemsinc.com Program updates Answers to frequently asked questions can be reviewed under FAQs on our site. See it Done: How To Videos

E-mail techsupport@rtsystemsinc.com

Should you choose to send a message via e-mail, be sure to include at the very least the following details:

- The radio with which you use the Programmer
- The version number of the Programming software (found in the Programmer under Help | About)

Based on the information given, we will respond as quickly as possible.

Be sure that rtsystemsinc.com is set as an acceptable address for your e-mail program. Or watch for your response in your spam or junk mail folder.

© 2020 RT Systems, Inc.